In vivo shRNA screen reveals PRMT5 as a key regulator in glioblastoma

by

Monica Stanciu

B.Sc., Neuroscience and Pharmacology, Faculty of Arts and Science University of Toronto, 2009

Submitted to the Department of Biology in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy in Biology at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology

> > February 2017

© 2017 Massachusetts Institute of Technology All Rights Reserved.

Signature redacted

Signature of Author:

Department of Biology December 19, 2016

Certified by:

Jacqueline Lees Professor of Biology Thesis Supervisor

Signature redacted

Signature redacted

Accepted by:

Amy E. Keating Professor of Biology Chair, Biology Graduate Committee



In vivo shRNA screen reveals PRMT5 as a key regulator in glioblastoma by Monica Stanciu

Submitted to the Department of Biology in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Abstract

Glioblastoma (GBM), the most prevalent primary brain tumor in adults, remains a largely intractable malignancy that carries an extremely poor prognosis. Large scale genomic analyses have greatly expanded our knowledge of the genomic landscape of GBM. Recently, we have also begun to gain an appreciation for how dysregulation of epigenetic control can contribute to gliomagenesis. To expand our understanding of the roles of epigenetic mediators in GBM, we establish an orthotopic transplantation model and demonstrate its feasibility for in vivo shRNA screening. We describe the results of parallel in vivo and in vitro shRNA screens to uncover epigenetic regulators with oncogenic functions and chemosensitizing potential in GBM. From these screens, the protein arginine methyltransferase PRMT5 emerges as an important mediator of GBM tumor growth in the presence and absence of chemotherapy. We demonstrate that PRMT5 loss impairs cellular fitness in vitro and this effect is dependent on its methyltransferase activity. Furthermore, in vivo transplantation of both murine and human GBM cells shows that PRMT5 knockdown impairs tumor growth and leads to a survival benefit. Building on these observations, we report the first use of a highly selective PRMT5 inhibitor in extending survival in a GBM xenograft model. We also describe the results of initial in vitro and in vivo experiments combining PRMT5 genetic depletion or pharmacological inhibition with chemotherapy. To gain a better understanding of the effects of PRMT5 inhibition, we perform gene expression analysis, and find a putative role for PRMT5 in maintaining GBM cell identity. Importantly, we observe that PRMT5 impacts gene expression by regulating RNA splicing to exert specific control over a recently described class of intronic sequences known as detained introns. Together, the results presented here highlight a key role for PRMT5 in GBM and suggest that it represents a viable target for the apeutic intervention in this intractable disease.

Thesis Supervisor: Jacqueline Lees Title: Professor of Biology

Acknowledgments

This thesis represents an intertwined effort, where many paths crossed in direct and indirect ways, both professionally and personally, to help in the formation of the final product. I am grateful to the incredible people who helped guide me through this journey and I would like to take this opportunity to thank them.

First, I would like to thank Jackie for allowing me the freedom and providing me with the opportunity to work on this project. Working on glioblastoma had been a quest of mine for a decade before I arrived in her lab, and I am grateful for her support, guidance and sometimes pure faith in moving this project forward. Her dedication and enthusiasm for this project have been a constant source of encouragement.

I would like to express my gratitude to my committee members, who generously contributed to this project and my development as a student during my years at MIT. Mike Hemann has been integral to this work from the early days of its inception and I am thankful for his continued guidance in shaping it over the years. I am grateful to Tyler Jacks, whose advice and thoughtful comments have been invaluable during my graduate career.

I would like to thank Christian Braun, with whom I shared the winding journey that this project became. Neither of us could have anticipated the many twists that it had planned for us, but the paths that it eventually revealed have been incredibly exiting. I am grateful for the enthusiasm, patience and skills set that he shared with me.

I owe a great deal of gratitude to my labmates, who have provided an unmatched environment in which to grow both scientifically and personally. Every single day in lab, I appreciated being surrounded by friends. Daniel Karl, I am so fortunate to have been your classmate and your labmate, thank you for teaching me to be a more critical scientist and a more compassionate friend. Roberta Ferretti, my amazing baymate, thank you for offering clarity in any situation and somehow always believing in me. Tiziana Parisi, I have learned so much from you, thank you for your sage advice and heartwarming laughs.

I was fortunate to enter MIT with the Biograds class of 2010, a brilliant group of people, many of whom I have developed close friendships with. Pan-Yu Chen, Peter

Bruno, Anthony Chiu, Sara Dubbury, Simina Ticau, Kaitlin Driscoll, Rini Mondal, Amaris Torres-Delgado, Mark Stevens - thank you for the last 6 years, for pushing me to be better and aim high. I am constantly amazed by how incredibly smart and talented you guys are, and am humbled to be among you.

MIT is an incredible community, filled with opportunities and exciting activities that reach far beyond the lab. My friends and teammates at MIT Hacking Medicine - you all have helped add a different dimension to my time as a graduate student. When I first joined the group two years ago, I was hooked by your energy, positive outlook, and dedication. I am grateful for your infectious optimism and for helping me discover a new mindset and passion.

I would like to express my deep gratitude to my parents, who crossed a big blue ocean with me many years ago and guided me towards opportunities that would have otherwise been unthinkable. My path has been built on the sacrifices you made and the trust you have in me. To my dear grandmother, it multumesc Buni pentru cât mă iubești și mă încurajezi în orice situație. I am also fortunate to have truly found a second family in Adrian's parents and sister, who have been an unwavering source of support.

Adrian, I owe so much of where I am to you. Thank you for the unconditional love and patience that you surround me with every single day. You've shaped my development as a scientist, pushing me to dig deeper and unhesitatingly taking the time to think through problems with me. You are my constant through every joy and hiccup, and the voice of reason that guides me though every fog. I am grateful to have you by my side as my husband and best friend, and your boundless generosity continues to amaze me every day.

Contents

A	Abstract Acknowledgments						
A							
1	Intr	ntroduction					
	1.1	Cance	r Genetics and Epigenetics	11			
		1.1.1	Discoveries of genetic and epigenetic alterations in cancer	11			
		1.1.2	DNA hypomethylation and hypermethylation	13			
		1.1.3	Histone modifications: acetylation and methylation	14			
		1.1.4	Chromatin Remodelers	17			
	1.2	1.2 The PRMT family of methyltransferases		19			
		1.2.1	Overview of PRMT family	19			
		1.2.2	Classes of PRMT enzymes	19			
		1.2.3	Structural and functional overview of PRMT family members	21			
		1.2.4	PRMT family substrate specificity and regulation	22			
		1.2.5	PRMT family tissue expression	23			
		1.2.6	Discovery of PRMT5	24			
		1.2.7	PRMT5 is an epigenetic regulator involved in transcriptional reg-				
			ulation via chromatin remodeling	24			
		1.2.8	Mechanisms of regulating PRMT5 activity	27			
		1.2.9	Readers of symmetrically dimethylated arginines	28			
		1.2.10	Roles for PRMT5 in splicing regulation	29			
		1.2.11	PRMT5 in development and determination of cell fate	31			
		1.2.12	Diverse roles of PRMT5 in cancer	31			
	1.3 Genetic		c and Epigenetic Dysregulation in Glioblastoma	37			
		1.3.1	Conventional therapeutic options for glioblastoma	37			
		1.3.2	Molecular subclassification uncovers interplay between genetics				
			and epigenetics	40			
		1.3.3	Emerging therapeutic strategies in GBM	43			
		1.3.4	Known roles for PRMT5 in GBM	45			
	1.4 Conclusion			46			

2	In vivo RNAi screen uncovers PRMT5 as a critical mediator of tumor						
	grov	wth in	glioblastoma	47			
	2.1	Abstra	act	48			
	2.2	Introduction					
	2.3	Results					
		2.3.1	GL261 orthotopic transplantation tumors resemble human glioblas-				
		2.3.2	Decreased Kras expression leads to measurable effects on tumor	51 53			
		222	In vivo CFP dilution experiments inform size of shPNA library	54			
		2.3.3 2.3.4	GL261 GBM cells represent a reliable system for <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i> shRNA screens	54 56			
		2.3.5	RNAi screen identifies PRMT5 as an important epigenetic mod- ifier for GBM tumor growth	58			
		2.3.6	Loss of PRMT5 <i>in vitro</i> impairs GBM cellular fitness and is dependent on methyltransferase activity	58			
		2.3.7	Inhibition of PRMT5 activity using a small molecule inhibitor impairs cell proliferation	61			
		2.3.8	PRMT5 inhibition impairs cell cycle progression and promotes DNA damage response and senescence <i>in vitro</i>	64			
		2.3.9 2.3.10	Gene expression profiles reveal a shift in cell identity and GBM subclass following PRMT5 inhibition	64 66			
		2.3.11	Altered expression of splicing pathway components mediates re- sistance to EPZ015666	69			
		2.3.12	Levels of detained introns with weak 5' splice sites are increased in response to EPZ015666	69			
	2.4	Discus	sion	73			
	2.5 Materials and Methods		als and Methods	77			
3	\mathbf{Exp}	Exploring Genetic and Epigenetic Mediators of Response to Glioblas-					
	tom	a The	capy	87			
	3.1	Abstra	uct	88			
	3.2	Introd	uction	89			
	3.3	Result 3.3.1	sCharacterizing the response of GL261 cells to therapy <i>in vitro</i>	90			
			and in vivo \ldots	90			
		$3.3.2 \\ 3.3.3$	Msh2 mediates resistance to TMZ PRMT5 loss mediates sensitivity to TMZ in vitro and extends	92			
		3.3.4	EPZ015666 treatment of GL261 GBM tumors leads to loss of mothultransformed activity without affecting survival	92			
			8	3 0			

	3.4	Discussion				
	3.5	Materials and Methods				
4	Dise	iscussion 103				
	4.1	In vive	RNAi screening as a method for identifying novel epigenetic me-			
		diators	s of GBM growth	103		
	4.2	Assessing the role for PRMT5 in GBM tumors				
		4.2.1	Assessing the role for PRMT5 at different stages of tumor growth	105		
		4.2.2	Explaining discrepancy between knockdown and inhibition of PRM7	Г5		
			in the GL261 model	106		
		4.2.3	Addressing the BBB permeability of EPZ015666	107		
	4.3	Interpreting gene expression signatures following PRMT5 inhibition 108				
		4.3.1	PRMT5 and EMT	109		
		4.3.2	$NF-\kappa B$ pathway activation and EMT signatures point to acquisi-			
			tion of a mesenchymal phenotype	110		
	4.4	Perspe	ectives on using PRMT5 as a therapeutic target in GBM	111		
	4.5	Explor	ring PRMT5 dependencies across tumor cell lines	114		
	4.6	Assess	ing the disease relevance of PRMT5-regulated splicing	115		
		4.6.1	PRMT5 may be involved in co-transcriptional pre-mRNA splicing	116		
		4.6.2	Detained introns regulated by PRMT5 point to a role in post-			
			transcriptional splicing	119		
		4.6.3	Building an integrated model for PRMT5 activity	121		
		4.6.4	Further dissecting the role of PRMT5 in splicing	122		
	4.7	Conclu	usion	123		

Introduction

GLIOBLASTOMA (GBM) is a highly aggressive disease whose prognosis has remained essentially unchanged for the past 50 years. This fact underlies the motivation for my work in this thesis. Although we have succeeded in significantly advancing our understanding of the genetic, and more recently, the epigenetic changes that contribute to GBM, these discoveries have not yet translated into a strong survival improvement for patients. In this thesis, I describe the results of an shRNA screen revealing the protein arginine methyltransferase PRMT5 as a key mediator of tumor growth and therapy response in GBM. To put these results into context, I first provide an introduction on the genetics and epigenetics of cancer. I then describe the PRMT family and focus on established and emerging roles for PRMT5 in cancer. Finally, I provide an overview of GBM and the results of recent large scale studies that have classified this heterogeneous disease into distinct subtypes with different genetic and epigenetic characteristics.

■ 1.1 Cancer Genetics and Epigenetics

■ 1.1.1 Discoveries of genetic and epigenetic alterations in cancer

The twentieth century was marked by a collection of groundbreaking discoveries describing the molecular basis of cancer that are now etched in history. These studies drove the acceptance of cancer as a disease of chromosomal abnormalities [30] and somatic mutations [287]. Although the genetic and epigenetic mechanisms involved in cancer are inextricably intertwined, the contributions of epigenetics to tumorigenesis remained underappreciated for most of the last century [85]. Research focused on the genetic basis of cancer, shaping our understanding of how dysregulation of the delicate balance between tumor promoting oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes contributes to cancer development. In the middle part of the century, the study of cancer was focused on infectious agents, oncogenic retroviruses that led to the formation of sarcomas in a variety of animals (reviewed in [59]). Scolnick and colleagues [249] first proposed a model in which these viruses transduced a normal cellular gene (later called RAS) into their own genomes, a hypothesis that was proven soon thereafter by Varmus, Bishop and Vogt [261]. Discoveries of how oncogenic sarcoma viruses co-opted cellular genes were complemented by studies of in vitro cellular transformation, led by Weinberg and colleagues, showing that human tumor-derived DNA could transform mouse fibroblasts [210]. The combination of these two paths culminated in the identification of HRAS, the first human oncogene [72, 229, 245]. Paying the way for the identification of the first tumor suppressor gene, Knudson proposed the two-hit hypothesis, noting that biallelic genetic alterations were necessary for the development of retinoblastoma tumors [165]. In the following decade, the tumor suppressor gene RB1 was cloned and characterized by Friend, Weinberg and Dryja [94]. These studies, along with many others, began to uncover the complex genetic alterations underlying tumor development, and solidified the view of cancer as a genetic disease.

The field of cancer biology soon experienced a paradigm shift, brought on by the ambitions of Renato Dulbecco [77] and others. They advocated for a systematic discovery of cancer causing genes by sequencing the whole genome, as opposed to focused interrogation of individual genes (reviewed in [104]). The resulting Human Genome Project was launched in 1990 and completed in 2004 [148]. This monumental undertaking also led to the development and widespread implementation of next generation sequencing platforms [136]. These technologies have been instrumental in the success of large scale projects such as The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and the International Cancer Genome Consortium (ICGC). Following the TCGA pilot project in glioblastoma which highlighted that large scale systematic interrogation of the cancer genome was not only possible but also immensely valuable [200], the TCGA has amassed multidimensional data from 33 tumor types and freely shares this data with researchers all around the world. Characterization of mutations, DNA methylation, copy number alterations, gene and protein expression for thousands of tumor samples would have been impossible without the technological developments set in motion by the progressive thinking that led to the human genome project.

The cancer genomics revolution and the technological advancements it spurred have

changed the pace of discovery in cancer biology, and also accelerated the study of other cellular process, such as epigenetics, metabolism, RNA splicing and their contribution to tumorigenesis [104]. In particular, our exploration of the epigenome has been facilitated by techniques such as high throughput bisulfite sequencing, chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing (ChIPseq) and chromosome capture experiments [68] that build layers of complexity onto the simple one dimensional view of the genetic sequence. While epigenetics is by no means a new concept, our understanding of the interplay between genetics and epigenetics in rewiring cellular processes that contribute to tumorigenesis has been expanding rapidly and has given rise to novel therapeutics. Epigenetics, a term originally coined by C.H. Waddington in 1942 [292], refers to the impact of chromatin structure on gene function [85, 252]. These heritable changes allow cells that share the same genetic sequences to take on different identities. Studies in the past couple of decades have demonstrated that cancer is initiated and facilitated by a combination of genetic mutations and epigenetic alterations and the contribution of each of these two processes cannot be explored in isolation [252].

■ 1.1.2 DNA hypomethylation and hypermethylation

One of the earliest forms of epigenetic regulation of gene expression to be discovered was mediated by alterations in DNA methylation. In cancer cells, DNA was found to be typically hypomethylated in tumor tissues in comparison to normal tissues [86, 100] and the first oncogene shown to be hypomethylated in human cancer was HRAS [86]. A few years later, reasoning that gene expression is inhibited by DNA methylation, Horsthemke and colleagues showed that the RB1 tumor suppressor gene is hypermethylated in retinoblastoma tumors [115].

We are only now beginning to appreciate the complexity of DNA methylation changes in the cancer genome and how they contribute to tumorigenesis. In general, cancers show both hypermethylation and hypomethylation of certain regions compared to normal tissue controls [83]. In addition, in normal cells, DNA methylation is a heritable, dynamic form of cellular memory (reviewed in [18, 181]). It occurs via the enzymatic actions of DNA methyltransferases (DNMT family) that add methyl groups to the C5 position of cytosine bases. When this modification occurs on CpG rich regions of gene promoters, it results in transcriptional silencing, for example, leading to repression of tumor suppressor genes or genes encoding the components of the DNA repair machinery. For example, in lung and breast cancers, the tumor suppressor p16ink4a is epigenetically silenced [135, 269] and in colorectal carcinoma the mismatch repair gene MLH1 is hypermethylated [134]. In contrast, genome-wide hypomethylation in cancer is less well understood, but appears to contribute to genomic instability and increased transcription of repeats, transposable elements, as well as oncogenes [18, 83]. DNA methylation changes in cancer have been targeted therapeutically by drugs such 5-azacytidine and decitabine, nucleoside analogs that are incorporated into DNA and form covalent intermediates with DNMTs, inhibiting subsequent rounds of DNA methylation. These drugs are FDA approved for myelodysplasia and acute myeloid leukaemia, respectively [3].

DNA methylation is a dynamic process, involving not only DNMTs but also erasers and readers of the methylation marks. The ten eleven translocation (TET) family of DNA hydroxylases actively reverse DNA methylation, although this process can also occur passively by the inhibition of DNMTs during cell division [181]. Transcriptional repression that occurs as a result of DNA methylation is facilitated in part by methyl-CpG binding proteins (MBDs), which bind methylated DNA motifs and recruit repressive complexes to modify histones and thereby transcription (reviewed in [181]). This begins to illustrate how covalent modifications on DNA and histone modifications work together to modulate chromatin structure and gene expression.

■ 1.1.3 Histone modifications: acetylation and methylation

More than 50 years ago, Allfrey and colleagues proposed that the binding of DNA to histones can be regulated by histone modifications and that acetylation can influence the rate of transcription [5]. The dysregulation of the complex code of histone modifications is now starting to be appreciated as a major contributor to tumorigenesis. The nucleosome is the fundamental unit of chromatin and is composed of DNA wrapped around a protein octamer core, consisting of two each of histones H2A, H2B, H3, and H4. Each histone also has a 'tail" that protrudes from this central core and is rich in lysine and arginine residues (reviewed in [12]). A variety of post translational modifications can be deposited on these amino acids by "writers", removed by "erasers", and interpreted by "readers", which integrate and relay the epigenetic signals (Figure 1.1A, reviewed in [253]). Many of these different players are misregulated in cancer and some have come into focus as therapeutic targets [66]. While methylation and acetylation are the most prominent and well-studied modifications of histone tails, others include ubiquitination, phosphorylation, sumoylation, citrullination, ADP ribosylation and deamination. These modifications work combinatorially to generate a "histone code" that can cause



Figure 1.1. Histone modifications. (A) Histone tails are rich in lysine and arginine residues and are subject to posttranslational modifications that are deposited by writers, removed by erasers, and interpreted by readers. (B) The combination of these posttranslational modifications leads to a histone code that dictates chromatin compaction and consequently, gene expression. The DNA in open chromatin is readily accessible for transcription, resulting in increased gene expression, while DNA in closed chromatin is less accessible, leading to decreased gene expression.

increases or decreases in gene expression and chromatin compaction [154] (Figure 1.1B). In addition to regulating gene expression and chromatin condensation, histone modifications also influence DNA repair and DNA replication [168]. Although here I will focus mostly on a subset of these effects, their range and variety are worth noting as part of the intricate web of epigenetic modifications.

Histone acetylation is dictated by the well-orchestrated balance between the actions of histone acetyltransferases (HATs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs). In broad terms, the addition of an acetyl group to lysine residues results in neutralization of the positive charge and weaker binding between DNA and histones, increasing accessibility of the DNA to transcription factors and RNA polymerase II [66]. In contrast, removal of acetyl groups by HDACs results in a repression of gene expression. Both of these classes of enzymes also modify non-histone targets, and have been found to be important in cancers, through altered expression, translocations resulting in fusion proteins or coding mutations [66]. For example, chromosomal translocations and somatic mutations disrupting the acetyltransferases p300 and CBP, both putative tumor suppressors, have been identified in hematologic and solid tumors [150]. In comparison, HDACs are rarely found to be mutated but more frequently overexpressed in cancers, and have become attractive therapeutic targets. The presumed mechanism of action of HDAC inhibitors is to activate transcription of tumor suppressors. There are currently two broad HDAC inhibitors approved in the clinic for T-cell lymphoma, with other more subtype selective drugs undergoing development [12, 18].

Histone acetyl marks are primarily read by bromodomain containing proteins, many of which also have other functions as histone writers or chromatin remodelers, such as p300 and SMARCA2, underscoring the many levels of epigenetic regulator function. The most prominent example involves the BET family members BRD3 and BRD4, whose genes are involved in recurrent oncogenic chromosomal translocations in acute myeloid leukemia and NUT-midline carcinoma [67, 70, 90, 325]. Several new inhibitors of this family of histone modifiers have shown therapeutic efficacy, at least in part through downregulation of MYC transcription [67, 70, 90, 325].

Histone methylation largely occurs on lysine and arginine residues. These are dynamic marks, deposited by histone lysine methyltransferases (KMTs) and protein arginine methyltransferases (PRMTs) and removed by histone lysine demethylases (KDMs). While the counterbalancing arginine demethylases have thus far remained elusive [28, 74], the reversible nature of other post translational marks suggests that they exist. I will discuss PRMTs in greater detail in the next section.

Lysine methylation is deposited by SET motif containing enzymes that are highly specific to certain residues, as opposed to HATs, whose activity is more broad. H3K4 and H3K36 methylation are most often associated with active genes, while methylation of H3K9 and H4K20 is associated with represed genes [12, 17]. Lysines can be mono, di, or tri methylated, and different levels of methylation on the same residue can occur over different genic regions. For example, H3K4me2/3 is found at the promoters of transcriptionally active genes, while H3K4me1 is found at enhancers (reviewed in [17, 66]). At times, these marks can coexist, such as in bivalent chromatin domains in embryonic stem cells. In this case, the silencing mark H3K27me3, deposited by EZH2, a Polycomb group protein, can coexist with the active mark H3K4me3, keeping developmental genes in a silent state but poised for activation [21]. Several KMT-encoding genes have been described to be disrupted in cancer. Rearrangements of MLL family members, responsible for H3K4 methylation, are frequently found in myeloid and lymphoid leukemias [322]. Furthermore, EZH2 is overexpressed in breast and prostate cancer [48], as well as mutated in follicular and diffuse large B cell lymphomas [208]. Thus far, small molecule inhibitors of methyltransferases DOT1L and EZH2, and demethylase LSD1 have been put into clinical testing [12]. Readers of methylated lysine marks include members of the chromo, Tudor, and malignant brain tumor (MBT) domains, as well as PHD fingers (reviewed in [11]).

Given the assortment of possible histone modifications, it is not surprising that they can have both positive and negative effects on each other, either by influencing binding or the catalytic activity of the protein complexes that recognize them. This crosstalk adds another dimension of regulation to the histone code [66, 168].

■ 1.1.4 Chromatin Remodelers

The basic DNA and histone modifications provide the scaffolds for and determine the binding of large multi-subunit complexes that modulate the three dimensional structure of chromatin. These dynamic units have many interchangeable members and use ATP to facilitate nucleosome remodeling or movement. SWI/SNF complexes are defined into classes containing either SMARCA2 (BRM) or SMARCA4 (BRG1) and are important in coordinating gene expression programs during lineage commitment [308]. Inactivating mutations and tumor suppressor activity have been linked to several members, such

as SNF5 in the majority of rhabdoid tumors, ARID1A in ovarian clear cell carcinoma, and BRG1 in non-small-cell lung cancer (reviewed in [308]). Within the CHD family of chromatin remodelers, certain subclasses contain both ATP-dependent remodelers and histone deacetylases, illustrating how intertwined the roles of epigenetic modifiers are [66, 253].

The integration of DNA and histone modifications with chromatin remodeling results in nucleosome positioning and establishment of boundaries between tightly and loosely packed nucleosomes, which are associated with transcriptional repression or activation, respectively [80]. These transcriptional domains break down during cancer, altering the normal state of transcriptional regulation [17]. Our current understanding of the complexities underlying the abnormalities in cancer requires us to build upon the original hypotheses, for example, by expanding the genetic mechanisms proposed in Knudson's two-hit hypothesis to also include epigenetic pathways for tumor suppressor gene inactivation [155]. Probing into the molecular identities of cancer has helped us to understand that the genome and epigenome are tightly intertwined and one cannot be effectively understood without the other [319].

■ 1.2 The PRMT family of methyltransferases

■ 1.2.1 Overview of PRMT family

Protein arginine methyltransferase (PRMT) family members impact numerous cellular and physiological processes through a diverse array of substrates and have been implicated in pathologies ranging from cardiovascular disease to cancer. The importance of arginine methylation is underscored by its abundance in mammalian tissues, with 0.5% of arginine residues carrying this post-translational modification [105].

PRMT targets include histones, transcription factors, enzymes, RNA binding proteins, scaffolding and adaptor proteins, transport proteins and ion channels. The modifications they impart are important for chromatin remodeling, transcription, DNA repair, RNA splicing, growth factor and hormone signaling, cell cycle, viral life cycle, protein trafficking, tumor suppressor response, extracellular matrix remodeling, and cytokine signaling. PRMTs are critical for normal development and their misregulation has been shown to contribute to cardiovascular and pulmonary diseases, viral pathogenesis, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, spinal muscular atrophy, and cancer [207].

In mammals, 9 protein arginine methyltransferase (PRMT) family members have been identified thus far [263]. These enzymes catalyze post-translational covalent modifications involving the transfer of methyl groups from donor substrate S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) to a guanidino nitrogen of an arginine residue, forming S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine (SAH) in the process. SAM is generated from methionine as part of the methionine and arginine salvage pathway.

■ 1.2.2 Classes of PRMT enzymes

The PRMT family is divided into three main classes, type I-III, all of which methylate the terminal guanidine nitrogen atom of a protein substrate [19]. All PRMT family members first catalyze the formation of a monomethylarginine (MMA) intermediate, and type I enzymes (PRMT1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8) then proceed to produce asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA), while type II enzymes (PRMT5, 9) produce symmetric dimethylarginine (SDMA) marks (Figure 1.2A). Interestingly, PRMT7 is known to be a type III enzyme, producing MMA without further progressing to dimethylation. Importantly, methylation does not alter the cationic charge of the arginine residue,



Figure 1.2. Structure and function of the PRMT family of methyltransferases. (A) The protein arginine methyltransferase (PRMT) family consists of three groups: type I, II, and III that catalyze the formation of asymmetric dimetylarginine (ADMA), symmetric dimethylarginine (SDMA), and monomethylarginine (MMA), respectively. Methyl groups are transferred from the cofactor and donor substrate S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) to a guanidino nitrogen of an arginine residue, forming S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine (SAH) in the process (modified from [263]). (B) Structure of PRMT family members, highlighting the variable N terminal region (modified from [247]). (C) Homodimeric arrangement of type I PRMTs (modified from [247]). (D) Four PRMT5 and four MEP 50 molecules form a hetero-octameric complex. PRMT5 monomers-1, -2, -3, and -4 are displayed in green, blue, beige, and yellow, respectively, and MEP50 in red (modified from [10]).

instead increasing its bulkiness and hydrophobicity, and preventing the formation of hydrogen bonds [284].

Previously, certain members of the PRMT family have been thought to function via a distributive (or non-processive) enzymatic mechanism for substrate methylation, such as PRMT5, meaning that the substrate is first monomethylated, and then dissociates from the enzyme [10, 297, 307]. Only once the concentration of monomethylated substrate exceeds that of unmethylated substrate can dimethylation proceed. Others, such as PRMT1, function via a processive mechanism, whereby a single enzyme-substrate binding event results in two methylation reactions without substrate dissociation [207]. A more recent report, however, indicates that the degree of processivity may be dependent on protein substrate sequence and posttranslational modifications [120].

The three different PRMT catalyzed modifications (MMA, ADMA, SDMA) can have profoundly different biological effects on the same substrate. For example, PRMT1 and PRMT5 antagonize each others activity on E2F1, in that ADMA of E2F1 results in apoptosis, while SDMA favors proliferation [324]. Other studies have demonstrated that H4R3 ADMA via PRMT1 results in transcriptional activation, while PRMT5-mediated SDMA modification of the same residue results in transcriptional repression [207]. These examples illustrate the tight homeostatic control that PRMT family members maintain over their substrates, demonstrating that a shift in activity levels of different PRMTs could have significantly different consequences.

■ 1.2.3 Structural and functional overview of PRMT family members

The PRMT family is characterized by a conserved core composed of a Rossmann fold and a beta-barrel, together forming the methyltransferase catalytic site where SAM and the substrate bind [247]. In this active site, a double-E-loop structure with two highly conserved glutamate residues imparts the negative charges that coordinate the positively charged guanidine nitrogens of the substrate arginine into the correct orientation for catalysis to take place [207]. The N-terminal region is the most variable part of the structure, differing in length, sequence and even protein-protein interaction modules (Figure 1.2B). For example, PRMT2 contains an SH3 domain, PRMT3 has a zinc finger motif, there is a pleckstrin homology (PH) domain in PRMT4 (also known as CARM1), a triosephosphateisomerase (TIM) barrel in PRMT5, an N-myristoylation tag in PRMT8, and a tetratricopeptide (TRP2) domain in PRMT9 (used in formation of protein complexes). These differences may contribute to the diverse substrate specificities of the different PRMT family members, as well as regulation of their activity and subcellular localization.

PRMT homodimerization appears to be required for methyltranferase activity. Type I PRMTs contain a dimerization arm in the beta-barrel (Figure 1.2C) that allows for the formation of a head-to-tail dimeric arrangement, with each monomer binding its own peptide substrate and cofactor [207, 247]. An alpha-helix helps to stabilize the formation of the active site. PRMT7, the type III enzyme, contains a single polypeptide that folds on itself and mimics the dimeric structure. Meanwhile, PRMT5 has some distinct structural features that contribute to its activity. Unique among PRMT family members, PRMT5 functions as part of several multimeric complexes that invariably contain methylosome protein 50 (MEP50) as a necessary binding partner of PRMT5 [263]. This WD40-repeat containing protein, encoded by the gene WDR77, is non-catalytic but required for full PRMT5 activity [10]. A crystal structure of PRMT5 [10] recently revealed that instead of the alpha-helix characteristic to other family members, the Rossmann fold in this enzyme is linked to a specific TIM barrel via a large liker domain. Two tyrosine side chains in the linker domain facilitate binding to histone substrates [10, 186]. The TIM barrel is responsible for the tetrameric form that is unique to PRMT5, whereby the dimer is first formed by interaction of the TIM barrel of one monomer and the Rossman fold and linker of another. Subsequently, tetramers are formed via the stacking of two dimers. The TIM-barrel facilitates the recruitment of four MEP50 molecules, resulting in the formation of a chromatin binding complex (Figure 1.2D). MEP50 was found to have an allosteric effect on PRMT5 binding of substrate and SAM and this hetero-octomeric complex has significantly higher methyltransferase activity than dimeric PRMT5 [10]. The PRMT5:MEP50 complex is likely to be the core structural unit that participates in many multisubunit protein complexes and facilitates many of the functions of PRMT5 [10].

■ 1.2.4 PRMT family substrate specificity and regulation

Given the wide range of PRMT targets and the diversity of their functions within the cell, it is important to understand how these enzymes select their substrates and how this interaction is regulated. The majority of PRMTs methylate glycine arginine rich (GAR) motifs, with the exception of CARM1, which only target proline, glycine, and methionine rich (PGM) motifs [20, 153, 313]. Unique in the family, PRMT5 can methylate both motifs. A recent study has determined that there are more than 2000 human proteins harboring the GAR motif, broadly defined as tri-RGG, di-RGG, tri-RG and di-RG, and many proteins contain more than one of these motifs [277]. Interestingly, these motifs lack any other positively charged amino acids, underscoring the specific importance of arginine. Although PRMTs appear to be basally active, fine-tuning of PRMT activity can occur through several mechanisms, including post-translation modifications, subcellular localization, and interaction with regulatory proteins. I will discuss these mechanisms in more detail in relation to PRMT5 in the next section.

■ 1.2.5 PRMT family tissue expression

In mammals, the predominant type I and type II enzymes are PRMT1 and PRMT5, respectively [19]. PRMT1, 4, and 5 are expressed broadly in various tissues throughout the body. The rest of the family members display more tissue-specific expression, such as PRMT8 which is expressed exclusively in the brain, and PRMT7 which is expressed in the brain, lung, and testes [301]. The importance of these enzymes in mammals is underscored by the severity of their knockout phenotypes. Prmt1 and Prmt5 knockout mice each die early during embryonic development [231, 276]. Carm1 null animals are smaller than their wild type littermates and die shortly after birth [311]. Loss of function of the more tissue specific PRMTs results in less severe phenotypes. Prmt2 null mice are viable and grossly normal [318], Prmt3 knockout mice are largely normal and survive into adulthood [270] and Prmt6 deficient mice are also normal with no overt phenotype [214].

As the main arginine methyltransferase family member that deposits SDMA marks, PRMT5 has come to light as an important orchestrator of proliferation and differentiation, through its interactions with an array of cellular substrates ranging from chromatin modifiers to tyrosine receptor kinases, as discussed below. Unsurprisingly then, dysregulation of PRMT5 activity leads to a wide range of diseases, including cancer (reviewed in [313]). In the rest of this section, I will detail the diverse roles of PRMT5 in the cell, specifically as they relate to our accumulating evidence of its involvement in tumorigenesis.

■ 1.2.6 Discovery of PRMT5

PRMT5 domain organization and structure are highly evolutionarily conserved across eukaryotic species, with all members containing the Rossmann fold, beta-barrel and TIM barrel. C. elegans PRMT5, which shares 31% sequence identity with human PRMT5, harbors sequence insertions that prevent its tetramerization [10, 263]. The homolog of human PRMT5 was first identified in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* as skb1 [108]. The authors were studying Ras effector pathways and how cytoskeletal regulation was mediated by a Rho-associated kinase known as Shk1, the homolog of mammalian p21Cdc42/Rac activated kinases (PAK). Using a two-hybrid screen searching for interactors of Shk1, they identified Skb1 as a positive regulator of Shk1 function, whose overexpression resulted in hyperelongated S. pombe cells. At the same time, another PRMT5 homolog, HSL7 (histone synthetic lethal 7), was cloned in Saccharomyces cerevisiae [195]. Hints at functional motifs and biochemical activity were only gathered with the identification of human PRMT5, which was first identified as JAK2 binding protein (JB1) in a yeast two-hybrid assay aimed at identifying JAK2 interacting proteins [234]. With no known function for this protein or its homologues, in this elegant work, Pollack and colleagues demonstrated that JB1 had SAM-dependent methyltransferase activity, bound histone and non-histone substrates, and was part of a multi-subunit complex. They characterized its mRNA expression over a wide range of human tissues, and also identified a *Drosophila* homolog of the protein. A couple of years later, Branscombe and colleagues designated this novel gene as PRMT5, the first of the type II PRMTs [32]. They demonstrated its ability to catalyze both MMA and SDMA and found that it was responsible for methylation of myelin basic protein (MBP), as well as Sm ribonucleoproteins, SmD1 and SmD3. Together, these studies began to unravel the complexities of PRMT5 function and spurred the study of the ever expanding list of processes regulated by PRMT5.

■ 1.2.7 PRMT5 is an epigenetic regulator involved in transcriptional regulation via chromatin remodeling

One of the most prominent and well-studied roles of PRMT5 is its modulation of chromatin structure and gene expression by modification of histones. PRMT5 has been shown to symmetrically dimethylate H2AR3, H4R3, H3R8, and H3R2 [263]. Its association with several complexes enables it to have wide-ranging effects on gene regulation, with different binding partners dictating its target specificity.

In the nucleus, the PRMT5:MEP50 complex binds to COPR5 (cooperator of PRMT5), an adaptor protein that modulates the binding of PRMT5 to chromatin [174]. In U2OS cells, this interaction preferentially promotes methylation of H4R3 at target promoters, resulting in transcriptional repression. PRMT5 has been shown to associate with SWI/SNF complexes of chromatin remodelers that contain either hBRM or BRG ATPases, thereby linking histone dimethylation and chromatin remodeling. These interactions and their outcomes appear to be context dependent, resulting in transcriptional activation or repression [160]. PRMT5 associates with SWI/SNF and catalyzes promoter region methylation of H3R8 and H4R3 and subsequent transcriptional silencing [226]. ChIP analysis in NIH-3T3 cells revealed that targets of these PRMT5-containing chromatin remodeling complexes include suppressor of tumorigenicity 7 (ST7) and nonmetastatic 23 (NM23), as well as cell cycle regulatory genes. Overexpression of PRMT5 results in reduced expression of these two tumor suppressor genes, and increased cellular transformation [226]. PRMT5 has also been shown to function with chromatin remodeling complexes in a mutually exclusive manner with cmyc [227]. At the cad gene promoter, BRG1-based SWI/SNF complexes associate with the Sin3A/HDAC2 repressor complex together with PRMT5, leading to transcriptional silencing. Sin3A/HDAC2 facilitate deacetylation of H3 and H4, allowing for more efficient PRMT5-mediated dimethylation of the same histones. However, c-myc competes for the repressor-free SWI/SNF complex, and high levels of c-myc result in activation of the target gene [227]. Meanwhile, in other contexts, the interactions between PRMT5 and SWI/SNF complexes result in transcriptional activation. For example, during early myogenic differentiation PRMT5 dimethylates H3R8 at the MYOG promoter [62, 63]. This modification is required for binding and function of BRG1 as part of the SWI/SNF complex to promote chromatin remodeling and subsequent transcriptional activation of MYOG, an essential early gene for skeletal muscle differentiation [62]. In an interesting illustration of the interplay between PRMT family members, PRMT5 is present at late myogenic gene promoters, but dispensable for their activation. Instead, CARM1 facilitates SWI/SNF-dependent late gene expression [62]. Together, these results indicate that the interaction of PRMT5 with SWI/SNF chromatin remodelers can both promote and suppress gene transcription.

PRMT5 has also been shown to interact with the NuRD remodeling complexes, dynamic structures that mediate transcriptional repression by bringing together components that bind methylated DNA, deacetylate and methylate histones and ultimately remodel nucleosomes [225]. Methyl CpG binding domain proteins MBD2 and MBD3 were shown to be a part of mutually exclusive NuRD complexes in HeLa and 293T cells, with MBD3 having much lower affinity for methylated CpG islands in DNA [179]. The PRMT5:MEP50 complex only methylates MBD2, owing to the presence of RG rich sequences, which are absent on MBD3. MBD2 recruits PRMT5 to CDKN2A CpG islands, and this interaction was found to be dependent on DNA methylation and correlated with the presence of symmetrically dimethylated histone H4R3 [179]. PRMT5mediated methylation of MBD2 decreases its affinity for methylated CpG islands, and its ability to recruit HDACs, thereby reducing its activity as a transcriptional repressor [273]. Interestingly, both PRMT1 and PRMT5 methylate MBD2, with indications that PRMT1 mediated methylation may be required for subsequent modification by PRMT5[273]. These studies demonstrate that PRMT5 can modulate the interaction of certain NuRD complexes with DNA and impact their promotion of transcriptional repression.

The newest histone residue found to be modified by PRMT5 is H3R2, whose symmetric dimethylation is important for euchromatin maintenance in human cells. Previous studies had shown that asymmetric dimethylation of H3R2 by PRMT6 prevents binding of WDR5, a component of the MLL complex, thereby inhibiting the deposition of the activating epigenetic mark H3K4me3 [118, 164]. Migliori and colleagues found that symmetric dimethylation of H3R2 by PRMT5 and PRMT7 strongly favored binding of WDR5, and exclusion of Rbbp4 and Rbbp7, part of NuRD/Sin3A and PRC2 repressive complexes [204]. A new report [49] demonstrates that PRMT5-mediated H3R2 monomethylation also recruits WDR5 and promotes H3K4me3 to activate transcription.

PRMT5 has also been shown to interact with other co-repressor complexes, regulating expression of genes that control cell proliferation, differentiation, and cell adhesion [7, 82, 137, 272]. Complex purification and ChIP studies revealed that Ski corepressor complexes in HeLa cells contained PRMT5, HDAC3, as well as several SMAD proteins, and localized to the SMAD7 promoter, a TGF- β responsive gene [272]. This study revealed that in the absence of TGF- β stimulation, Ski complexes maintain SMAD7 in a repressed state. During germ cell development, PRMT5 associates with the BLIMP1/PRDM1 repressive complex, leading to H2A/H4R3 dimethylation and subsequent inhibition of expression of genes involved in germ cell specification [7, 82]. PRMT5 also associates with AJUBA, a repressive complex that interacts with the EMT transcription factor SNAIL, and is recruited to E-cadherin (CDH1) gene promoter [137]. These examples underscore the variety of repressive complexes that PRMT5 interacts with and the diversity of their cellular roles.

In summary, PRMT5 functions as a transcriptional regulator through histone methylation and interactions with transcriptional co-activator and co-repressor complexes, as well as ATP-dependent chromatin remodelers. The effects of PRMT5 on transcription are therefore highly context dependent.

■ 1.2.8 Mechanisms of regulating PRMT5 activity

PRMT5 activity on histone and non-histone targets must be tightly regulated in order to fine tune its effects and wide range of interacting partners. A diversity of posttranslational modifications, protein-protein interactions, and subcellular localization can modulate the activity of PRMT5 in the cell [160, 207, 263]. Although the levels of other histone modifications are regulated via deposition by writers and removed by counterbalancing erasers, a histone arginine demethylase has not been confidently described to date.

Post-translational modifications (PTMs) of either PRMT5 or its binding partner MEP50, can regulate the activity of this methyltransferase complex. For example, an oncogenic gain-of-function mutant of JAK2 aberrantly phosphorylates PRMT5, disrupting its interaction with MEP50 and its ability to methylate histone substrates, resulting in an altered gene expression profile in certain myeloproliferative neoplasms [186]. Conversely, cyclinD1/CDK4-mediated phosphorylation of MEP50 enhances methyltransferase activity of the PRMT5:MEP50 complex, increasing H4R3 and H3R8 methylation [2]. PTMs of substrates can also affect their ability to be modified by PRMT5. For example, histones H3 and H4, hypoacetylated in the context of SWI/SNF Sin3A/HDAC2. were dimethylated by PRMT5 much more efficiently in comparison with hyperacetylated histones [227]. There are also several instances in which different PRMTs act in opposition to each other and even inhibit one anothers activities. Histone H4K5 acetylation promotes H4R3 SDMA by PRMT5, while inhibiting ADMA deposition by PRMT1 [88]. An opposite and weaker association was identified with H3K16 acetylation, which decreases PRMT5 activity and enhances PRMT1 activity [88]. As mentioned previously, in another example, PRMT1 and PRMT5 competed for interaction

with E2F1, whereby the methylation marks that each deposited at slightly different arginine residues interfered with each others activities, affected E2F1 protein stability, and resulted in different cell viabilities [324]. These examples, among many others, highlight the dynamic interplay between different PTMs and how their combinatorial code can influence the scope of PRMT5 activities.

PRMT5 functions as part of numerous multiprotein complexes, and its interaction partners can also regulate and restrict its activity [160]. As a primary example, MEP50 is required for full PRMT5 methyltransferase activity. This complex then binds to other proteins which determine its substrate specificity, such as COPR5 [174] or BLIMP1, each of which can selectively methylate specific histones. PRMT5 contains three nuclear exclusion signals [263], but has been found to be present both in the nucleus and cytoplasm, depending on its interaction with specific binding partners and substrates. Furthermore, adaptor proteins RIOK1 and pICln, present in different cellular compartments, have been shown to bind to PRMT5 in a mutually exclusive fashion [119]. pICln (chloride channel nucleotide sensitive 1A) recruits Sm proteins to PRMT5, which are methylated and then incorporated into small nuclear ribonucleoproteins (snRNPs), while RIOK1 recruits nucleolin, which is known to be important for rRNA processing, for symmetric dimethylation. Taken together, these data offer a glimpse into how exquisitely PRMT5 activity is regulated in the cell by an intricate array of binding partners and modifications that affect the specificity and effects of PRMT5 methyltransferase activity.

Since lysine methylation is known to be reversed by demethylase enzymes of the KDM/LSD family, it stands to reason that arginine methylation is a dynamic posttranslational modification that can be reversed. Until now, the only report of an arginine-specific demethylase identified the Jumonji-domain containing protein JMJD6 [45], but the function has been debated based on demethylase activity assays and structural analysis [28, 75]. Therefore, a bona fide arginine demethylase remains elusive.

■ 1.2.9 Readers of symmetrically dimethylated arginines

Methylarginine marks are signals that must be read by effector proteins or readers that can translate the signal into a functional outcome. The main readers of methylarginine marks are the Tudor domain containing family of proteins, some of which recognize methylarginines, while others bind methylysines [105]. SMN, encoded by the *SMN1* (survival of motor neuron 1) gene, contains one Tudor domain. Loss of function point mutations in this domain have been found in patients suffering from Spinal Muscular Atrophy (SMA), an autosomal recessive neurodegenerative disease that results in motor neuron death [105]. SMN binds methylated spliceosomal core proteins and facilitates their assembly into snRNPs to enable splicing. SMN can bind both ADMA and SDMA marks, with a slight preference for the latter [187]. SPF30, another Tudor family member, is also involved in spliceosome maturation, and binds SDMA with a slightly higher affinity. Another prominent member of the Tudor family is SND1 (TSN-p100), which has been involved in transcriptional regulation, RNA processing, and alternative splicing. Zheng and colleagues demonstrated that when PRMT5 methylates E2F1, an interaction that is antagonized by PRMT1, SND1 binds the methylated arginines and then localizes to promoters of E2F target genes that promote survival and differentiation [324]. This localization of SND1, as determined by ChIP, is E2F1 dependent, as it was not present in E2F1 knockdown cells.

Aside from the Tudor family, a few other proteins have been shown to specifically bind symmetrically dimethylated substrates. As one example, WDR5 recognizes H3R2me2s on euchromatic promoters of genes expressed upon cell cycle exit and differentiation, and recruits MLL coactivator complexes, resulting in deposition of transcriptionally activating H3K4 trimethylation marks [204]. Meanwhile, asymmetric dimethylation of H3R2 by PRMT6 prevents binding of WDR5 and subsequent recruitment of chromatin modifying coactivator complexes. Together, these examples begin to uncover how the interpretation of the PRMT5 SDMA mark by different readers is connected to different functional outcomes.

■ 1.2.10 Roles for PRMT5 in splicing regulation

One of the earliest described roles of PRMT5 was as a component of the methylosome, a complex involved in spliceosomal assembly [95]. Since then, the known effects of PRMT5's involvement in splicing continue to expand, but a thorough mechanistic understanding of the steps in splicing that are impinged upon by PRMT5 activity and the effects of dysregulating this activity are still lacking.

Alternative splicing of precursor mRNAs encoded by a single gene offers eukaryotes the capacity to expand their transcriptome and proteome. Studies estimate that more than 90% of human genes are alternatively spliced [79]. Aberrant splicing has been linked to diseases, including cancer, through direct and indirect mechanisms. These include alternative splicing of specific oncogenic isoforms, mutations in splice sites causing mis-splicing of tumor suppressor genes, mutations in core spliceosomal proteins and splicing factors, oncogenic stress, or mutations in epigenetic regulators.

Splicing of pre-mRNAs involves the recognition of the exon-intron boundaries via short sequence motifs, and subsequent removal of the non-coding intronic sequence by a series of transesterification reactions. More than 99% of the splicing in human cells is performed by the major spliceosome, a structure composed of U1, U2, U4, U5, and U6 small ribonucleoprotein complexes (snRNPs) and non-snRNP proteins [79, 167]. The U1snRNP binds the 5' splice site and U2snRNP recognizes the branch point, while a U2 auxiliary factor complex binds the 3' splice site. The U4/U6.U5 tri-snRNP is recruited to form the active spliceosome.

PRMT5 is known to methylate core spliceosomal proteins in the cytoplasm, modulating their ability to assemble into mature snRNPs. The snRNP core particles are composed of small nuclear RNA (snRNA) and seven Sm proteins (B, D1, D2, D3, E, F, G), as well as other proteins that are specific to each snRNP (reviewed in [91]). Assembly of the snRNP complexes begins in the cytoplasm, with translation of the Sm proteins. They do not exist as monomers, instead forming heterodimers and heterotrimers: SmD1/D2, SmB/D3, and SmF/E/G. The methylosome, composed of PRMT5:MEP50 and the chaperone protein pICln (encoded by CLNS1A), targets SmB, SmD1, and SmD3 for symmetric dimethylation [31, 95, 96, 202]. The Sm proteins form two separate higher order complexes, and the methylosome complex separately binds SmD1/D2/F/E/G(collectively called Sm5) and SmB/D3. Specifically, pICln appears to act as a chaperone for higher order Sm structure and proper snRNP assembly, preventing the premature association of Sm proteins with snRNA [47]. The SDMA post-translational modification increases the affinity of the Sm proteins for the Tudor domain containing SMN complex, dissociating them from pICln. The SMN complex loads the Sm proteins onto the conserved Sm site of the appropriate snRNA in a step-wise fashion, such that Sm5 binds first, followed by SmB/D3 to close out the ring. Following a few more RNA processing steps, the core snRNPs are then transported into the nucleus to mediate splicing as part of the spliceosome (reviewed in [91]). The SMN complex facilitates import and then dissociates from the snRNPs.

Several pieces of evidence suggest that PRMT5 could play roles in splicing that are separate from its methylation of Sm proteins. The first is that PRMT5, like other

PRMT family members, methylates numerous splicing factors other than the core Sm proteins [26, 51, 222]. Second, in *Drosophila*, loss of *dart5*, the homolog of *PRMT5*, did not affect snRNP assembly [112]. Lastly, a few reports have described that loss of PRMT5 across numerous species results in increased alternative splicing of elements with weak 5' splice sites [23, 71, 166, 243]. Therefore, it seems highly likely that PRMT5 could control other steps in the splicing pathway, either co-transcriptionally or post-transcriptionally. These roles remain to be explored and offer exciting new avenues of research.

1.2.11 PRMT5 in development and determination of cell fate

Increasing evidence points to important roles for PRMT5 in maintenance of embryonic and adult stem cells [114]. PRMT5 was shown to be required for embryonic development, with a role in maintaining pluripotency in ES cells, while also repressing differentiation factors [276]. In a conditional knockout model, loss of PRMT5 in hematopoetic stem and progenitor cells led to an initial expansion, eventually followed by exhaustion and bone marrow aplasia [185]. In the brain, it appears that while PRMT5 plays a role in maintaining neural stem cells [53], it promotes oligodendrocyte differentiation [142]. A conditional knockout of PRMT5 in the central nervous system led to loss of neuronal progenitor cells, which could be partially rescued by p53 deletion [23]. A couple of complementary recent studies have found that PRMT5 is important for maintaining genome integrity during germline specification [163, 185]. During the global epigenetic reprogramming that occurs as part of germline development, PRMT5 maintains genome integrity by silencing retrotransposon elements, through H2A/H4R3me2s [163]. Later during germ cell development, PRMT5 maintains splicing fidelity and regulates survival [182]. The nuclear and cytoplasmic shuttling of PRMT5 was found to be concurrent with these functions. These results point to important roles for PRMT5 in stem cell maintenance.

■ 1.2.12 Diverse roles of PRMT5 in cancer

PRMT5 is dysregulated across a wide variety of cancers (Figure 1.3), and often correlated with poor prognosis in many solid and blood-borne tumors [263]. The majority of cases involve amplifications, with a much smaller proportion displaying deletions. Mutations in PRMT5 have also been documented in human tumors, although the functional consequences of these mutations have not been tested. PRMT5 has been linked to promoting neoplastic growth through several different mechanisms, such as controlling cellular proliferation, cell cycle, cell death, and invasiveness. As the link between PRMT5 and cancer continues to strengthen, emerging studies are investigating the possibilities for therapeutic inhibition of PRMT5.

One of the earliest analyses of the functional consequences of PRMT5 mediated transcriptional repression revealed that PRMT5 overexpression led to downregulation of tumor suppressor genes ST7 and NM23 [226]. Since then, the role of PRMT5 in numerous processes important for tumorigenesis, such as the DNA damage response, cell cycle regulation, epithelial to mesenchymal transition, cellular signaling cascades, and inflammation have been described. Although PRMT5 has been investigated in the context of numerous cancer types, it has proven difficult to dissect the exact pathways leading to the development or maintenance of tumors for a protein with such a dense network of interaction partners, and it has become increasingly clear that its effects are highly cell type and context specific.

Our understanding of the oncogenic functions of PRMT5 in hematologic malignancies has greatly expanded over the past couple of years. Li and colleagues reported that PRMT5 is required for lymphomagenesis, downstream of several oncogenic drivers, namely cyclin D1, c-MYC, NOTCH1, and MLLAF9 [182]. PRMT5 was also overexpressed in primary lymphoma samples [55], and found to upregulate its own expression in lymphoma cells through a PRMT5/p65/HDAC3 repressive complex that restricted expression of a PRMT5-targetting miRNA [4]. Furthermore, the novel PRMT5 inhibitor EPZ015666 was first tested on MCL xenograft models, resulting in reduced tumor burden [44]. In an elegant report linking lymphomagenesis and splicing, Koh and colleagues found that PRMT5 is important for $E\mu$ -myc driven tumor development and maintenance, as myc overexpression drives dependence on high levels of PRMT5 to maintain splicing fidelity [166].

High levels of PRMT5 expression have also been reported in numerous solid tumors, often correlated with aggressive disease. In lung tumors, PRMT5 was found to be overexpressed patient samples from numerous subtypes [254, 255], with higher levels of PRMT5 and MEP50 being associated with decreased survival in non-small cell lung cancer [263]. PRMT5 knockdown successfully reduced tumor growth in a lung cancer xenograft model [117], although its effects in autochthonous models have not been reported. Additionally, high levels of PRMT5 have been noted in human melanomas,



Figure 1.3. PRMT5 alterations in cancer. PRMT5 is frequently altered in a wide variety of tumor types. The distribution of copy number alterations (amplifications and deletions), as well as mutations, are displayed. These results are based on data generated by the TCGA Research Network: http://cancergenome.nih.gov/, obtained from cbioportal.org.

ovarian, and prostate tumors [14, 116, 217]. Although PRMT5 functions in both nuclear and cytoplasmic compartments, and staining in primary tumor samples is often heterogeneous, there is evidence to suggest that high cytoplasmic expression is often correlated with tumor grade [217, 255].

PRMT5 has also been shown to regulate another tumor suppressor, p53, through several different direct and indirect mechanisms. Under DNA damage conditions in U2OS osteosarcoma cells, PRMT5 was found to methylate p53 on arginine residues contained in its oligomerization domain, altering its promoter specificity and reducing apoptosis [152]. Scoumanne et al. described another mode of PRMT5 dependent p53 regulation, noting that PRMT5 regulates p53 translation, possibly through EIF4E [250]. Here, PRMT5 knockdown resulted in decreased EIF4E protein levels and decreased cellular proliferation, which was rescued by EIF4E overexpression. Therefore, PRMT5 broadly functions to suppress multiple tumor suppressor pathways, providing clues about its role as a potential oncogene.

The RB tumor suppressor pathway is one of the most highly deregulated pathways in human tumors. PRMT5 acts upon various components of this pathway, invariably driving increased capacity for cellular proliferation and tumorigenesis. In lymphoid cell lines, PRMT5 overexpression led to increased H4R3me2s and H3R8me2s at promoters of RB family members, resulting in their transcriptional repression. PRMT5 knockdown in these lines led to decreased cell proliferation [295]. As indicated earlier, the La Thangue group showed that E2F1 is methylated in a competitive manner by PRMT1 and PRMT5 and each of these modifications has different functional outcomes [54, 324]. PRMT5-mediated methylation of E2F1 leads to cell cycle progression, while PRMT1-mediated methylation under DNA damage conditions results in E2F1 dependent apoptosis. In a different study, Aggarwal et al. demonstrated that cyclin D1 regulates PRMT5 activity, via CDK4-mediated phosphorylation of MEP50 [2]. This modification increased PRMT5 activity, resulting in increased H4R3me2s and subsequent repression of CUL4A/B expression. These components of the E3 ubiquitin ligase complexes assist in the degradation of DNA replication licensing factor CDT1. The authors had previously shown that overexpression of CDT1 during S phase allows for DNA re-replication, leading to genomic instability and subsequent increased mutational burden [1]. Taken together, these results illustrate how PRMT5 can impinge on the RB pathway from multiple angles, and promote tumor cell proliferation.

One of the hallmarks of cancer is the epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), a

process that enables cells to lose polarity and cell-cell adhesions, while gaining migratory and invasive phenotypes that favor tumor cell dissemination and metastasis [124]. This change involves loss of E-cadherin (CDH1) expression. PRMT5 has been shown to be recruited to the EMT transcription factor SNAIL, together with the repressive complex AJUBA, resulting in repression of the CDH1 gene in HEK293 cells [137]. Additionally, overexpression of PRMT5 in NIH-3T3 cells induced anchorage-independent growth [226]. In a recent report characterizing the involvement of TGF- β driven EMT, Chen et al. provide evidence for a complex mechanism of PRMT5-orchestrated transcriptional regulation of TGF- β responsive genes important for mediating EMT [49]. The authors demonstrate that in response to TGF- β treatment in lung cancer cells, PRMT5/MEP50 simultaneously targets H4 and H3, with different outcomes. H4R3 symmetric dimethylation results in subsequent transcriptional repression of TGF- β silenced EMT genes, while H3R2 monomethylation and symmetric dimethylation results in transcriptional activation of TGF- β activated EMT genes, via the recruitment of WDR5. Although the association of H3R2me2s with this component of the MLL complex has been previously reported [204], this is the first report of H3R2me1 function. Overall, these studies define a role for PRMT5 in TGF- β driven EMT.

The post-translational modifications deposited by PRMT5 also play roles in signal transduction cascades, pathways whose components are often found to be mutated in cancers. For example, PRMT5 can regulate receptor tyrosine kinase signaling, restricting ERK activity. PRMT5-mediated methylation of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) at R1175 stimulates EGF-mediated trans-auto-phosphorylation at Y1173, which leads to binding of phosphatase SHP1 (PTPN6) and subsequent attenuation of downstream signaling [138]. Inhibition of this modification resulted in increased proliferation, migration and invasion of an epidermoid carcinoma cell line. PRMT5 also methylates both BRAF and CRAF in response to certain growth factors in PC12 cells, decreasing their stability, activity and subsequent ERK activation [9].

A couple of recent promising studies have outlined that PRMT5 inhibition might be particularly beneficial in tumors lacking the metabolic enzyme methylthioadenosine phosphorylase (MTAP) [172, 198]. As part of the methionine and adenine salvage pathways, MTAP is involved in the generation of the PRMT5 cofactor SAM. MTAP is frequently deleted in cancers, for example in 53% of glioblastomas (GBMs) and 26% pancreatic tumors, due to its proximity on chromosome 9 to the tumor suppressor gene CDKN2A. Using pooled shRNA screens against hundreds of cell lines, both studies identified that the viability of MTAP negative cell lines was impaired by knockdown of PRMT5 and several of its cofactors, such as MEP50. MTAP deficient cells built up the metabolite methylthioadenosine (MTA), leading to a partial inhibition of PRMT5 methyltransferase activity. Cells were further sensitized to PRMT5 loss in this hypomorphic state [172, 198]. These results show that MTAP deleted tumors may be selectively vulnerable to PRMT5 inhibition, although they do caution that MTAP negative cell lines show a range in the extent of growth reduction in response to PRMT5 loss and therefore MTAP status may not be sufficient to determine sensitivity to PRMT5 inhibition.

Importantly, PRMT5 expression levels have been found to be higher in numerous tumor types compared to surrounding normal tissues and is often an indicator of advanced disease [14, 117, 217, 254, 255, 312], speaking to the requirement for PRMT5 activity in tumorigenesis, and indicating its potential utility as a biomarker. Furthermore, all of these studies have increased the interest in small molecule inhibitors for targeting PRMT5. Recently, an inhibitor with high specificity, oral bioavailability, and nanomolar IC50 has been reported [44], opening the door for studies to assess the relevance of PRMT5 as a therapeutic target in a variety of cancers.
■ 1.3 Genetic and Epigenetic Dysregulation in Glioblastoma

Diffuse gliomas represent the most common primary brain tumors in adults [146]. These neoplasms display diffuse infiltration of tumor cells into the neuropil, and are categorized as low grade glioma (LGG) or glioblastoma (GBM). LGGs are classified according to their histopathological characteristics as astrocytomas, oligodendrogliomas, or of mixed origin, oligoastrocytomas [146, 190]. These tumors are further stratified by grade, depending on their mitotic index and nuclear atypia, as being WHO Grade II and III. GBMs, the most frequent of gliomas, are grade IV tumors that either arise de novo as primary tumors, or by progressing to a fully malignant state from LGG, known as secondary GBM. The incidence of GBM is 3.2 per 100,000 people in the US, and it increases with age, with a median age of diagnosis of 64 [223]. These tumors carry a dismal prognosis, with a median survival of 14.6 months and 5-year survival of less than 10 percent, with standard treatment methods [265], highlighting the need for novel therapeutic approaches.

■ 1.3.1 Conventional therapeutic options for glioblastoma

GBM patients currently undergo surgical resection whenever possible, and are subsequently treated with a combination of radiation therapy and the chemotherapeutic temozolomide (TMZ). Prior to the early 2000s, glioblastoma patients were treated with radiation therapy and nitrosoureas, DNA alkylating agents such as carmustine (BCNU) or lomustine (CCNU) [110]. However, numerous clinical trials did not show any consistent benefit of using adjuvant chemotherapy compared to radiation therapy alone [265]. A retrospective review of 12 randomized trials showed a small but significant survival benefit [110], but the use of these chemotherapies was often associated with severe side effects.

The DNA methylating agent TMZ was developed in the 1980s and found to have favorable bioavailability, distribution to the brain, and a tolerable side effect profile [262]. In 2005, Stupp and colleagues reported the result of a European and Canadian phase III clinical trial for GBM patients, comparing radiotherapy alone against radiotherapy and concomitant and adjuvant TMZ [265]. These results demonstrated a significant improvement in median survival, from 12.1 to 14.6 months, and an increased two-year survival from 10.4% to 26.5% in the cotreated group [265]. This paved the way for large-scale adoption of TMZ for the treatment on GBM, and an updated analysis of the trial a few years later demonstrated a significant increase in the five-year survival rate from 1.9% to 9.8% [264]. TMZ is now used as the standard chemotherapy for GBM [145].

TMZ acts by methylation of DNA bases and activates several cellular DNA repair pathways. The major molecular targets of TMZ-induced methylation are the N7 position of guanine (N7-G, 70%), N3 of adenine (N3-A, 9%), and O6 of guanine (O6-G, 6%) [321]. While methylated N7-G and N3-A are substrates for the base excision repair (BER) pathway, the most toxic TMZ adduct, methylated O6-G (O6-meG), is normally repaired by the suicide enzyme O6-methylguanine-DNA-methyltransferase (MGMT, Figure 1.4). If not resolved, O6-meG leads to a thymine mismatch and a point mutation during replication. The mismatch repair (MMR) pathway recognizes this lesion and attempts to correct it. However, this mechanism only acts on the newly synthesized daughter strand, without repairing the original O6-meG on the template strand. This leads to repetitive and unsuccessful attempts to fix the lesion, resulting in persistent gaps in the DNA and double stand breaks upon further replication [97]. Such clastogenic lesions will lead to apoptosis if downstream repair pathways fail. Therefore, a simple alkylating lesion can become toxic to rapidly proliferating tumor cells [157].

Due to the prominent role of MGMT in efficacy of TMZ, MGMT expression was proposed as a biomarker for treatment response [132]. Epigenetic silencing of MGMT by promoter methylation is found in approximately half of GBM patients [132, 133], and several studies reported that TMZ-treated patients harboring MGMT promoter methylation showed a significant improvement in median survival (21.7 months versus 15.3 months) [133]. As a result, MGMT promoter methylation status is now used for patient stratification in clinical trials [279]. However, there is no consensus on the best method to collect tissue and determine MGMT methylation patterns in patients [278, 279]. Other studies have also shown that there is not a clear correlation between MGMT promoter methylation status and mRNA or protein expression [171, 175]. Therefore, the predictive value of MGMT promoter methylation for treatment outcome remains unclear. New molecular subclassification of GBM tumors has recently determined that while MGMT promoter methylation is found in about half of patients, it is predictive of survival in only one subtype, known as the classical subgroup [35]. Altogether, although the current use of unselective conventional therapies has resulted in modest improvement in the short term survival of GBM patients, new approaches are warranted for developing novel therapeutic strategies with the aim of improving long term survival.



Figure 1.4. Mechanism of action of temozolomide (TMZ). Of the three major TMZ-induced adducts, the most toxic is methylated O6-G (O6meG). This lesion is normally repaired by the suicide enzyme O6-methylguanine-DNA-methyltransferase (MGMT). If not resolved, O6meG leads to a thymine mismatch and a point mutation during replication. The mismatch repair (MMR) pathway surveys the daughter stand and recognizes the mismatch. In a process known as "futile MMR", it repeatedly and unsuccessfully attempts to fix the lesion. Upon further rounds of DNA replication, this mismatch can persist or lead to DNA double strand breaks (DSB).

1.3.2 Molecular subclassification uncovers interplay between genetics and epigenetics

Gliomas represent a heterogeneous class of tumors, and their distinction based on histopathological characteristics and grade conceals their true molecular diversity. A more thorough understanding of the key genetic and epigenetic alterations would allow for more distinct stratification of patients and clearer insight into which patients would benefit from different therapies. In the past decade, the advent of high throughput genomic analysis technologies and careful cataloging of hundreds of tumor samples by consortia such as TCGA have allowed for large scale profiling analyses. These studies have led to molecular subclassification of gliomas based on genomic, epigenomic, and transcriptional signatures [144].

One of the first efforts to define molecular signatures was undertaken by Phillips and colleagues [232], who classified grade III and IV malignant tumors into three subclasses based on their gene expression patterns: proneural, proliferative, and mesenchymal. The proneural group displayed neuronal lineage markers and was associated with a favorable prognosis, while the other two subclasses expressed signatures of proliferation. mesenchymal tissues and angiogenensis, and were associated with poor prognosis. Our knowledge of the molecular basis of GBM rapidly expanded with publication of the first TCGA glioblastoma analysis, detailing the most commonly mutated genes and pathways in a sample of 206 tumors. Dysregulation of the RB pathway, p53 pathway, and receptor tyrosine kinase signaling was found in almost all tumors, with 74% containing aberrations in all three. The most common alterations involved mutations or homozygous deletions in CDKN2A/B, PTEN, and TP53, and mutations or amplifications in EGFR. Molecular classification of the TCGA data subsequently revealed 4 tumor classes linked to distinct neural lineages and therapeutic response [290]. The classical, mesenchymal, proneural, and neural types expressed gene signatures similar to astrocytes, microglial and mesenchymal cells, oligodendrocytes, and neurons, respectively. Furthermore, three subclasses were strongly associated with genetic abnormalities in different genes: classical with EGFR, mesenchymal with NF1, and proneural with PDGFRA and IDH1/2. This study also demonstrated the predictive power that molecular subclassification could have even for conventional therapies, with the classical and mesenchymal subtypes showing improved survival with more intensive therapy, while the proneural class fared best, regardless of treatment intensity.

Armed with a better understanding of the genetic events driving different subclasses of GBM, subsequent investigations examined stratification based on epigenetic modifications, starting with DNA methylation. To this end, Noushmehr et al. looked at genome wide promoter DNA methylation of a growing TCGA dataset [218]. Reminiscent of a CpG island methylator phenotype (CIMP) subgroup first described in colorectal cancer [281], this study revealed the existence of a glioma CpG island methylator phenotype (G-CIMP). This pattern is correlated with the proneural GBM subgroup, enriched in secondary and recurrent GBMs, and associated with younger patient age. Notably, these tumors contain mutations in the metabolic enzymes isocytrate dehydrogenase 1 or 2 (IDH1, IDH2) and are associated with improved outcome compared to C-GIMP negative tumors [281]. The G-CIMP phenotypes and IDH mutations also frequently occur in lower-grade gliomas. These findings, together with several others [65, 89, 286, 300, 310], revealed an intricate link between genetic alterations and epigenetic changes in GBM. Mutations in IDH1 and IDH2 result in the production of a neomorphic enzyme that produces an oncometabolite, 2-hydroxygluterate (2-HG). This new product inhibits the demethylase activity of TET2, leading to an increase in DNA methylation, ultimately resulting in G-CIMP. These mutations appear to upregulate neuronal stem cell markers in astrocytes, indicating that the resulting epigenetic remodeling can affect cellular differentiation [286]. Hypermethylation can have striking effects on chromosomal topology, disrupting domain boundaries that are normally separated by insulator elements [92]. An elegant report recently demonstrated that hypermethylation reduces CTCF insulator protein binding to DNA, resulting in a breakdown of boundary structure and leading to interactions of enhancers with oncogene promoters. Specifically, this led to activation of PDGFRA, whose aberrant activation increased proliferation in glioma neurosphere culture. Treatment of IDH1 mutant cells with demethylating agent 5-azacytidine restored CTCF function and downregulated PDGFRA expression [92]. Interestingly, 2-HG can also inhibit specific histone demethylases [310] and block differentiation [89, 191]. Therefore, interrogation of the DNA methylation patterns in GBM has revealed a novel oncogenic driver that crosses the boundaries between metabolic and epigenetic regulation and has important implications for the subclassification of gliomas.

Over the past few years, several studies have offered insight into how DNA methylation patterns can help to stratify not only adult GBM, but also LGG and pediatric GBM. Brennan and colleagues analyzed a set of 543 GBM patients as part of TCGA



Adult Glioma 1122 DHwildtype 54% G-CIMP-tow G-CIMP-tow G-CIMP-high Codel Cimp-tow Codel Co

Figure 1.5. New classification scheme for gliomas. (A) Tumors from a large number of human glioma patients were profiled for several molecular characteristics such as mutations, DNA methylation, copy number variants, gene and protein expression. This analysis led to a novel subclassification scheme for gliomas based on DNA methylation patters, which stratified patients broadly into IDH mutant or wild type tumors, and further into three or four subclasses, respectively. These groups are associated with different survival outcomes. (B) Scheme showing the percentage of patients that stratify into each of the different categories. (Modified from [41]) 42

А

В

and noted that DNA methylation stratified patients into 6 subclasses. This included an IDH mutant, G-CIMP+ group that was associated with the most favorable survival outcome. Other studies demonstrated that most LGG tumors were mutant for IDH and those with WT IDH1 showed a high level of similarity to GBM both molecularly and clinically [39, 81]. The most recent analyses replaced grade distinctions between GBM and LGG with classification by DNA methylation. This allowed the authors to recognize two broad classes based on IDH status [41,81]. Within the IDH mutant group, further subclassification outlined G-CIMP high, G-CIMP low, and tumors containing a 1p/19q co-deletion, with G-CIMP low showing the lowest median survival (Figure 1.5). Meanwhile, the IDH WT tumors were further subdivided into 4 groups with different expression patterns and clinical outcomes. In a cohort of pediatric and adult GBM patients, mutations in H3F3A, encoding historie variant H3.3, were associated with different methylation patterns and a younger patient population [267], echoing findings of histone mutations in pediatric GBM [248]. Mutually exclusive with mutations in IDH, mutations in H3F3A co-occur with genetic hits in ATRX and DAXX, known to complex together and contribute to an alternative lengthening of telomere (ALT) phenotype [248, 267]. Interestingly, the majority of adult GBM tumors contain alterations in the TERT promoter or ATRX, indicating that telomere maintenance is important in GBM. Despite these observations, the significance of telomere length to gliomagenesis and effect on survival remains to be clarified [41, 101, 162, 266].

In summary, these recent efforts demonstrate that integrated genomic and epigenomic analyses involving DNA methylation, gene mutations, copy number alterations, as well as gene and protein expression can drive refinement of glioma classification across age and tumor grade. Such grouping would be beneficial for guiding more targeted clinical trial design, as well as discovery of biomarkers and development of specific treatment strategies. The identification of several molecular subgroups argues that blanket treatment with a non-selective agent such as radiation and temozolomide may be inefficient in such a heterogeneous tumor type [266].

■ 1.3.3 Emerging therapeutic strategies in GBM

Although our understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying gliomagenesis has greatly improved, targeted therapies have not yet found their way into large scale clinical practice. Several reasons have been discussed for the current lack of success of targeted and epigenetic therapies [50, 266]. First, systemic treatments of GBM tumors face the unique challenge of penetrating the blood brain barrier, which regulates the passage of signaling molecules, toxins, and consequently drugs, into the brain parenchyma [43]. Second, the lack of substratification of patients in clinical trials can lead to any potential effects being masked when diluted over a heterogeneous patient population. Third, tumors are notoriously efficient at eventually developing therapeutic resistance, whether due to the outgrowth of pre-existing resistant clones or the emergence of novel drug resistant cells [80].

The only targeted agent currently approved by the FDA is the anti-angiogenic therapy bevacizumab [50]. In preclinical models, this monoclonal antibody targeting vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF-A) has been shown to decrease angiogenesis, one of the hallmark features of GBM, resulting in temporary restoration of tumor vasculature [151]. Despite its initial success in increasing progression-free survival in phase II trials for patients with recurrent GBM [93, 170], two recent phase III studies did not find that bevacizumab had any effect on overall survival as first line therapy in combination with radiation and TMZ for patients with newly diagnosed GBM [52, 107].

One potential therapeutic strategy that has been studied extensively is targeting EGFR, one of the most frequent alterations in GBM, found in 57% of patients [133]. Small molecule EGFR inhibitors that have worked well in other solid tumor types have not been successful in GBM [224]. Cetuximab, an antibody targeting wild type EGFR, did not demonstrate an effect on survival in a phase II trial that stratified recurrent high grade glioma patients by EGFR amplification status [216]. Other areas of active investigation include antibodies or vaccines against EGFRvIII, a mutant version of the receptor [50, 224].

Epigenetic therapies are currently being explored in clinical trials involving glioblastoma patients. A retrospective study of patients taking the anti-epileptic drug valproic acid, an HDAC inhibitor, during the course of their radiation therapy found that it was associated with improved survival [15]. The recently published results of a phase II trial of valproic acid with concomitant TMZ and radiation showed that the therapy was well tolerated in GBM patients and that outcomes may show improvement, warranting a phase III trial [169]. The DNA demethylating agent 5-azacytidine, approved for use in myelodysplatic disorders [37], has shown efficacy in a preclinical model of IDH mutant glioma [27] and is currently being tested in GBM and many other solid tumors in a phase I trial [42]. Given the new appreciation for the high frequency of IDH mutation in glioma and great strides in understanding its mechanism of tumorigenesis, recent efforts have been aimed at targeting mutant IDH enzymes, which are found not only in glioma but also AML and a few other malignancies. Small molecule inhibitors and vaccines are currently being explored in Phase I clinical trials in glioma and IDH mutant positive malignancies [213, 219]. Furthermore, a phase IIa clinical trial in GBM patients using a small molecule inhibitor of the BET family of chromatin readers, OTX015, has recently been completed, with results pending [221].

Several lines of cancer immunotherapies are being tested in gliomas at this time. Aside from the aforementioned vaccines targeting specific proteins mutated in gliomas, several dendritic cell vaccines are currently underway [50]. Excitement over immunotherapies has increased with the recent approval of two checkpoint blockade inhibitors as first line therapy for metastatic melanoma (reviewed in [275]). These antibodies against PD-1 and CTLA-4 are currently being tested in phase III clinical trials in recurrent or newly-diagnosed GBM, head to head with TMZ. Lastly, adoptive cell therapies are also being tested using anti-EGFRvIII chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells. The aggressive nature of GBM and the heterogeneity of tumors assimilated under this one umbrella term has resulted in few novel therapeutic strategies targeting these tumors in the past couple of decades. It is likely that effective treatment will require multiple modes of therapy and the exact approach will be informed by molecular characteristics of the tumor, as well as clinical phenotypes. Our understanding of the actions of epigenetic regulators in cancer is expanding rapidly, offering us a better understanding of the potential therapeutic benefits of epigenetic therapies. Ultimately, these therapies may prove to be useful for remodeling the epigenetic landscape of tumor cells, and sensitizing tumors to either targeted therapies or conventional chemotherapies [80, 156, 319].

■ 1.3.4 Known roles for PRMT5 in GBM

PRMT5 has been studied in the context of GBM in only a handful of previous reports. Protein expression of PRMT5 was found to increase with tumor grade, while being minimal in normal brain [123, 312]. Furthermore, levels of PRMT5 protein expression were negatively correlated with patient survival. PRMT5 knockdown in different human GBM lines had anti-proliferative effects and resulted in apoptosis in a p53 independent manner. One of the genes that was upregulated upon PRMT5 loss was tumor suppressor ST7, and PRMT5 was shown to be recruited to the ST7 pro-

moter. Furthermore, PRMT5 knockdown in an orthotopic xenograft model resulted in increased survival [312]. Recently, experiments in serum-deprived GBM neurospheres versus adherent and more differentiated cultures demonstrated that PRMT5 regulates self-renewal via the PTEN-Akt pathway [13]. PRMT5 loss led to PTEN-dependent senescence in the neurospheres and was required for survival in adherent cells. In xenograft models derived from both cell types, PRMT5 knockdown improved survival. Together, these studies point to a role for PRMT5 in GBM and advocate for further investigation into the mechanisms of PRMT5 function and its potential as a therapeutic target in GBM.

■ 1.4 Conclusion

Our understanding of epigenetics has greatly expanded over the past 30 years and our appreciation for the diverse activities of epigenetic regulators and their contributions to cancer is rapidly expanding. The PRMT family of arginine methyltransferases, and specifically, PRMT5, is emerging as an important contributor to tumorigenesis across a variety of tumor types. At a time when the epigenetic contributions to GBM pathology are being increasingly explored, PRMT5 comes into focus as an ideal candidate for further exploration and therapeutic targeting.

In vivo RNAi screen uncovers PRMT5 as a critical mediator of tumor growth in glioblastoma

Monica Stanciu, Christian Braun, Paul Boutz, Rachit Neupane, Michael Hemann, Jacqueline Lees

M.S. and C.B. conducted *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments. M.S. performed gene expression pathway analyses. C.B. performed cell line screen. P.B. analyzed gene expression data, including all splicing analyses. R.N. contributed to Figure 2.8C. M.S., C.B., M.H., J.L. designed the study and analyzed the data. M.S. and J.L. wrote the paper.

■ 2.1 Abstract

► IVEN the growing appreciation for the role of epigenetics in glioblastoma (GBM), \checkmark we performed an *in vivo* shRNA screen to identify epigenetic modulators of tumor growth. We identified PRMT5, a type II protein arginine methyltransferase, whose oncogenic roles in several tumor types are emerging, as being differentially required for tumor growth. We demonstrate that both genetic depletion and pharmacological inhibition with a new first in class PRMT5 inhibitor results in loss of cell viability and leads to lifespan extension in an *in vivo* GBM model. We describe a putative function for PRMT5 in regulation of GBM cell fate and define a critical role for PRMT5 in modulating splicing of a recently recognized class of intronic sequences that uniquely regulate gene expression. Furthermore, we demonstrate that despite the pleiotropic roles of PRMT5, resistance to PRMT5 inhibition is most strongly determined by the expression level of genes involved in RNA splicing across a range of tumor cell types. Together, these results highlight the importance of PRMT5 in GBM and demonstrate that using a small molecule inhibitor targeting its methyltransferase activity can lead to a significant effect on survival. Furthermore, our results suggest a requirement for PRMT5 regulated splicing across different tumor cell types, possibly owing to its ability to rapidly modulate gene expression through this function.

2.2 Introduction

Glioblastoma (GBM) is a largely intractable disease whose molecular foundations are the subject of intense study, with the goal of developing more targeted therapeutic regimens leading to improved survival. Currently, GBM treatment consists of radiation therapy with concomitant or adjuvant chemotherapy with temozolomide (TMZ). The contributions of global epigenetic remodeling of the chromatin landscape to GBM initiation and progression are being increasingly explored. The advent of large scale studies such as The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) have greatly accelerated our appreciation of the breadth of epigenomic alterations in GBM [35, 41]. For example, DNA methylation patterns were shown to form the basis for molecular subclassification across adult diffuse gliomas of all grades [41], and these different subclasses are linked with specific molecular characteristics and survival outcomes. Furthermore, 46% of GBMs contained at least one non-synonymous mutation in a chromatin modifying gene [35]. These studies, along with many others [92, 99] highlight the undisputable importance of studying the role of the epigenome for a more complete understanding of GBM biology and the development of potential treatment strategies.

Deregulation of factors involved in RNA splicing is increasingly being recognized across a variety of tumor types (reviewed in [79]). These proteins can act as tumor suppressors or proto-oncogenes, affecting both constitutive and alternative splicing [69, 98, 126, 196, 240]. Interestingly, novel roles for epigenetic modulators in splicing regulation have recently been described. For example, MRG15 is a chromodomain containing protein that binds H3K36me3 marks and modulates alternative splicing by recruiting the splicing factor PTB [193]. Loss of SETD2, a histone methyltransferase, in renal cancer results in increased chromatin accessibility and splicing alterations in a quarter of expressed genes [256]. These results illustrate the importance of splicing in cancer and the blurring of boundaries between epigenetic and splicing roles.

Protein arginine methyltransferase 5 (PRMT5) is an epigenetic regulator that is indispensable for mammalian development [276] and whose role in cancer has become the focus of intense investigation in the last few years [263]. PRMT5 is overexpressed in a variety of solid and hematologic malignancies including lung and ovarian tumors, melanoma, and lymphoma [14, 55, 217, 254, 255, 303]. A member of the diverse family of protein arginine methyltransferases, PRMT5 is the major enzyme responsible for symmetric dimethylation of arginine residues (SDMA) on both histone and non-histone proteins and its post-translational modifications target proteins across a wide range of cellular functions (reviewed in [20]). The effects of PRMT5 on gene expression are mediated via its epigenetic role as a histone modifier and transcriptional co-activator and co-repressor, as well as through its involvement in mRNA splicing.

The known roles for PRMT5 in splicing point to its involvement in the methylosome, a complex required for the assembly of small ribonucleoproteins (snRNPs) in the cytoplasm. Together with its binding partner pICln (CLNS1A), PRMT5 recruits Sm proteins, and specifically methylates SmB, SmD1, and SmD3. This modification is then thought to facilitate the transfer of Sm proteins to the Tudor domain containing SMN complex, which guides their assembly onto snRNAs and the formation of a complete snRNP complex [91]. Furthermore, deep sequencing revealed that PRMT5 loss leads to modifications in constitutive and alternative splicing events [23, 71, 166, 243].

PRMT5 was recently found to be overexpressed in GBM patient samples [123, 312], and shRNA mediated knockdown was shown to extend survival in GBM xenograft models [13, 312]. With mounting evidence for its critical role across a variety of tumor types, PRMT5 has emerged as a highly sought-after therapeutic target. A novel selective small molecule inhibitor for PRMT5 enhanced lifespan in xenograft models of mantle cell lymphoma [44]. RNA interference (RNAi) loss of function screens have been successfully used as an unbiased method of identifying novel regulators of tumorigenesis and therapy response [22, 36, 201, 235, 320, 325]. Although technically challenging, *in vivo* shRNA screens offer the unique opportunity to study gene function in a physiologically relevant context, as opposed to cell-based screening assays [201].

In the present study, we report the results of parallel *in vivo* and *in vitro* shRNA screens to identify epigenetic mediators affecting tumor growth and response to TMZ. Our results provide evidence for PRMT5 involvement in this disease and demonstrate *in vivo* survival benefits of inhibiting PRMT5 using a small molecule inhibitor. We describe a dependence on splicing regulators in response to PRMT5 inhibition that extends across a broad range of tumor cell types and identify a novel role for PRMT5 in regulating a specific class of introns.

■ 2.3 Results

2.3.1 GL261 orthotopic transplantation tumors resemble human glioblastoma tumors

To perform a robust loss of function *in vivo* screen with a large pooled shRNA library in an orthotopic setting, we first set out to choose a system consisting of GBM cells that could be easily grown in vitro and transplanted intracranially with great reliability. We selected the murine GL261 GBM cell line, which was derived from a glioma generated by the implantation of carcinogenic methylcholanthrene pellets into the brain of a C57BL/6mouse [215]. By orthotopically injecting these cells into syngeneic C57BL/6 mice, tumors were generated in immunocompetent hosts in the context of a physiologically relevant tumor microenvironment. We first confirmed that this model system recapitulates important histopathologic and mutational features of human tumors. Intracranial transplantation of GL261 cells into syngeneic hosts resulted in highly aggressive and infiltrative tumors, which, like their human counterparts, formed invasive projections into the neuropil (Figure 2.1A). These tumors were highly vascularized and displayed astrocytic features, as previously described [215]. Tumor development was rapid and reliable, with complete penetrance and a median survival of 23 days post implantation (Figure 2.1B). Treatment of the mice with TMZ significantly extended lifespan, although the animals invariably succumbed to the disease. We found that these cells contained a mutation in the DNA binding domain of p53 and an activating mutation in Kras, confirming what had been previously reported [271]. In human glioblastoma, aberrations in the p53 tumor suppressor pathway are found in 86% of patients, while TP53 itself is mutated in 28% of tumors [35]. While only 1% contain mutations in RAS, receptor tyrosine kinase signaling is altered in 90% of GBM, with mutations in EGFR, PDGFR and NF1 all converging on this signaling pathway [35]. These results demonstrate that the GL261 model system combines a syngeneic tumor model with a mutation spectrum that is relevant to human disease, leading to tumors that resemble their human GBM counterparts.



Figure 2.1. GL261 tumors resemble human tumors and respond to Kras depletion in vivo. (A) Tumors that form upon intracranial implantation of a syngeneic GL261 GBM cell line are invasive and highly vascularized, similar to human tumors. (B) Median survival of GL261 tumor-bearing animals (n=7) is 23 days, and is significantly extended to 35 days following treatment with TMZ (n=8, 50mg/kg, ip, at 16 days). P value determined by Log-Rank (Mantel-Cox) test. (C) Inducible TRMPVIR construct for miR30 based shRNA expression [325]. Transduced cells express constitutively active Venus (grey) and upon doxycycline induction, they also become positive for dsRed (red), indicating shRNA expression. The scheme outlines competition assays, performed by retroviral transduction of GL261 cells with this vector. Starting with a mixed population of cells where approximately half contained the vector, addition of doxycycline induces shRNA expression. Over time, shRNA expressing cells are either enriched, depleted, or undergo no change with respect to the starting population, depending on the identity of the shRNA. (D) Kras mRNA levels in GL261 cells containing one of two Kras targeting shRNAs, before and after doxycycline induction for 48h, as measured by qRT-PCR. n=3, and error bars represent SEM. (E) In vitro competition assay, showing proportion of Kras shRNA expressing cells over all transduced cells over time, compared to a Renilla shRNA control. n=3, and error bars represent SD, p value determined by Students t test. (F) In vivo competition assay, in which tumors were induced with doxycycline at 6 days post GL261 tumor cell implantation, to express either of the two Kras shRNAs or a Renilla shRNA control. n=7 for each condition, p value determined by Mann-Whitney test. (G) Survival of populations of mice presented in (F), p value determined by Log-Rank (Mantel-Cox) test.

■ 2.3.2 Decreased Kras expression leads to measurable effects on tumor growth *in vivo*

We next sought to determine whether RNA interference by retroviral transduction of GL261 cells could lead to quantifiable changes in the composition of in vivo tumor cell populations. We used the inducible vector TRMPVIR [325] for shRNA expression (Figure 2.1C). Transduction of cells with TRMPVIR containing a specific shRNA results in the constitutive expression of the Venus fluorophore and rtTA3. Upon doxycycline treatment, rtTA3 binds the TRE promoter, inducing expression of the fluorophore dsRed and the shRNA. In vitro and in vivo cellular competition assays were performed to quantify effects of specific shRNAs at the cellular level. These assays started with a mixed population of cells, in which approximately half were transduced with the vector (and therefore expressed Venus), followed by addition of doxycycline to induce shRNA expression (resulting in Venus and dsRed double positive cells). After allowing for in vitro or in vivo growth, the proportion of shRNA expressing cells in the population was determined by flow cytometry. Depending on the identity of the particular shRNA, if the shRNA had beneficial, detrimental or neutral effects on cellular fitness, the proportion of shRNA expressing cells became enriched, depleted or unchanged, respectively (Figure 2.1C). To determine whether a single hairpin can have a measurable effect on tumor composition and growth, we targeted Kras, the known oncogenic driver in GL261 cells, hypothesizing that cells harboring Kras shRNAs would become depleted both in vitro and in vivo. Two different shRNAs resulted in decreased Kras mRNA expression 48 hours after doxycycline induction (Figure 2.1D). In vitro, knockdown with either of the two shRNAs caused a significant decrease in the ratio of induced shRNA expressing cells to all vector containing cells compared to a control shRNA (Figure 2.1E). To assess depletion of shKras expressing cells in vivo, we transplanted the same starting mixed populations of cells into mice, induced shRNA expression using doxycycline 6 days later, and isolated tumors from moribund animals. Flow cytometry analysis of the dissociated cell populations indicated a strong depletion of Kras shRNA containing cells with both of the two independent shRNAs, compared to a control shRNA (Figure 2.1F). Strikingly, although only a subset of tumor cells were impacted by Kras knockdown, this resulted in an appreciable lifespan extension (Figure 2.1G). Together, these results demonstrate that targeting the oncogenic driver Kras by knockdown in GL261 cells leads to a measurable effect on cellular fitness and animal survival. These data not only support the use of Kras shRNA as a positive control for depletion in the screen, but also show the efficacy of directly targeting Kras, which has important clinical consequences for a subset of GBM tumors that have deregulated Kras activity.

■ 2.3.3 In vivo GFP dilution experiments inform size of shRNA library

Transplantable solid tumor models are frequently subject to bottleneck and niche effects [33, 103], limiting their effective use for large pooled library in vivo screens. Thus, we sought to determine what proportion of intracranially implanted cells contribute to tumor formation in our system. The percentage of hairpins in a library that are represented in the tumor will reflect both the efficiency of engraftment of hairpin-containing cells and the proportion of cells that contribute to tumor growth [33, 201]. We assessed these considerations using an *in vivo* dilution experiment in which we intracranially transplanted GL261 cell populations containing different percentages of GFP positive cells and looked for the minimum percentage of GFP positive cells that can be detected in the final tumor (Figure 2.2A). In this manner, GFP expression acts as a surrogate for expression of a neutral shRNA. The number of cells that can be used for a screen in the brain is limited by the volume of cell suspension that can be in implanted without significantly increasing intracranial pressure and leakage from the site of injection. Since in vivo intracranial transplantations were performed with 500,000 cells, we tested two percentages, 0.2% and 0.02% GFP positive cells, that represent libraries in which each shRNA is expressed by 1000 or 100 cells, respectively. When the mice showed signs of high tumor burden, the tumors were isolated, dissociated into single cells and analyzed by flow cytometry. We reliably detected GFP positive cells in the final tumor cell population when starting with 0.2% but not 0.02% GFP positive cells (Figure 2.2B). This observation implies that if each shRNA in a pooled library is expressed in 1000 cells (with a lower limit of 100 cells), it can be detected in the final tumor cell population without being lost due to an inability of the cell to engraft or contribute to tumor formation, independent of the effect of the shRNA. This range is in line with values described throughout the literature [103, 201]. Under these conditions, detection of a specific shRNA would indicate an effect on cellular fitness. Therefore, we determined that a robust *in vivo* shRNA screen, where library representation is maintained throughout tumor progression, could consist of a pooled library of 500 to 5000 shRNAs in this model system.



Figure 2.2. In vivo dilution assay to determine the shRNA library size that can be reliably screened in GL261 system. (A) Experimental design for GFP dilution assay to determine shRNA library size to be used for *in vivo* screen. Mixed populations of GL261 cells containing a set percentage of cells expressing a retroviral GFP construct (0.2% or 0.02%) were implanted intracranially, and the proportion of GFP positive cells was determined in the final tumors by flow cytometry. Table shows the number of cells / shRNA and the shRNA library size inferred from this experiment. (B) Flow cytometry plots showing the percentage of GFP positive cells recovered from the final tumors, depending on the percentage of GFP positive cells in the input population. Bottom left graph represents an *in vitro* control experiment to confirm that the lower percentage of GFP positive cells could in fact be detected by flow cytometry.

■ 2.3.4 GL261 GBM cells represent a reliable system for *in vitro* and *in vivo* shRNA screens

Due to the growing appreciation for the importance of epigenetics in GBM, we chose to use an shRNA library targeting epigenetic modulators to identify genes important for GBM tumor growth and response to TMZ. This high coverage library consisted of 2063 shRNAs targeting 313 genes (Figure 2.3A), the high coverage (approximately 6-10 shRNAs/gene) being critical for protecting against off target effects [251]. This number of shRNAs is well within the limits of our system, with each shRNA being expressed in approximately 250 cells. We spiked the library with the aforementioned Kras shRNAs at twice the concentration of the other shRNAs as positive controls for strong depletion. An input sample was obtained from GL261 cells following transduction and sorting for library expression, prior to intracranial transplantation (t=0). Following tumor development, mice were stratified into two groups and treated with vehicle or TMZ. In parallel, cells were cultured in vitro and treated similarly with vehicle or TMZ. When mice showed signs of morbidity, tumors were extracted and tumor cell DNA was sequenced. Survival analyses of the animals used for the screen showed that both the vehicle and TMZ treated cohorts behaved as expected for the model, with TMZ significantly extending lifespan (Figure 2.3B). The tumors that were used for sequencing were derived from animals that showed close to median survival. For each sample, more than 85% of the reads were mapped correctly to the shRNA library (Figure 2.3C). Furthermore, a high percentage of the original library shRNAs were recovered from each of the samples (Figure 2.3D). The input sample taken at t=0 contained 99% of the shRNAs from the original plasmid pool, indicating that library representation was preserved during viral packaging, transduction, sorting for library expression and in vitro cell expansion prior to start of the in vitro and in vivo screens. More importantly, an average of 90% of shRNAs from the original library were detected in all of the *in* vivo samples, even when requiring that each shRNA is called by 10 or more reads. Therefore, during tumor engraftment, growth, and TMZ treatment, very few shRNAs dropped down to undetectable levels. These results demonstrate that the GL261 system can be used for shRNA screens in vitro, and more importantly, in vivo, and successfully generate high quality data. Thus, we identified a rigorous screening platform even in the presence of the highly selective pressure applied by TMZ.



Figure 2.3. Parallel in vitro and in vivo shRNA screens demonstrating high quality data. (A) Outline of screening strategy. Two TMZ concentrations were used, low $(7.5\mu M)$ and high $(10\mu M)$. (B) Survival of animals cohorts used in screen, vehicle (n = 14), TMZ (n = 14) p<0.05 Log-Rank (Mantel-Cox) test. DNA prepared from tumors obtained from a subset of the mice showing close to median survival were used for the screen. (C) Percentage of reads that mapped correctly to the shRNA library. (D) Percentage of the library shRNAs present in each of the samples, with stringency of >0 reads or >= 10 reads. L1, L2, L3 represents lane 1, 2, or 3, according to how the samples were sequenced.

2.3.5 RNAi screen identifies PRMT5 as an important epigenetic modifier for GBM tumor growth

We used pairwise comparisons of the different screening conditions to extract high confidence candidates. First, to identify shRNAs depleted specifically in response to GBM tumor growth *in vivo* or cellular growth *in vitro*, we compared shRNAs depleted between the *in vivo* or *in vitro* vehicle treated conditions and the input sample at t=0 (Figure 2.4A). Next, shRNAs depleted specifically in response to TMZ treatment were detected by comparing vehicle to TMZ treatment in both *in vivo* and *in vitro* conditions (Figure 2.4B). In all four comparisons, we identified PRMT5 as one of the top shRNAs depleted, showing that knockdown of this gene is selected against during normal tumor cell growth as well as in response to therapy, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. From the high coverage shRNA library, all 8 shRNAs targeting PRMT5 were depleted in the *in vitro* growth condition, and all but one depleted in the *in vivo* tumor growth condition (Figure 2.4C). The two control Kras shRNAs were selected against, as expected from earlier competition assay data. The results of the TMZ arm of the screen are presented and discussed separately in Chapter 3 of this thesis. We therefore chose to examine potential roles for PRMT5 in GBM growth.

■ 2.3.6 Loss of PRMT5 *in vitro* impairs GBM cellular fitness and is dependent on methyltransferase activity

To validate the results of the RNAi screen and to begin dissecting the role of PRMT5 on tumor growth, we first tested the effects of PRMT5 loss in several human GBM cell lines. We knocked down PRMT5 using three different inducible shRNAs in U-87 MG cells, resulting in loss of PRMT5 mRNA (Figure 2.5A) and protein expression, as well as the PRMT5-specific symmetric dimethylation of H4 arginine 3 (H4R3me2s, Figure 2.5C). Overexpression of shRNA resistant wild type PRMT5 cDNA in this setting restored PRMT5 mRNA (Figure 2.5B) and protein levels, together with H4R3me2s expression (Figure 2.5C). To test the functional effects of PRMT5 loss, we performed competition assays with mixed populations of U-87 MG cells containing a specific percentage of cells with PRMT5 shRNAs. Continued knockdown resulted in a strong depletion of shRNA expressing cells over time, compared to a control shRNA (Figure 2.5D). Similar results were observed with two other human GBM lines, U138 (Figure 2.5E) and A172 (Figure 2.5F) following 12 days of doxycycline-induced PRMT5 knockdown. Importantly,



Figure 2.4. RNAi screen identifies PRMT5 as mediator of GBM growth *in vivo* and *in vitro*. (A) Waterfall plot of all shRNAs across *in vitro* (i) and *in vivo* (ii) samples comparing shRNAs enriched or depleted in response to vehicle vs input at t=0. (B) Waterfall plot of all shRNAs across *in vitro* (i) and *in vivo* (ii) samples comparing shRNAs enriched or depleted in response to TMZ. (C) Log fold change specifically for all 8 Prmt5 shRNAs and two control Kras shRNAs, vehicle treated condition *in vitro* (left) and *in vivo* (right). Prmt5 shRNAs are highlighted in red, and control Kras shRNAs in blue.



Figure 2.5. In vitro loss of PRMT5 impairs cellular fitness in a methyltransferase dependent manner. (A) PRMT5 knockdown in U-87 MG cells with three different inducible shRNAs or a control shRNA, as assessed by qRT-PCR. (B) qRT-PCR in U-87 MG cells showing PRMT5 mRNA levels upon knockdown, and co-expression of a PRMT5 cDNA. (C) Immunoblot of doxycycline- induced PRMT5 knockdown and wild type PRMT5 cDNA overexpression. (D) In vitro competition assays in U-87 MG cells containing PRMT5 or control shRNAs. (E) In vitro competition assay following 12 days of PRMT5 shRNA induction in A172 cells and (F) U138 cells. (G) In vitro competition assay in U-87 MG cells coexpressing PRMT5 shRNA and wild type PRMT5 cDNA. (H) Immunoblot showing expression of mutant form of PRMT5 cDNA containing deletion of Tyr304 and Tyr307. (I) In vitro competition assay in U-87 MG cells coexpressing PRMT5 shRNA and mutant cDNA.* p < 0.05, *** p < 0.005, *** p < 0.005.

we showed that wild type PRMT5 cDNA rescued the depletion of PRMT5 shRNA expressing cells from a mixed population (Figure 2.5G). We then tested the requirement of PRMT5 methyltransferase activity for reversing the effects observed upon PRMT5 loss. Expression of a mutant form of PRMT5 containing deletions of residues that are important for methyltransferase activity (Tyr304 and Tyr307) [10] rescued PRMT5 protein expression, but not the loss of H4R3me2s modification noted upon PRMT5 knockdown (Figure 2.5H). Importantly, the mutant PRMT5 cDNA did not rescue the defect observed upon PRMT5 knockdown (Figure 2.5I). These results indicate that PRMT5 is important for the fitness of GBM cells across a number of human GBM cell lines. Furthermore, the methyltransferase activity of the enzyme is necessary for rescuing the anti-proliferative effects of PRMT5 loss.

■ 2.3.7 Inhibition of PRMT5 activity using a small molecule inhibitor impairs cell proliferation

The data presented thus far indicate that PRMT5 is important for GBM and suggest it as a therapeutic target in the disease. Fortunately, a highly specific small molecule inhibitor of PRMT5 has recently been published [44], so we tested whether the results of genetic loss of PRMT5 could be phenocopied by pharmacological inhibition [44]. Treatment of U-87 MG cells with EPZ015666 resulted in a time-dependent loss of SDMA, and more specifically, H4R3me2s, over 5 days (Figure 2.6A). Side by side comparisons showed that both PRMT5 shRNAs and PRMT5 inhibitor treatment achieved similar levels of SDMA depletion, but over different timescales (Figure 2.6B). Treatment of U-87 MG cells with EPZ015666 led to a time-dependent growth impairment (Figure 2.6C), with faster kinetics than using PRMT5 shRNAs. This effect was also observed to varying degrees in GL261, T98G and A172 cells (Figure 2.6C), indicating a range of sensitivities to the drug across different GBM cell lines. Taken together, these results demonstrate that inhibition of PRMT5 methyltransferase activity, whether by hairpin-mediated knockdown or by a small molecule, reduces cellular fitness in both murine and human GBM lines.



Figure 2.6. Inhibition of PRMT5 activity using a small molecule compound results in decreased proliferation across a variety of GBM cell lines. (A) Immunoblot of U-87 MG cells treated with the PRMT5-specific inhibitor EPZ015666 at a concentration of 10 μ M over 5 days. (B) Immunoblot of U-87 MG cells treated either with 10 μ M EPZ015666 over a period of 4 days or induced for shRNA-mediated knockdown of PRMT5 using doxycycline over 8 days. (C) Relative growth in four different human and murine GBM cell lines over time following treatment with 10 μ M EPZ015666. SDMA = symmetric dimethyl arginine. * p < 0.05, *** p < 0.005, **** p < 0.0005.



Figure 2.7. Inhibition of PRMT5 activity using EPZ015666 impairs cell cycle progression and promotes DNA damage response and senescence in vitro. (A) Flow cytometry-based cell cycle analysis in U-87 MG cells using EdU pulse and DAPI incorporation following treatment with EPZ015666 or vehicle. (B) Quantification of cell cycle analysis. (C) Immunoblot showing time course of various markers of the DNA damage response in U-87 MG cells following treatment with EPZ015666. (D) Senescence-associated -galactosidase staining of U-87 MG cells 9 days after treatment with EPZ015666. ** p<0.005

■ 2.3.8 PRMT5 inhibition impairs cell cycle progression and promotes DNA damage response and senescence *in vitro*

To understand the effects of PRMT5 inhibition *in vitro*, we assessed cell cycle progression by flow cytometry in U-87 MG cells. After 24h-96h of treatment with EPZ015666 or a vehicle control, we used an EdU pulse to assess DNA replication, and DAPI incorporation to quantify DNA content (Figure 2.7A). The percent of cells undergoing active S phase decreased over time, while the percent of cells in G2/M increased following treatment with EPZ015666 compared to DMSO control (Figure 2.7B). We did not observe any increase in the apoptotic sub-G1 fraction upon PRMT5 inhibition. Several markers of DNA damage response pathways such as phosphorylated Chk2, Mre11, Rad51, NBS1, and UbH2A increased following EPZ015666, peaking 48 -72 hours after treatment (Figure 2.7C). Interestingly, we also noted that the morphology of U-87 MG cells changed following treatment, and they became senescent after 9 days (Figure 2.7D). Therefore, PRMT5 inhibition using a small molecule induces DNA damage responses and cell cycle arrest in the short term, and senescence in the long term.

2.3.9 In vivo **PRMT5** loss or inhibition impairs GBM tumor growth

Based on the proliferative impairment observed in vitro, we next tested whether genetic loss or pharmacological inhibition of PRMT5 in vivo would impact GBM tumor growth. Intracranial tumors were established in nude mice using mixed populations of human U-87 MG cells containing an inducible PRMT5 shRNA and a control shRNA. Mice were fed a continuous doxycycline diet to induce shRNA expression starting on day 5 following tumor cell implantation until they were euthanized due to tumor burden. We extracted the tumors and analyzed the ratio of induced shRNA-expressing cells to all vector containing cells by flow cytometry. In the tumors established with PRMT5 shRNAs, this ratio was significantly lower than in tumors established with control shRNAs (Figure 2.8A), indicating that PRMT5 knockdown cells were specifically at a disadvantage and selected against in the context of a mixed tumor cell population. Uninduced control tumors for both PRMT5 and control shRNAs were also analyzed, demonstrating that the retroviral vector did not induce expression of the shRNAs in the absence of doxycycline. These results indicate that loss of PRMT5 expression is detrimental in the tumor cell population, echoing the data from our in vivo shRNA screen where PRMT5 shRNA containing cells were selectively depleted. To address



Figure 2.8. In vivo PRMT5 loss or inhibition impairs GBM tumor development and progression. (A) Mixed populations of U-87 MG cells were transplanted intracranially and induced with doxycycline starting at day 5 to express either a PRMT5 shRNA (n=8) or a control shRNA (n=5). Uninduced tumors are also shown, n=7 for PRMT5 shRNA condition, and n=5 for control shRNA condition. ** p < 0.005, as determined by Mann-Whitney test. (B) Non-tumor bearing C57BL/6 mice were dosed with 100mg/kg of EPZ015666 or vehicle twice a day by oral gavage, over a period of one week and their weights were recorded for a total of 6 weeks. (C) U-87 MG cells were transplanted subcutaneously and mice were treated with EPZ015666 at 100mg/kg, twice/day, between day 4-11 and day 33-40 post tumor cell implantation. Tumor volumes were measured on the indicated days. Vehicle treated condition n=24 (12 mice, both flanks), EPZ015666 treated condition n=22 (11 mice, both flanks). Error bars represent SD, p value determined by Mann-Whitney test. (D) Survival curve of mice injected intracranially with U-87 MG cells and treated with EPZ015666 (n=9) or vehicle (n=9). P value determined by Log-Rank (Mantel-Cox) test. Grey bars indicate treatment period. EPZ015666 was dosed at 100mg/kg, twice/day.

the clinical relevance of PRMT5 inhibition, we tested whether pharmacological inhibition of PRMT5 could impact survival of GBM-bearing animals. We first tested the toxicity of EPZ015666 by dosing non-tumor bearing C57BL/6 mice with 100mg/kg of drug twice a day by oral gavage, over a period of one week. The animals did not exhibit significant weight loss during the treatment or during a five-week follow-up period (Figure 2.8B), nor were their blood counts or liver enzymes abnormal compared to vehicle treated mice (data not shown). To begin addressing the therapeutic potential of PRMT5 inhibition, we tested whether administration of EPZ015666 would have an effect on tumor progression in a U-87 MG subcutaneous transplant model. Since the permeability of this small molecule across the blood brain barrier (BBB) has not previously been tested, this allowed us to measure the efficacy of PRMT5 inhibition in tumors in which exposure to the drug would be unobstructed. Experiments to address whether EPZ015666 is capable of crossing the BBB are currently ongoing. Treatment of mice bearing subcutaneous tumors with EPZ015666 for one week early during tumor development (4-11 days post tumor cell implantation) resulted in significantly smaller tumors by day 32 (Figure 2.8C). This effect was further enhanced after a second round of treatment late during tumor progression between day 33-40, resulting in dramatically smaller tumors in EPZ treated animals by day 39 and continuing post treatment, at day 45. This indicated that inhibition of PRMT5 had a measurable effect on tumor growth, and that PRMT5 was critical in the early stages of tumor development. Based on these results, we next tested the effect of PRMT5 inhibition in the context of an orthotopic tumor model, by using intracranial transplantation of U-87 MG cells. Treatment with EPZ015666 for 2 one week periods resulted in a significant lifespan extension (Figure 2.8D), indicating the potential therapeutic benefit of PRMT5 inhibition for the treatment of GBM tumors.

■ 2.3.10 Gene expression profiles reveal a shift in cell identity and GBM subclass following PRMT5 inhibition

To better understand the broad transcriptional changes that occur following PRMT5 inhibition, we performed poly(A)-selected RNAseq gene expression profiling of U-87 MG cells *in vitro* following treatment with EPZ015666. Based on the above results, we used the 72 hour timepoint, when SMDA was already strongly depleted, to capture the early transcriptional programs influencing proliferative impairment and appearance of the DNA damage response. Differential gene expression analysis revealed that 1625 (11.7%)



Figure 2.9. Functional pathway analyses of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) in EPZ015666 treated U-87 MG cells. (A) Volcano plot of all DEGs between EPZ015666 (n=3) and vehicle (n=3) treated U-87 MG in vitro samples, highlighting the genes that are significantly upregulated or downregulated with a p-adjusted < 0.05. (B) Gene ontology analysis of significantly upregulated or downregulated genes using DAVID. Gene set categories with FDR < 0.1 are displayed (C) Gene set enrichment (GSEA) analysis of significantly upregulated or downregulated genes. Gene sets from Hallmark and Reactome datasets with FDR < 0.25 are displayed. (D) Based on Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA), list of predicted upstream regulators that can explain the observed gene expression changes. (E) GSEA analysis of different GBM subtypes enriched within the differentially expressed genes. NES = normalized enrichment score. Numbers in brackets indicate number of genes identified from that particular gene set. (F) GSEA enrichment plot showing enrichment of the Bhat et al. Mesenchymal signature [24] in the set of DEGs.

and 2005 (14.4%) genes were significantly upregulated or downregulated, respectively (Figure 2.9A). Pathway analysis for enrichment of GO terms using DAVID [140, 141] uncovered upregulation of genes involved in extracellular matrix organization, cell-cell adhesion, inflammatory responses and cytokine signaling (Figure 2.9B). Meanwhile, downregulated genes were involved in methyltransferase activity and small molecule metabolism, pointing to the specific activity of EPZ015666. Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) [206, 268] revealed increased p53 and estrogen signaling, together with decreased cell cycle, DNA replication, and E2F targets (Figure 2.9C). Importantly, several upregulated gene sets pointed to pathways overlapping with the DAVID analysis, such as epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), cell junctions, and TNF- α induced NF- κ B signaling. To gain further insight into transcriptional regulators driving these pathways, we used Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA), which predicted upstream regulators such as TNF, TGF- β , E2F1, and estrogen receptor ESR1 (Figure 2.9D). These three different methods of data analysis presented here indicate overlapping transcriptional programs deregulated by PRMT5 inhibition.

The pathway analyses point to increases in mesenchymal and immune signatures, and a concomitant decrease in progression through the cell cycle. Strikingly, these gene expression changes were reminiscent of transcriptional patterns defining different GBM subclassifications [232, 290]. Specifically, the mesenchymal GBM subtype is defined by mesenchymal and microglial gene signatures [232, 290]. Therefore, we asked whether PRMT5 inhibition could modulate transcriptional programs, resulting in an altered differentiation state. GSEA was used to compare the transcriptome data against gene signatures from each of the 3 and 4 GBM subtypes described in Phillips et al. and Verhaak et al., respectively [232, 290]. We noted an enrichment of genes characteristic of both Phillips and Verhaak mesenchymal subclasses, and a strong depletion of genes defining the Phillips proliferative subtype (Figure 2.9E). A more recent report has demonstrated that NF- κ B signaling drives the transition of GBM tumors into a mesenchymal state [24], and defined a more complete list of genes associated with the mesenchymal signature. This gene set was predictive of poor response to radiation therapy in patients [24], and we found that it was significantly enriched in our differentially expressed genes (Figure 2.9F). These data suggest that treatment with a PRMT5 inhibitor drives a shift in the cell identity of GBM cells, driving them to express more mesenchymal features, with a concomitant decrease in a proliferative signature.

2.3.11 Altered expression of splicing pathway components mediates resistance to EPZ015666

We wondered whether gene expression changes observed in response to PRMT5 inhibition could be indicative of transcriptional patterns reflecting relative sensitivity to EPZ015666. In light of our earlier results showing different levels of growth inhibition in various GBM cell lines in response to the drug, we hypothesized that gene expression changes over a large number of cell lines could be correlated with relative sensitivity or resistance to the inhibitor. Therefore, we screened 18 cell lines derived from different tumor tissues (Figure 2.10A), and tested the proliferation of these cells after 5 days over a wide range of drug concentrations and a vehicle control. The relative sensitivity area, according to procedures outlined by the Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia (CCLE) [16]. This revealed a spectrum of sensitivity to EPZ015666 (Figure 2.10B), whereby the most sensitive cell line was U-87 MG, and the most resistant was SK-N-AS, a metastatic neuroblastoma line (Figure 2.10C).

Next, we used the publicly available transcriptome data from these 18 lines to interrogate the mediators of sensitivity versus resistance [16]. Specifically, correlations were calculated between activity area and gene expression values across all cell lines. GSEA analysis of the genes ranked by correlation revealed striking patterns, showing that classes of genes associated with RNA Pol II transcription and splicing were highly correlated with resistance to EPZ015666 (Figure 2.10D). Therefore, cells exhibiting higher expression levels of these genes are more likely to be resistant to PRMT5 inhibition by EPZ015666. These striking findings demonstrate that among the many cellular functions of PRMT5, it is specifically its role in splicing that largely mediates resistance to EPZ015666.

■ 2.3.12 Levels of detained introns with weak 5' splice sites are increased in response to EPZ015666

To gain a more in depth understanding of how alterations in the levels of splicing components contribute to the degree of sensitivity or resistance to EPZ015666, we queried changes in RNA splicing events in response to PRMT5 inhibitor using the RNAseq data from U-87 MG cells. We assessed the effect of PRMT5 inhibition on both constitutive and alternative splicing events by calculating the percent spliced in (PSI) values, repre-



Figure 2.10. Cell line screen identifies splicing related pathways as critical mediators of resistance to EPZ015666. (A) Relative sensitivity to EPZ015666 was tested across 18 cell lines derived from different tumor tissues. Pie chart shows number of cell lines from each tissue type. (B) Ranking of all cell lines according to their relative sensitivity or resistance, as determined by activity area. Since 11 drug concentrations and one control concentration were tested, the activity area ranges from 0, representing no drug baseline, to 11, representing maximal activity at all concentrations. (C) Relative growth inhibition of most sensitive (U-87 MG) and most resistant (SK-N-AS) cell lines accross a range of drug concentrations. (D) GSEA analysis showing that resistance to EPZ015666 is correlated with gene sets related to RNA transcription and splicing from the Kegg and Reactome datasets. NES = normalized enrichment score.



Figure 2.11. Analysis of differential RNA splicing identifies striking changes in detained introns. (A) Alterations in classes of constitutive and alternative splicing events in U-87 MG cells in response to EPZ015666. Values represent $\Delta \psi$, or change in percent spliced in, in EPZ015666 versus vehicle treated samples. (B) Plot showing number of detained introns in drug versus control treated samples. (C) Example showing increased DI-containing isoforms in JAK2 transcripts upon drug treatment. (D) A subset of genes showed no significant change in response to drug treatment at the total transcript level, but contained an increase in DI-containing transcripts and decrease in consensus transcripts in response to EPZ015666 treatment. (E) Levels of DI containing transcripts and levels of consensus transcripts, when normalizing to the gene level changes between drug and control treatments. (F) DIs whose expression is higher in EPZ015666 treated samples have weaker 5' splice sites.

senting the percent of a particular isoform compared to all transcripts of that gene [79]. The difference between the EPZ015666 and vehicle treated conditions yielded a delta PSI value (Figure 2.11A). While there were few changes in cassette exons, mutually exclusive exons, alternative 5' and 3' splice sites, we discovered a strong increase in detained introns in the drug treated condition. Detained introns (DIs) have recently been described as a novel class of introns whose inclusion confines incompletely processed poly(A)-containing transcripts to the nucleus following transcription, preventing their translation into protein [29]. This subset of introns contrasts the more well-known class of retained introns. These completely processed mRNAs contain an intron that is retained within the message, and they are transported to the cytoplasm and translated. DI-containing transcripts remain in the nucleus, and in response to certain signals, the DI is either spliced out, resulting in a completely processed transcript that is then exported to the cytoplasm and translated, or degraded inside the nucleus. The discovery of DIs [29] is buttressed by numerous observations of delayed or post-transcriptional splicing of intronic sequences and speculations that these could be important for regulating gene expression [209, 280, 289]. The findings that such a specific set of splicing events is selectively affected by drug treatment indicates that PRMT5 inhibition results in a highly specific effect on splicing, as opposed to a global splicing defect. We identified 3801 DIs in total between control and drug treated cells. Of these, 2182 DIs were present in similar proportions under both conditions, showing that DI-containing transcripts represent a normal mechanism for regulating gene expression. Of the rest of the DIs, 1557 were more abundant specifically in drug treated samples, and only 62 were higher in control samples, representing 96% and 4% of a total of 1619 DIs that were differentially regulated in response to PRMT5 inhibition (Figure 2.11B). For example, DI containing transcripts of JAK2 were found to be present at higher levels in drug treated samples compared to controls (Figure 2.11C). This polarized shift in DI containing transcripts prompted us to speculate that PRMT5 is normally involved in pathways governing the splicing of detained introns as a mechanism of regulating gene expression. When looking at the total gene level, the presence of detained introns can mask the magnitude of changes in the levels of protein coding transcripts, therefore misrepresenting the alterations in gene expression upon drug treatment. For example, we identified a very specific class of 124 genes, whose levels of total mRNA did not change in response to drug treatment. Upon closer examination, these genes demonstrated an increase in DI-containing transcripts and a decrease in consensus protein coding transcripts in response to EPZ015666 treatment (Figure 2.11D). While not showing any
changes at the total mRNA level, these genes are expected to show decreased protein levels in response to drug treatment. Besides this special class, there was an overall increase in the levels of DI containing transcripts and an overall decrease in consensus transcripts, when normalizing to the gene level changes between drug and control treatments (Figure 2.11E). When probing further into the possible mechanisms behind the selective increase in DI events, we observed that DIs that were specifically increased in response to treatment with EPZ015666 had significantly weaker 5' splice sites, but not 3' splice sites (Figure 2.11F). Overall, these results point to a highly specific mechanism of PRMT5 activity in regulating splicing of detained introns with weak 5' splice sites, contributing to overall changes in gene expression.

■ 2.4 Discussion

In this work, we have presented the development and results of robust *in vivo* and *in vitro* shRNA screens in a transplantable GBM model that identifies the protein arginine methyltransferase PRMT5 as an important mediator of tumor growth. The use of genetic and pharmacologic tools supports the therapeutic potential of PRMT5 inhibition in GBM, and presents evidence for a possible role for PRMT5 in determining cell identity in these tumors. Furthermore, we characterize a role for PRMT5 in modulating gene expression by regulating a novel, distinct class of introns, and demonstrate the widespread dependence of PRMT5-related splicing functions across a variety of tumor cell lines. As part of developing and testing an appropriate system to use for *in vivo* screening, we established Kras as an oncogenic driver in the GL261 cell line, demonstrating that its expression is important for cell viability both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. While this carcinogen-induced GBM cell line undoubtedly contains numerous other mutations, the specific dependence on Kras demonstrates that targeting it by direct inhibition may be efficacious for the subset of GBM tumors that either contain Kras mutations or deregulations in upstream regulators.

We set up an orthotopic transplantation model using GL261 cells for loss of function *in vivo* screening. The results of initial pilot experiments demonstrated that this system meets three prerequisites for *in vivo* screening. First, we establish that tumor cells transplant with high efficiency and give rise to tumors resembling human GBM. Second, representation of at least a moderately large pooled shRNA library such as the one used in this study can be faithfully maintained during tumor cell engraftment, tumor growth, and even in the presence of a selective pressure such as that imposed by a chemotherapeutic agent. Lastly, shRNA depletion can be scored with high confidence and low variability across different samples. Therefore, this first screen also represents a proof of concept and establishes a robust model that can be used for further discovery screens or ones with a more targeted validation library. Consistent with previous reports [102, 241] this screen also demonstrates the value of *in vivo* RNAi depletion screens for identifying epigenetic regulators with roles in GBM.

The shRNA screen identified PRMT5 as being important for cellular fitness both in vitro and in vivo, independent of chemotherapeutic treatment with TMZ. Loss of PRMT5 activity in vitro using knockdown and a small molecule inhibitor impaired cellular proliferation in several GBM lines, and was dependent on methyltransferase activity, consistent with previously descried roles for PRMT5 as an oncogene [4, 55,182, 312]. We found that PRMT5 inhibition impaired cell cycle progression, promoting DNA damage response and senescence in vitro. Interestingly, a recent report described a role for PRMT5 in mediating R loop resolution [323], offering a possible explanation for our observation of DNA damage induction upon PRMT5 inhibition. Although gene expression data following PRMT5 inhibitor treatment showed upregulated P53 signaling, consistent with other reports [23, 166, 185], we observe increased senescence as opposed to apoptosis. A recent study reported PTEN-dependent senescence in glioma neurospheres but not more differentiated adherent cultures. While the U-87 MG cell line is PTEN null, other possible explanations exist for the phenotype we observed [212]. It is possible that GBM cells are more likely to undergo senescence compared to apoptosis in response to PRMT5 inhibition, and this should be tested across a wider number of cell lines.

To our knowledge, this is the first report testing the effectiveness of the highly specific PRMT5 inhibitor EPZ015666 on survival in GBM-bearing animals. Our results demonstrating that administration of this drug can reduce tumor volume and increase survival are consistent with our data using genetic depletion of PRMT5 expression, as well as two previous reports [13, 312]. Together, these results support the importance of PRMT5 in GBM and advocate for further investigation into the efficacy of EPZ015666 in other animal models of GBM, as well as other tumor types known to overexpress PRMT5 [44].

Gene expression analyses identified that PRMT5 inhibition led to an enrichment for genes involved in extracellular matrix reorganization and EMT, as well as increased NF- κ B signaling and inflammatory responses, pointing to a mesenchymal GBM phenotype [24, 232, 290]. The mesenchymal subtype is associated with increased invasion and proliferation [41], and although we observed decreased proliferation in response to PRMT5 inhibition, invasiveness remains to be tested in functional assays. While several reports identify a positive role for PRMT5 in mediating TGF-B-dependent EMT in epithelial tumors [49, 147], the effects of PRMT5 on NF- κ B-dependent transcription appear to be context dependent [4, 55]. For example, while Harris and colleagues report that PRMT5-mediated methylation of the NF- κ B p65 subunit enhances CXCL10 secretion in endothelial cells [127, 128], PRMT5 depletion in GBM cells resulted in increased expression of CXCL10 and CXCL11 [312]. Given the clinical relevance of the mesenchymal subtype [24, 41], these results warrant further investigation in vitro and in other GBM models in vivo. Using a diverse panel of cancer cell lines, we determined that resistance to EPZ015666 is correlated with increased expression of the spliceosomal machinery. Although the causality of this association remains to be tested, for example by knockdown of different spliceosomal components to see whether drug sensitivity can be restored, these results offer important insight into the pathways that mediate resistance to EPZ015666. This may not only lead to a predictive signature of tumors that are more or less likely to benefit from PRMT5 inhibition, but it opens the door to exploring synthetic lethality and combination therapies for exploiting this dependence.

In studying splicing changes associated with PRMT5 inhibition, we achieved four main results. First, we find that PRMT5 does not act to indiscriminately control splicing capacity. Instead, it specifically regulates a particular subset of DI-containing transcripts. Conversely, not all DIs are regulated by PRMT5, indicating that there are additional mediators of DI inclusion, such as Clk kinases and others [29]. Second, PRMT5 inhibition favors the inclusion of DIs characterized by weak 5' splice sites, and the exclusion of others, which are increased in the vehicle condition and remain to be characterized. This infers that PRMT5 normally favors the splicing of elements with weak 5' splice sites, as has been previously reported [23,71,166,243]. These results point to a highly specific role for PRMT5 in the splicing process, perhaps in regulating 5' splice site selection, via U1snRNP-specific proteins which are also PRMT5 targets [51,131]. As DIs were previously found to be both constitutively and alternatively spliced [29], it will be important to determine what proportions of PRMT5-regulated DIs fall into each of these categories. Third, we only see a small number of alternative splicing events that do not contain DIs. Previous studies have reported changes in retained introns as well as skipped exons upon PRMT5 depletion [23, 166], and we believe that most of these events represent DIs, with the exception of a small subset. Lastly, we find that overall, DIs increase in response to PRMT5 inhibition, and coding transcripts decrease. This observation implies that depending on the balance at the level of an individual gene, this can result either in an upregulation of total mRNA levels, a downregulation or no change. However, viewing these alterations at a total gene level masks the fine-tuning that DIs offer, as only changes in the coding transcript translate into changes at the protein levels. Therefore, in poly(A) selected RNAseq, DIs likely conceal gene expression changes at the protein level. It will be important to see how these different categories segregate in response to treatment and whether there are enrichments for specific sets of genes or pathways that are specifically regulated by differential DI inclusion in response to PRMT5 inhibition. Critically, not all gene expression changes in response to PRMT5 inhibition can be attributed to DIs, indicating that PRMT5 uses splicing as part of a larger program of regulation of gene expression. This may include transcriptional changes through modulation of chromatin structure, transcription, or direct impact on signaling effectors. Further exploration of these ideas may point to PRMT5 as a regulator of post-transcriptional splicing and may even uncover roles in co-transcriptional splicing, as has been described for other epigenetic regulators [193, 256]. Introns are the most poorly understood class of splicing elements and they are found to be differentially regulated across a variety of cancers [79], so these findings may position PRMT5 as playing a central role in tumorigenesis by integrating a diverse set of mechanisms for modulating gene expression.

Taken together, our data demonstrate that PRMT5 can be successfully targeted by a small molecule inhibitor, leading to measurable outcomes in GBM-bearing animals. PRMT5 appears to drive gene expression changes in part by modulating splicing of a specific set of intronic elements, and the contributions of this function to tumorigenesis will continue to be explored. These data raise numerous exciting questions about the oncogenic functions of this methyltransferase and demonstrate implications across a broad range of tumor cell types.

2.5 Materials and Methods

Animal Studies

C57BL/6 female mice aged 6-8 weeks were purchased from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, MA). Athymic female mice (NCr nu/nu strain) aged 6-8 weeks were purchased from Taconic Laboratories (Rensselaer, NY). Intracranial transplantations were performed by injecting 500,000 cells in sterile PBS into the left hemisphere, approximately 2mm to the left of the bregma along the coronal suture. Mice were monitored for signs of disease based on predefined criteria. Subcutaneous transplantations were performed by injecting 1×10^6 cells in sterile PBS into both flanks. Subcutaneous tumor volumes were measured on the indicated days using a precision caliper. All animal studies were performed in accordance with MIT Committee on Animal Care protocol approval.

Reagents

Temozolomide (TMZ) was purchased from Sigma (T2577) dissolved in DMSO. For *in vivo* experiments, TMZ was further diluted in sterile 0.9% sodium chloride. EPZ015666 was purchased from DC Chemicals (DC8012) and resuspended in DMSO for *in vitro* experiments. For *in vivo* experiments, EPZ015666 was dissolved in 0.5% methylcellulose in water. Doxycycline was purchased from Clonetech (631311) and dissolved in water. *In vitro*, cell lines were treated with 1μ g/mL to 10μ g/mL. *In vivo*, doxycycline was either administered in the drinking water, dissolved in 2% sucrose water to 1mg/mL, or in the form of doxycycline containing food pellets, purchased from Harlan Teklad (TD.01306), for the indicated time periods.

Competition assays

Cells were infected *in vitro* with the indicated vectors and sorted by fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) to generate pure populations of transduced cells. These populations were then mixed with untransduced cells to create mixed populations. After 96 hours, the proportion of GFP expressing cells was assessed by flow cytometry. For *in vivo* competition assays, a mixed population of 500,000 cells, same as ones used for *in vitro* assays, were transplanted intracranially into C57BL/6 mice. Animals were monitored and when they showed signs of high tumor burden according to predefined criteria, they were euthanized and the brains were extracted. The tumors were excised and dissociated into a single cell suspension using a Brain Tumor Dissociation Kit from Miltenyi Biotech (130-095-942) and using a gentleMACS Dissociator (Miltenyi Biotech) according to manufacturer recommendations. Cells were analyzed by flow cytometry to determine the percentage of GFP expressing cells using a BD LSR II machine and analyzed using FlowJo software.

Vectors used

The constitutive retroviral vector MSCV/LTR/miR30/SV40/GFP (MLS) and the inducible retrovial vector TRMPVIR (Addgene 27994) were used. The constitutive retroviral vector pRSF91-GFP-miRE, a kind gift from Adrian Schwarzer and Axel Schambach (MH Hannover, Germany) and the inducible retroviral vector Tre-dsRedmiRE-PGK-Venus-IRES-rtTA3 (RTREVIR), a kind gift from Johannes Zuber [87] (IMP Vienna, Austria), were also used. pLJM1-EGFP was a gift from David Sabatini [242] (Addgene 19319). The codon-optimized PRMT5 cDNA was synthesized using Invitrogen GeneArt Gene Synthesis (Thermo Fisher Scientific). PCR amplification was performed with the following primers: forward 5'- CGTCAGATCCGCTA-GATGGCGGCTATG, reverse 5'- TCGAGGTCGAGAATTCAGGCCGATGGTG and cloned into pLJM1-GFP by Gibson assembly [106]. Site directed mutagenesis was used to create the mutant PRMT5 DNA (Tyr304del, Tyr307del) using the following primers: PCR reaction 1: forward 5'- CGTCAGATCCGCTAGATGGCGGCTATG, reverse 5'- GCTCTGCAGATCCTCGCCCTTAGC; PCR reaction 2: forward 5'- GC-TAAGGGCGAGGATCTGCAGAGC, reverse 5'- TCGAGGTCGAGAATTCAGGCC-GATGGTGT.

shRNAs and primers used

Name of shRNA	Organism	mRNA target sequence
PRMT5 shRNA1 - PRMT5.163	Human	5'-CCCCGAAATAGCTGACACACTA
PRMT5 shRNA2 - PRMT5.1949	Human	5'-ACAGCACCAGTCTGTTCTGCTA
PRMT5 shRNA3 - PRMT5.671	Human	5'-TTCCGGACTTTGTGTGACTATA
KRAS shRNA1 - KRAS.1442	Mouse	5'-GCAGACCCAGTATGAAATAGTA
KRAS shRNA2 - KRAS.923	Mouse	5'-TGGAAACCTTCTTTTTTCTAAG
Ctrl shRNA - REN.713	Renilla luciferase	5'-TAGGAATTATAATGCTTATCTA
Primer	Organism	Primer sequence
	3.6	TI LOLLO MEGAEGOEGOEGAEGO
GAPDH forward	Mouse	5'-AGAACATCATCCCTGCATCC
GAPDH forward GAPDH reverse	Mouse Mouse	5'-AGAACATCATCCCTGCATCC 5'-CACATTGGGGGGTAGGAACAC
GAPDH forward GAPDH reverse KRAS forward	Mouse Mouse Mouse	5'-AGAACATCATCCCTGCATCC 5'-CACATTGGGGGGTAGGAACAC 5'-GCCTGCTGAAAATGACTGAGT
GAPDH forward GAPDH reverse KRAS forward KRAS reverse	Mouse Mouse Mouse	5'-AGAACATCATCCCTGCATCC 5'-CACATTGGGGGGTAGGAACAC 5'-GCCTGCTGAAAATGACTGAGT 5'-TTAGCTGTATCGTCAAGGCG
GAPDH forward GAPDH reverse KRAS forward KRAS reverse PRMT5 forward	Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse	5'-AGAACATCATCCCTGCATCC5'-CACATTGGGGGGTAGGAACAC5'-GCCTGCTGAAAATGACTGAGT5'-TTAGCTGTATCGTCAAGGCG5'-CGCTCTGGTTGTTAAGGCGA
GAPDH forward GAPDH reverse KRAS forward KRAS reverse PRMT5 forward PRMT5 reverse	Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse	5'-AGAACATCATCCCTGCATCC 5'-CACATTGGGGGGTAGGAACAC 5'-GCCTGCTGAAAATGACTGAGT 5'-TTAGCTGTATCGTCAAGGCG 5'-CGCTCTGGTTGTTAAGGCGA 5'-AGAGGAAATCAAACCCCTGCTT
GAPDH forward GAPDH reverse KRAS forward KRAS reverse PRMT5 forward PRMT5 reverse GAPDH forward	Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Human	5'-AGAACATCATCCCTGCATCC5'-CACATTGGGGGGTAGGAACAC5'-GCCTGCTGAAAATGACTGAGT5'-TTAGCTGTATCGTCAAGGCG5'-CGCTCTGGTTGTTAAGGCGA5'-AGAGGAAATCAAACCCCTGCTT5'-GACAGTCAGCCGCATCTTCT
GAPDH forward GAPDH reverse KRAS forward KRAS reverse PRMT5 forward PRMT5 reverse GAPDH forward GAPDH reverse	Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Human Human	5'-AGAACATCATCCCTGCATCC5'-CACATTGGGGGGTAGGAACAC5'-GCCTGCTGAAAATGACTGAGT5'-TTAGCTGTATCGTCAAGGCG5'-CGCTCTGGTTGTTAAGGCGA5'-AGAGGAAATCAAACCCCTGCTT5'-GACAGTCAGCCGCATCTTCT5'-GCGCCCAATACGACCAAATC
GAPDH forwardGAPDH reverseKRAS forwardKRAS reversePRMT5 forwardPRMT5 reverseGAPDH forwardGAPDH reversePRMT5 forward	Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Human Human	5'-AGAACATCATCCCTGCATCC5'-CACATTGGGGGGTAGGAACAC5'-GCCTGCTGAAAATGACTGAGT5'-TTAGCTGTATCGTCAAGGCG5'-CGCTCTGGTTGTTAAGGCGA5'-AGAGGAAATCAAACCCCTGCTT5'-GACAGTCAGCCGCATCTTCT5'-GCGCCCAATACGACCAAATC5'-CGCTCTGGTTGTTAAGGCGA
GAPDH forwardGAPDH reverseKRAS forwardKRAS reversePRMT5 forwardPRMT5 reverseGAPDH forwardGAPDH reversePRMT5 forwardPRMT5 forwardPRMT5 reverse	Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Human Human Human Human	5'-AGAACATCATCCCTGCATCC5'-CACATTGGGGGGTAGGAACAC5'-GCCTGCTGAAAATGACTGAGT5'-TTAGCTGTATCGTCAAGGCG5'-CGCTCTGGTTGTTAAGGCGA5'-AGAGGAAATCAAACCCCTGCTT5'-GCCCCAATACGACCAAATC5'-CGCTCTGGTTGTTAAGGCGA5'-CGCTCTGGTTGTTAAGGCGA5'-AGAGGAAATCAAACCCCTGCTT
GAPDH forward GAPDH reverse KRAS forward KRAS reverse PRMT5 forward PRMT5 reverse GAPDH forward GAPDH reverse PRMT5 forward PRMT5 reverse PRMT5 codon optimized forward	Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Human Human Human Human	5'-AGAACATCATCCCTGCATCC5'-CACATTGGGGGGTAGGAACAC5'-GCCTGCTGAAAATGACTGAGT5'-TTAGCTGTATCGTCAAGGCG5'-CGCTCTGGTTGTTAAGGCGA5'-AGAGGAAATCAAACCCCTGCTT5'-GCGCCCAATACGACCAAATC5'-CGCTCTGGTTGTTAAGGCGA5'-CGCTCTGGTTGTTAAGGCGA5'-AGAGGAAATCAAACCCCTGCTT5'-GCGCCCAATACGACCAAATC5'-GGAAACAAACGTGCAGGTGCT

79

In vitro and in vivo shRNA screen

A pooled shRNA library targeting 311 epigenetic genes using 2059 shRNAs was obtained from TansOMIC Technologies (Huntsville, AL). This library was subcloned from the original backbone MSCV/LTR/mIR30/PGK/Puromycin/IRES/GFP (pMLP) retroviral vector into the MSCV/LTR/mIR30/SV40/GFP (MLS) retroviral vector. Two shRNAs targeting Kras and two shRNAs targeting Msh2, in the MLS retroviral vector, were incorporated into the library at 2x the concentration of the other shRNAs, as controls, resulting in a total of 2063 shRNAs. GL261 cells were infected with the pooled shRNA library at a low infection efficiency in order to obtain singly transduced cells and prevent the possibility of multiple infections with different shRNAs in one cell. Cells were sorted for GFP by flow cytometry and expanded in vitro to obtain sufficient numbers of cells for injections. On day 0, cells were split into three samples: one for the *in vitro* arm of the screen, one for *in vivo* transplantation, and one to be taken as the input sample for the screen. In vitro, cells were split into 9 groups, 3x treated with DMSO vehicle as controls, 3x treated with low dose TMZ $(7.5\mu M)$, and 3x treated with high dose TMZ (10μ M). Cells were passaged every few days, maintaining no fewer than 500,000-1,000,000 cells each time, in order to preserve library representation without bottlenecking. In vivo, mice were intracranially implanted with 500,000 cells on day 0. On day 8, mice were split into two groups consisting of 14 animals each, treated with vehicle or TMZ (50mg/kg) by a one-time intraperitoneal injection. In vitro cultures were treated with vehicle or TMZ at the above specified concentration on the same day as in vivo treatment. Mice were monitored and euthanized when they developed signs of high tumor burden. When approximately half of the mice had been euthanized, in vitro samples from the 9 conditions were also harvested. Brains were harvested from the animals and tumors were carefully extracted, ensuring that minimal normal tissue was included. Tumor tissues were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and genomic DNA from tumors, in vitro samples, as well as the input sample, were extracted using phenol-choloform. In vivo samples taken from mice with close to median survival (5 for TMZ treated, 4 for vehicle treated), were used for further analysis. shRNAs were amplified from genomic DNA using HotStarTaq DNA Polymerase (Qiagen, 203205). The following primers were used:

Forward: - 5'-CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGAGATNNNNNN gttgcctgcacatcttggaaacacttgct

Reverse: - 5'-AATGATACGGCGACCACCGAGATCTACAC taaagtagccccttgaattcc-

gaggcagtaggc

Index read primer: - 5' -TCCcagcaagtgtttccaagatgtgcaggcaac Hairpin primer:5' - TAGCCCCTTGAATTCCGAGGCAGTAGGCA Six nucleotide barcodes (NNNNN) were used for multiplexing. Samples were sequenced on a HiSeq system (Illumina). From the one input sample genomic DNA, two replicates were created by amplifying shRNA sequences separately, and sequencing on separate lanes of the Illumina HiSeq. *In vivo* samples 'were sequenced on two separate lanes, while all *in vitro* samples were sequenced on one lane. Sequences were mapped to the shRNA library using Bowtie [178]. Raw read counts for every hairpin were used as input for hairpin and combined gene level data analysis using shRNA-seq via an online Galaxy workflow [64].

Immunobloting

Cells were harvested by scraping on ice and lysed with RIPA buffer. H4R3me2s (Abcam, ab5823), PRMT5 (Cell signaling, 2252S), GAPDH (Santa Cruz sc365062), actin (Santa Cruz, sc1616), symmetric dimethylarginine SDMA (Cell signaling, 13222), MRE11 (Novus, NB100-142), RAD51 (Santa Cruz, sc6862), NBS1 (Novus, NB100-143), P-Thr68-CHK2 (Cell Signaling, 2661S), Ub-Lys119-H2A (Cell Signaling, 8240S), HSP90 (BD, 610418, Clone 68). Amersham ECL Prime Western Blotting Detection Reagent (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) was used for detection and imaged with an ImageQuant LAS4000 imager (GE) or by autoradiography film.

Histological analysis

Tissues were fixed in 10% formalin overnight, transferred to 70% ethanol and embedded in paraffin. Tissue sections of 5μ M sections were stained with hematoxolyn and counterstained with eosin.

Cell cycle analysis

EdU (ThermoFisher Scientific, A10044), was dissolved in DMSO and added to cells at a concentration of 10μ M for a period of 30 minutes at 37C. Cells were then harvested with 0.25% Trypsin/EDTA, washed with ice-cold PBS and fixed with ice-cold 100% ethanol. Cells were permeabilized by resuspending in ice-cold 0.25% TritonX100 in PBS for 15

minutes at 4C. They were then rinsed with 1% BSA in PBS and stained with a ClickiT Cell Reaction Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, C10269) according to manufacturer instructions. Cells were once again washed with ice-cold 0.25% TritonX100 in PBS, and stained with 1μ g/ml DAPI (ThermoFisher Scientific, D1306) at room temperature for 15 minutes, protected from light. Flow cytometry analysis was performed using either BD Fortessa or BD LSR-II HTS machines, and data was analyzed using FlowJo analysis software.

RNAseq

U-87 MG cells were treated with EPZ015666 at a concentration of 10μ M for a period of 72h. Total RNA was isolated using the NuceloSpin RNA kit (Machery-Nagel) and tested for quality using the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent). PolyA mRNA enrichment, cDNA synthesis, and library generation were carried out using the TruSeq RNA library preparation kit (Illumina) according to the manufacturer instructions. Sequencing was performed using 75nt paired end reads with a NextSeq sequencer (Illumina). Raw RNA-seq reads were mapped to Hg19 with genome annotation based on Gencode v19 using STAR aligner version 2.4.1 [76]. Custom Python scripts were used to map splice junctions as well as alternative and constitutive splicing classifications. MISO [161] was used to quantify differences in alternative splicing events. Reads were mapped using Bowtie 1.0.1 [178] and used to identify detained introns. Differences in detained intron splicing efficiency were determined using DEXSeq [8]. Relative splice site strength was calculated using MaxEnt [316] and the splice site motifs were determined using Weblogo [61]. For more details please see [29].

Functional pathway analyses

DAVID: Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery (DAVID) v6.8 was used for analysis [140, 141]. Lists of differentially expressed genes, either significantly upregulated or significantly downregulated, using a p adj<0.05, were tested against all expressed genes in the gene expression dataset.

GSEA: We acknowledge our use of the gene set enrichment analysis, GSEA software, and Molecular Signature Database (MSigDB) (Subramanian, Tamayo, et al. 2005; Mootha et al., 2003; http://www.broad.mit.edu/gsea/). Analyses were performed using the pre-ranked tool and differentially expressed genes with a p adj<0.05. Gene set enrichment scores were calculated for the following gene sets: Hallmark [183], CP:KEGG: KEGG gene sets [158, 159] (http://www.genome.jp/kegg/pathway.html); CP:REACTOME: Reactome gene sets [60, 84] (http://www.reactome.org/). Custom analyses were performed by comparing all expressed genes to gene expression signatures representing different GBM subtypes [24, 232, 290].

IPA: Data were analyzed through the use of QIAGENs Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA, QIAGEN Redwood City, www.qiagen.com/ingenuity).

qRT-PCR

Total RNA was extracted using the NucleoSpin RNA kit (Machery-Nagel) and cDNA was generated using PrimeScript RT kit with gDNA Eraser (Takara). Reactions were performed using the Fast SYBR Green PCR Mastermix (Applied Biosystems) and a StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems) using StepOne Software v2.2.2 (Applied Biosystems). GAPDH was used an internal control.

Cell proliferation

To assess *in vitro* cell proliferation, cells were stained with the CellTrace Far Red Cell Proliferation Kit (Thermo Fisher, C34564) according to manufacturer instructions. Briefly, cells were resuspended with the Far Red staining solution for 20 minutes at 37C, washed, and then incubated with EPZ015666 for the indicated number of days. Cells were the trypsinized, analyzed by flow cytometry and the mean fluorescence at 24 hour post labeling was used as a baseline. The relative growth was then calculated as the reciprocal of the mean fluorescence.

Senescence associated beta-galactosidase staining

U87-MG cells were plated and treated with 10μ M EPZ015666 24 hours later. At 9 days post-treatment, cells were stained for senescence-associated β -galactosidase. Cells were fixed in 0.5% gluteraldehyde dissolved in PBS for 15 mins at room temperature. Next, cells were washed 1mM magnesium chloride solution in PBS. Cells were stained with β -galactosidase staining solution consisting of 5mM potassium ferrocyanide, 5mM potassium ferricyanide, 1mg/mL X-gal in N,N dimethyl formamide (Affymetrix, 10077), in PBS with 1mM magnesium chloride, pH 5.5, for 5-6 hours at 37C. Cells were then

washed with PBS, water, and 25% glycerol in water was applied prior to imaging on an Evos microscope (Life Technologies).

Cell lines used

We used the following cell lines: GL261 cells were a kind gift from Dr. David Zagzag (New York University Langone Medical Center). The following lines were purchased from ATCC: U87-MG (HTB-14), T98G (CRL-1690), A172 (CRL-1620), U138 (HTB-16). All cells were cultured in DMEM complete medium, containing 10% FBS and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. For the EPZ015666 cell line screen (below), the following additional cell lines were used: T47D cells were acquired from ATCC (ATCC HTB-133), cultured in RPMI, 10% FBS and 0.2 U/ml bovine insulin (Sigma, I6634). ZR-75-1 cells were acquired from ATCC (ATCC CRL-1500), cultured in RPMI, 10% FBS. U-2 OS cells were acquired from ATCC (ATCC HTB-96), cultured in DMEM complete medium. KELLY cells were gifts from Alexandre Puissant and Kimberly Stegmaier (Dana-Farber Cancer Institute) and were kept in DMEM complete medium MEWO cells were acquired from ATCC (ATCC HTB-65), cultured in EMEM, 10% FBS. MCF-7 cells were acquired from ATCC (ATCC HTB-22), cultured EMEM, 10% FBS and 0.01 mg/l bovine insulin (Sigma, I6634). LN229 cells were acquired from ATCC (CRL-2611), cultured in DMEM complete medium. LN-18 cells were a gift from Hiroaki Wakimoto and Daniel Cahill (Massachusetts General Hospital) and were cultured in DMEM complete. WM2664 cells were acquired from ATCC (ATCC CRL-1676), and cultured in EMEM, 10% FBS. HCT-116 cells were a kind gift from Karl Merrick (Massachusetts Institute of Technology) and cultured in DMEM complete medium SKMEL2 cells were acquired from ATCC (ATCC HTB-68) and cultured in EMEM, 10% FBS. PANC-1 cells were acquired from ATCC (ATCC CRL-1469) and cultured in DMEM complete medium. SKNAS cells were a kind gift from Alexandre Puissant and Kimberly Stegmaier (Dana-Farber Cancer Institute) and were kept in DMEM complete medium.

EPZ015666 Cell line screen

EPZ015666 was diluted in DMSO at concentrations ranging from 0-500mM (12 concentrations total) in a 96 well plate. Cells were plated (at different numbers, according to their individual proliferation kinetics) and allowed to adhere for 24 hours. Cells were then treated with 100nL of the EPZ015666 dilutions using a pin tool (V&P Scientific,

CA, mounted onto a Tecan Freedom Evo 150 MCA96 head, Tecan, CA). Following incubation for 120 hours, cell confluence in each well was estimated using the IncuCyte ZOOM microscope (Essen Bioscience).

Exploring Genetic and Epigenetic Mediators of Response to Glioblastoma Therapy

Monica Stanciu, Christian Braun, Jose McFaline-Figueroa, Rachit Neupane, Camila Chile, Michael Hemann, Jacqueline Lees

M.S. and C.B. conducted *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments. J.M-F. contributed to Figure 3.2. R.N. and C.C. contributed to Figure 3.4. M.S., C.B., M.H., J.L. designed the study and analyzed the data. M.S. and J.L. wrote the paper. Data associated with Figure 3.2 was published as part of [199].

3.1 Abstract

•HE frontline drug for glioblastoma (GBM) treatment is the chemotherapeutic agent temozolomide (TMZ). Although its addition to the treatment regimen for GBM has significantly improved survival, prognosis for patients remains extremely poor. Here, we explore the genetic and epigenetic mechanisms contributing to TMZ response in an in vivo GBM model using orthotopic transplantation of GL261 cells. We demonstrate that these tumors are sensitive to TMZ and irradiation therapy, alone or in combination, and that TMZ responsiveness is a function of O6-methylguanine-DNAmethyltransferase (MGMT) expression. By modulating the levels of an enzyme involved in the mismatch repair pathway, we demonstrate that small changes in expression are sufficient to drive significant resistance to TMZ in vivo. Furthermore, we present initial validation experiments of an *in vivo* shRNA screen identifying the epigenetic regulator PRMT5 as an important mediator of GBM response to TMZ treatment. These results demonstrate that the GL261 system can be modulated by single shRNAs, resulting in measurable effects on tumor cell composition and animal survival. Further studies will be required to understand how targeting specific epigenetic regulators identified in the screen may enhance sensitivity of tumors to TMZ treatment.

■ 3.2 Introduction

Glioblastoma (GBM) is the most common malignant primary brain tumor in adults [144]. This devastating disease is highly aggressive and patients respond poorly to treatment. Conventional therapy involves surgical resection, followed by radiation and chemotherapy with the oral alkylating agent temozolomide (TMZ). While TMZ increases median survival from 12.1 to 14.6 months [265], benefit is invariably limited by the development of resistance.

The mechanism of action of TMZ involves methylation of DNA bases, resulting in activation of several repair mechanisms. The most toxic TMZ adduct, methylated O6-G, is normally removed by the enzyme O6-methylguanine-DNA-methyltransferase (MGMT) [321]. However, in the absence of MGMT, the persistence of the methylated base results in a mismatch during replication. This new lesion is recognized by members of the mismatch repair (MMR) pathway, which unsuccessfully attempt to repair it. The resulting process of "futile MMR" leads to clastogenic lesions upon further rounds of replication, leading to cell cycle arrest or cell death [205, 238]. Consequently, mechanisms of resistance to TMZ include increased MGMT expression or mutations of the MMR components [239]. Expression of MGMT is epigenetically regulated, with approximately half of GBM patients harboring MGMT promoter methylations [132, 133]. Loss of MMR proteins is also associated with tumor resistance and progression in response to TMZ therapy [38, 317].

As exemplified by the regulation of MGMT expression, epigenetics can play an important role in therapy response in GBM. The complex epigenetic landscape of GBM tumors and its contribution to tumorigenesis and treatment resistance is beginning to emerge [35, 41, 57]. Epigenetic changes in tumors, leading to remodeling of the chromatin landscape, may be critical for determining response to conventional chemotherapeutic agents [80]. Thus far, epigenetic therapies tested in the clinic for GBM and other tumors have mostly consisted of broad inhibitors of DNA methylation and histone deacetylases [156, 169]. As we gain a more precise understanding of how individual epigenetic regulators can become altered in cancer, we can begin to target them more specifically and enhance sensitivity to conventional chemotherapies [80]. This has the potential of giving rise to new combination therapies that prolong patient survival.

In vivo shRNA screens have previously been used to identify modulators of chemotherapy response [235]. Reasoning that the effect of TMZ could be modified by certain epigenetic regulators, we employed a loss-of-function *in vivo* shRNA screen to identify ones most relevant to GBM. We used an orthotopic transplantation model of the disease, and verified that tumor response to TMZ could be modulated by genetic manipulation. As part of a larger screen discussed in Chapter 2 of this thesis, we identified the protein arginine methyltransferase PRMT5 as being important for GBM growth in response to TMZ, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Our results thus far show that targeting PRMT5 enhances sensitivity to TMZ *in vitro*, but not *in vivo*.

3.3 Results

■ 3.3.1 Characterizing the response of GL261 cells to therapy *in vitro* and *in vivo*

We chose the GL261 murine GBM cell line as an appropriate system for performing parallel in vitro and in vivo shRNA screens. Since the tumor microenvironment is known to be an important contributor to the rapeutic efficacy [125, 237], we reasoned that a syngeneic model would be most appropriate for studying the TMZ response. As detailed in Chapter 2 of this thesis, intracranial transplantation of GL261 cells into syngeneic hosts resulted in tumors with histological characteristics of human GBM tumors. To assess the feasibility of using the GL261 transplantation model for studying mediators of sensitivity and resistance, we first tested the baseline responses of GL261 tumors to conventional therapies used in GBM. We performed intracranial transplantations of GL261 cells into syngeneic hosts, and treated the animals with TMZ as a single agent, with irradiation, or in combination. We observed that while each of the individual treatments extended survival, the combination therapy had an even stronger effect (Figure 3.1A), similar to what is observed in human patients [265]. To explore the mechanisms underlying sensitivity to TMZ, we tested GL261 cells for expression of Mgmt and found this enzyme to be absent in cell extracts (Figure 3.1B). Using in vitro competition assays, we asked whether restoring Mgmt protein expression would alter the sensitivity of GL261 cells to TMZ. Mixed populations of cells in which a proportion had been transduced to express an Mgmt cDNA and a GFP marker were treated with different concentrations of TMZ in vitro and assessed by flow cytometry 96 hours following treatment (Figure 3.1C). The proportion of GFP expressing cells could be enriched, depleted, or unchanged, indicating that the vector conferred resistance, sensitivity, or no effect to TMZ treatment, respectively. We found that Mgmt overexpression led to an



Figure 3.1. Assessing the effect of therapy on GL261 cells in vitro and in vivo. (A) GL261 cells were transplanted intracranially into syngeneic mice and treated 8 days later with vehicle (n=5), TMZ (50 mg/kg, n=9), irradiation (5 Gy, n=6), or a combination of TMZ (50mg/kg, n=5) and irradiation (5 Gy). (B) GL261 cells probed for Mgmt before and after Mgmt overexpression. (C) Scheme of *in vitro* competition assay in response to TMZ. (D) *In vitro* competition assay using mixed populations of cells, a proportion of which are transduced with an Mgmt overexpression vector that is also GFP+. Doses of TMZ represent a range of IC70-IC90, and cells were analyzed by flow cytometry after 96h.

increase in the percentage of GFP expressing cells following drug treatment, indicating that Mgmt expression could confer TMZ resistance in GL261 cells (Figure 3.1D).

■ 3.3.2 Msh2 mediates resistance to TMZ

We reasoned that competition experiments using cell based assays could be extended to tumors and used to assess modifiers of drug responsiveness in vivo. In vitro experiments demonstrated that small decreases in the levels of MSH2, an enzyme involved in the MMR pathway, could reduce MMR activity and confer TMZ resistance in human GBM cell lines [199]. We first tested the effects of Msh2 knockdown on TMZ response in GL261 cells in vitro. We targeted Msh2 using two constitutive shRNAs that conferred a low level of knockdown (Figure 3.2A). Competition assays were performed both in vitro and in vivo (Figure 3.2B). Following TMZ treatment in vitro, the proportion of shRNA expressing cells was higher in each of the two populations containing Msh2 hairpins compared to a vector control, indicating that Msh2 knockdown conferred resistance to TMZ. In vivo, we treated tumor bearing mice with TMZ or vehicle 8 days following tumor cell implantation. Tumors were removed when the mice were moribund and cellular composition was analyzed by flow cytometry to compare the GFP proportions in the final tumor compared to the initial mixed population (Figure 3.2C). Msh2 hairpinexpressing cells were significantly enriched in the final tumors in response to TMZ, but not vehicle (Figure 3.2D). Critically, even a low level of Msh2 knockdown resulted in a measurable effect on tumor composition in vivo, underscoring the importance of an intact MMR pathway for controlling the effects of TMZ in GBM tumors. Overall, these results also demonstrate that shRNAs can be used to modulate drug responsiveness in the GL261 system both in vitro and in vivo and that a single shRNA can have a measurable effect on tumor composition.

■ 3.3.3 PRMT5 loss mediates sensitivity to TMZ *in vitro* and extends survival *in vivo*

The results presented here, together with experiments outlined in Chapter 2 of this thesis, offer support for using the GL261 transplantation system for *in vivo* shRNA screening to find mediators of GBM tumor growth and TMZ responsiveness. We identified PRMT5 as being important not only for GBM tumor growth, but also as required for tumor viability specifically in response to TMZ compared to vehicle treatment. There-



Figure 3.2. Msh2 confers resistance to GL261 cells and GL261 tumors upon TMZ treatment. (A) Msh2 mRNA levels in GL261 cells expressing a vector control or one of two Msh2 shRNAs (n=3; error bars represent SEM). (B) Scheme of *in vivo* competition assay to assess effects of Msh2 knockdown on responsiveness to TMZ in GL261 tumors. GL261 cells express GFP as a marker for shRNA expression. (C) *In vitro* competition assay demonstrating increases in the proportion of Msh2 shRNA, GFP-expressing cells in response to TMZ treatment at three different doses, compared to a vector control. Dose of TMZ represent a range of IC70-IC90, and cells were analyzed by flow cytometry after 96h (n=3; SEM; * P < 0.05; *** P < 0.001 Student t test). (D) Results of *in vivo* competition assay, showing enrichment of Msh2 shRNA, GFP-expressing cells in response to TMZ treatment in GL261 tumors. Mice were treated with 50mg/kg TMZ 8 days after tumor cell implantation (SD; * P < 0.05; *** P < 0.001 MannWhitney test).



Figure 3.3. Assessing a role for PRMT5 in mediating sensitivity to TMZ in vitro and in vivo. (A) Prmt5 mRNA and protein levels (left and right, respectively), in GL261 cells expressing a constitutive Prmt5 or control shRNA (n=3; error bars represent SEM). H4R3me2s = symmetric dimethylarginine H4R3. (B) In vitro competition assay demonstrating sensitivity to TMZ in Prmt5 shRNA expressing cells, compared to those expressing a control shRNA. TMZ concentrations used: 0μ M, 20μ M, 35μ M, 50μ M, cells were analyzed by flow cytometry after 6 days. (C) to (E) Survival plots of one *in vivo* experiment consisting of 6 cohorts of mice, separated into different plots for clarity. Mice were implanted intracranially with GL261 cells expressing a constitutive Prmt5 shRNA or a control shRNA. (C) Animals were treated with vehicle or (D) TMZ (50mg/kg) at day 9 post tumor cell implantation. (E) Pairwise comparisons between vehicle and TMZ-treated groups of mice bearing GL261 tumors containing the same shRNA. P value determined by Log-Rank (Mantel-Cox) test, and n=6 for all groups except for Prmt5 shRNA2 TMZ, for which n=7.

fore, we sought to validate these results and first tested whether genetic depletion of PRMT5 could sensitize GBM cells to TMZ in vitro and in vivo. Knockdown of Prmt5 expression using two different constitutive shRNAs in GL261 cells led to a reduction in mRNA and protein levels. It also led to decreased levels of symmetrically dimethylated H4R3, a marker of Prmt5 methyltransferase activity (Figure 3.3A). Using in vitro competition assays, Prmt5 knockdown was found to enhance sensitivity to TMZ, in a concentration-dependent manner (Figure 3.3B). Next, pure populations of GL261 cells expressing PRMT5 shRNAs or a control shRNA were transplanted intracranially into syngeneic mice, and treated with TMZ or vehicle. Knockdown of Prmt5 alone resulted in a significant extension of lifespan (Figure 3.3C). TMZ treatment of Prmt5 depleted tumors showed a survival benefit compared to treatment of tumors harboring normal levels of Prmt5 (Figure 3.3D). This effect appeared to be driven by Prmt5 loss, as there were no significant survival differences between Prmt5 knockdown tumors treated with vehicle versus TMZ (Figure 3.3E). These data validate that Prmt5 is indeed important for GBM tumor growth, suggesting its potential as a therapeutic target. Furthermore, these results demonstrate that mice bearing tumors with low Prmt5 expression levels survive longer, irrespective of TMZ treatment, compared to mice bearing control tumors that are treated with TMZ. Taken together, these data show that loss of Prmt5 expression sensitizes GL261 cells to TMZ treatment in vitro, but not in vivo. Even though these results do not demonstrate a benefit from targeting tumors with TMZ and Prmt5 knockdown, they highlight PRMT5 as an appealing therapeutic target.

■ 3.3.4 EPZ015666 treatment of GL261 GBM tumors leads to loss of methyltransferase activity without affecting survival

The recent identification of a highly specific and orally available small molecule inhibitor for PRMT5, EPZ015666 [44], offered the unique opportunity for testing combination therapy with TMZ *in vivo*. We sought to assess whether PRMT5 could be targeted in GBM tumors by EPZ015666 and whether TMZ co-treatment with this drug would affect survival. We first tested whether EPZ015666 was capable of inhibiting PRMT5 activity *in vivo*. As the blood brain barrier (BBB) permeability of this drug was unknown, we treated GL261 tumor-bearing mice for short periods of time prior to euthanasia due to high tumor burden, reasoning that the BBB was most likely to be disrupted at this time. Indeed, as assessed by immunoblotting for symmetric dimethylarginine (SDMA) marks, we observed that EPZ015666 effectively inhibited PRMT5 methyltransferase



Figure 3.4. Treatment of GL261 tumor-bearing mice with PRMT5 inhibitor results in loss of methyltransferase activity, but not increased survival. (A) Mice were intracranially transplanted with GL261 cells, and treated with vehicle or PRMT5 inhibitor EPZ015666 for 24h, 48h, or 72h before euthanasia due to high tumor burden. The extracted tumors were assessed for symmetric dimethyl arginine (SDMA) as an indicator of inhibition of PRMT5 methyltransferase activity. Each lane represents a tumor from a different animal. (B) In a separate experiment mice were intracranially transplanted with GL261 cells, and divided into 4 groups, to be treated with vehicle, TMZ, EPZ015666, or TMZ and EPZ015666. TMZ treatment was administered as a one time ip injection at 50mg/kg at day 8, and EPZ015666 was administered 2x/day orally at 100mg/kg, starting on day 6 and continuing until the mice were euthanized due to high tumor burden. Two tumors from each cohort were extracted and assessed for inhibition of PRMT5 methyltransferase activity by immunoblot. (C) Survival analysis, n=10 for each group. P value determined by Log-Rank (Mantel-Cox) test.

activity in vivo (Figure 3.4A). Next, we transplanted mice intracranially with GL261 cells and divided them into four groups, to be treated with vehicle, TMZ, EPZ015666, or TMZ combined with EPZ015666. We began treating animals with the PRMT5 inhibitor starting on day 6 after cell implantation to allow time for tumor cell engraftment (Figure 3.4B). In order to maximize the exposure of the tumor to the drug, we treated animals until they required euthanasia due to high tumor burden. TMZ treatment was performed as a one-time injection at 8 days post tumor cell implantation. By extracting tumors from moribund mice, we confirmed that EPZ015666 treatment either alone or in combination with TMZ resulted in decreased levels of SDMA (Figure 3.4B). Using this treatment regimen, we did not observe any survival benefit from treatment with EPZ015666 alone, or the combination therapy compared to vehicle-treated controls (Figure 3.4C). Addition of TMZ to EPZ015666 treatment improved survival compared to EPZ015666 alone. Although these results require further validation, the experiments presented here demonstrate that EPZ015666 is capable of inhibiting PRMT5 methyl-transferase activity in GBM tumors *in vivo* with rapid kinetics.

■ 3.4 Discussion

The addition of TMZ to the treatment regimen of GBM patients over a decade ago offered major improvements for the treatment of this aggressive disease [265]. TMZ can be administered orally and has a relatively mild side effect profile [291]. However, as resistance invariably arises in GBM tumors, identifying epigenetic mediators of this process could lead to combination therapies for improving the efficacy of TMZ.

We first tested the response of the GL261-derived intracranial tumors to TMZ and found that, similar to human GBM tumors, they were sensitive to TMZ and irradiation. Survival was even further extended by a combination treatment. We showed that drug sensitivity resulted from absence of MGMT expression in GL261 cells, as its restoration drove resistance to TMZ *in vitro*. We further demonstrated that TMZ resistance could be modulated *in vivo* by the expression of a single shRNA, by targeting the MMR enzyme Msh2. Importantly, these findings also suggest that even small decreases in a component of the MMR pathway can drive tumor resistance to TMZ, an observation that has therapeutic implications for GBM patients [199].

From parallel *in vitro* and *in vivo* shRNA screens for modulators of TMZ responsiveness, we identified PRMT5 as being important for driving resistance to TMZ. In

validation experiments *in vitro*, stable PRMT5 knockdown did indeed increase sensitivity of GL261 cells to TMZ. Only one other report has previously tested the effects of PRMT5 modulation on TMZ response, showing that pretreatment of GBM cells with TMZ increased responsiveness to PRMT5 siRNA-mediated knockdown [312]. Our results demonstrated that *in vivo*, PRMT5 knockdown was sufficient to significantly extend lifespan, although treatment with TMZ did not confer an added benefit. Targeting PRMT5 activity in tumors using a small molecule inhibitor did not enhance survival as a monotherapy, and it did not increase the effectiveness of TMZ.

It is important to understand why the results presented here do not support the original identification of PRMT5 as a possible mediator of responsiveness to TMZ. One of the greatest challenges to *in vivo* screening pertains to the extrapolation of screening results to validation experiments [33]. Specifically, cells containing an shRNA targeting a specific gene may act differently in the context of a mixed population, such as the one in the original screen, compared to pure populations of single shRNAs, as is the case in validation experiments. The presence of long term survivors in tumors arising from constitutive PRMT5 knockdown cells, irrespective of TMZ treatment, may indicate that PRMT5 is important for tumor cell engraftment. This notion is consistent with PRMT5 arising as a top hit in the screen, even in the absence of TMZ. The fact that PRMT5 also appears to be specifically important in TMZ-treated tumors may further support the requirement for PRMT5 as being required for tumor cell engraftment. If the tumors cells, once originally engrafted after implantation, were then subjected to another bottleneck owing to TMZ treatment, cells containing PRMT5 shRNAs would be selected against on two separate occasions. Their specific depletion would be more apparent in the context of a mixed cell population in the original screen, as opposed to the validation experiments. To test this hypothesis, it would be important to check the levels of PRMT5 and its associated methyl marks in the final tumors in the single shRNA experiments. It is possible that cells containing lower levels of PRMT5 knockdown, and therefore higher residual PRMT5 expression, would be positively selected following TMZ treatment and repopulate the tumor.

In GL261 tumors, the use of a PRMT5 inhibitor *in vivo* did not affect survival, irrespective of TMZ treatment. It should be noted, however, that although we verified that EPZ015666 is capable of inhibiting PRMT5 activity in GBM tumors, we do not yet know whether it is able to cross the BBB, limiting the interpretation of our results. It is possible that despite long term treatment, if the drug is only able to access the

tumors when the BBB is sufficiently disrupted, this may not allow sufficient time for it to have an effect on survival. Although in this cohort of animals TMZ did improve survival, the effect was not as pronounced as in other experiments, indicating a possible technical limitation in this particular study. Therefore, in isolation, these data do not allow us to conclude why treatment with EPZ015666 was ineffective in the GL261 GBM tumors.

Overall, further studies will be required to understand the role that epigenetic regulators can play in mediating sensitivity and resistance to conventional chemotherapies in GBM. Understanding these interactions and their molecular underpinnings will have important implications for combination therapies for a disease whose prognosis remains abysmal.

3.5 Materials and Methods

Reagents

Temozolomide (TMZ) was purchased from Sigma (T2577) and dissolved in DMSO. For *in vivo* experiments, TMZ was further diluted in sterile 0.9% sodium chloride solution. EPZ015666 was purchased from DC Chemicals (DC8012) and resuspended in DMSO for *in vitro* experiments. For *in vivo* experiments, EPZ015666 was dissolved in 0.5% methylcellulose in water.

Competition Assays

GL261 cells were a kind gift from Dr. David Zagzag (New York University Langone Medical Center). Cells were cultured in DMEM media supplemented with 10% FBS, 1%penicillin/streptomycin. GL261 cells were infected in vitro with the indicated vectors and sorted by fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) to generate pure populations of transduced cells. These populations were then mixed with untransduced cells such that 20-40% of the cells express the vector. For *in vitro* competition assays, cells were seeded and treated with TMZ 24 hours later. After 4 days or 6 days (as indicated), the proportion of GFP expressing cells was assessed by flow cytometry. For in vivo competition assays, a mixed population of 500,000 GL261 cells, same as ones used for in vitro assays, were transplanted intracranially into C57BL/6 mice. Animals were treated with TMZ or vehicle at 8 days post tumor cell transplantation (50mg/mg). When the mice showed signs of high tumor burden according to predefined criteria, they were euthanized and the brains were extracted. The tumors were excised and dissociated into a single cells suspension using a Brain Tumor Dissociation Kit from Miltenyi Biotech (130-095-942) and using a gentleMACS Dissociator (Miltenyi Biotech) according to manufacturer recommendations. The cells were then analyzed by flow cytometry to determine the percentage of GFP expressing cells using a BD LSR II machine.

Animal studies

C57BL/6 female mice aged 6-8 weeks were purchased from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, MA). GL261 cells were harvested by trypsinization, resuspended and counted.

Intracranial transplantations were performed by injecting 500,000 cells in sterile PBS into the left hemisphere, approximately 2mm to the left of the bregma along the coronal suture. Mice were treated with TMZ administered by intraperitoneal injection at a dose of 50mg/kg of body weight at 8 days post tumor cell implantation. EPZ015666 was administered by oral gavage every 12 hours at a dose of 100mg/kg of body weight for the indicated periods. When irradiation was performed, mice were irradiated with a dose of 5Gy at 8 days post tumor cell implantation. All animal studies were performed in accordance with MIT Committee on Animal Care protocol approval.

Vector constructs and shRNAs

Mouse MGMT cDNA (Origene, MC202089) was cloned into the retroviral vector pMIG using the following primers:

forward primer: 5'-GCGATCTCGAGACGCATGGCTGAGACCTGCAAAATGA-3' reverse primer: 5'-GCATCGAATTCCAGATCAATTTCGGCCAGACGGCTCA-3' pMIG was a kind gift from William Hahn (Addgene plasmid 9044). For shRNA experiments, the following shRNAs targeting mouse Msh2 were cloned into the TMP retroviral vector, as described previously (Dickins et al., 2005). An empty TMP vector was used as a control.

MSH2 shRNA 1: 5'-CAGGATGCCATTGTTAAAGAA

MSH2 shRNA 2: 5'-AACGATGTGCTGGCTCACTTA

The following shRNAs targeting mouse Prmt5 or Renilla luciferase as a control were cloned into the the constitutive retroviral vector MSCV/LTR/miR30/SV40/GFP (MLS). Prmt5 shRNA1 (PRMT5.2291) - 5'-GCCCGGTCTACCTAGCAAGTTT Prmt5 shRNA2 (PRMT5.1153) - 5'-GACCGAGTACCAGAAGAAGAAA Ctrl shRNA (Ren.713) - 5'-TAGGAATTATAATGCTTATCTA

Immunoblotting

For *in vitro* studies, cells were harvested by scraping on ice and lysed with RIPA buffer. For *in vivo* studies, tumors were isolated from mice upon euthanasia due to high tumor burden or at the indicated timepoint. Brains were extracted and tumors isolated from the surrounding normal tissue and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80C. For protein extraction, tumors were mechanically dissociated in RIPA lysis buffer using a Geno/Grinder 2010 (SPEX SamplePrep). The following antibodies

were used: MGMT (R&D, MAB3299), PRMT5 (Cell Signaling, 2252S), GAPDH (Santa Cruz, sc365062), actin (Santa Cruz, sc1616), symmetric dimethylarginine SDMA (Cell signaling, 13222). Immunoblots were detected using the Amersham ECL Prime Western Blotting Detection Reagent (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) and an ImageQuant LAS4000 imager (GE) or by autoradiography film.

Discussion

THE multifaceted roles of epigenetic regulators and their contribution to glioblastoma (GBM) are only beginning to be uncovered. In this chapter, I discuss the results of an *in vivo* shRNA screen and the major findings demonstrating a key role for the epigenetic regulator PRMT5 in GBM. I further consider the feasibility of PRMT5 as a therapeutic target for this disease. Finally, I examine the roles for PRMT5 in regulating gene expression through splicing and reflect on the implications in the context of existing literature. I end by considering the significance of these results and discussing how they could be further examined in future investigations.

■ 4.1 In vivo RNAi screening as a method for identifying novel epigenetic mediators of GBM growth

While the utility of *in vivo* screening for the discovery of new biological pathways and therapeutic targets has been shown in numerous different tumor models [22, 36, 201, 320, 325], such experimental approaches in GBM have only recently been presented [102, 241]. This may be due to the technical difficulties associated with achieving consistent intracranial transplantations, as well as the requirement that a large enough proportion of transplanted cells engraft and contribute to tumor formation. The latter requirement is difficult to achieve within the confines of the brain, where a physical constraint is placed on the number of cells that can be transplanted without significant disruption of the brain parenchyma. We have addressed some of these limitations by establishing a new model for loss of function *in vivo* RNAi screening, using orthotopic transplantation of GL261 murine GBM cells. This system was chosen because the tumor microenvironment is intact during the process of tumorigenesis, and due to its resemblance to the human disease in terms of histology and treatment response. We

performed several experiments prior to initiating the screen to assess and establish the reliability of this model for in vivo shRNA screening. These consisted of limiting dilution assays to inform the size of pooled shRNA library that can be screened, as well as single shRNA experiments in the presence and absence of the chemotherapeutic agent temozolomide (TMZ) to demonstrate the dynamic range of the system. The screen produced high quality sequencing data, and from the list of candidates resulting from the screen, we identified PRMT5 as the target for further validation for three reasons. First, it was consistently identified as a top hit in both in vitro and in vivo samples, independent of TMZ treatment. This would allow for *in vitro* validation prior to moving on to animal experiments. Second, the role of PRMT5 in cancer was becoming increasingly appreciated in the literature and there were two reports demonstrating PRMT5 overexpression in GBM patients and its requirement for tumorigenesis in one xenograft model [123, 312]. Therefore, there was reason to believe that this hit could be validated and would contribute to a developing field with high therapeutic relevance for patients. Finally, we wanted to use PRMT5 as the ultimate proof of principle to demonstrate that screening for epigenetic regulators using this system and methodology could produce reliable and physiologically relevant results, opening the door for future validation of other targets. Indeed, the results presented here indicate that loss of function RNAi screens using the GL261 orthotopic transplantation model can be used to uncover novel epigenetic regulators that are highly relevant for human disease. In the future, it will be interesting to also validate other candidates from this screen.

■ 4.2 Assessing the role for PRMT5 in GBM tumors

The results of the *in vivo* studies presented here lend support to the important roles for PRMT5 in GBM and demonstrate, to our knowledge, the first use of a highly specific PRMT5 inhibitor, EPZ015666, for the treatment of a GBM model. To briefly summarize these results, we used intracranial transplantation of human and mouse GBM cells, as well as subcutaneous xenografts, to test the effects of PRMT5 knockdown or inhibition with EPZ015666 on tumor growth. We also tested whether PRMT5 loss could sensitize GBM tumors to TMZ. In Chapter 2, we describe that inducing PRMT5 shRNA expression in established U-87 MG tumors results in a selective depletion of the knockdown cells, indicating that PRMT5 loss is detrimental to tumor growth. In U-87 MG subcutaneous xenografts, PRMT5 inhibition with EPZ015666 resulted in smaller tumors, and increased survival of animals bearing intracranial xenografts. In Chapter 3, we show that in a syngeneic model, PRMT5 constitutive knockdown extends survival of GL261 tumor-bearing animals. Treatment with TMZ did not further impact survival. In this same tumor model, treatment with EPZ015666 did not improve survival or appear to have any benefit aside from that conferred by TMZ alone. In this section, I synthesize the meaning of these results and consider the implications and caveats of these experiments. Many of these interpretations are dependent on addressing the ability of EPZ015666 to cross the blood brain barrier, and I explain our efforts to address this question at the end of the section.

■ 4.2.1 Assessing the role for PRMT5 at different stages of tumor growth

Our results support a role for PRMT5 in tumor cell engraftment and early tumor growth. In the syngeneic model where GL261 cells containing a constitutive PRMT5 shRNA are transplanted intracranially into mice, PRMT5 knockdown showed significant lifespan extension with both shRNAs, compared to a control shRNA (Figure 3.3C). These results are in line with previously reported xenograft experiments demonstrating that constitutive PRMT5 knockdown in human GBM cells can extend survival [13, 312]. Interestingly, we observed long term survival of animals from both of the PRMT5 knockdown groups, as well as the two other groups where PRMT5 loss was coupled with TMZ treatment. Based on our experience with this model system, we found these long term survivors to be highly unusual, as we always observe high penetrance of tumor development in this model. This led us to hypothesize that constitutive PRMT5 knockdown affected the efficiency of tumor cell engraftment and early tumor growth. Of course, it is also possible that continued loss of PRMT5 expression additionally affects tumor progression, as discussed below.

The results of our subcutaneous U-87 MG xenografts treated with EPZ015666 (Figure 2.8C) support a role for PRMT5 in the early stages of tumor growth, as a difference in tumor size can already be appreciated after the first of two separate rounds of treatment. After the second round, this difference becomes enhanced. There are two possible explanations for this observation. One option is that the second round of treatment augments the effect of the first by independently impeding later stages of tumor growth. The results of the U-87 MG intracranial xenograft with inducible PRMT5 shRNA knockdown support this possibility (Figure 2.8A), demonstrating that PRMT5 is required for cellular fitness in tumors following engraftment. Another possibility is that the second treatment offers no additional benefit and the survival improvement is due to senescence (as indicated by *in vitro* results, Figure 2.7D), resulting from the first round, which becomes more pronounced in comparison to the proliferating cells of the untreated tumors. Therefore, from this data, we cannot make definitive conclusions on the effect of PRMT5 inhibitor on late stages of tumor growth. A better understanding of whether the PRMT5 inhibitor is capable of crossing the intact BBB at early timepoints will help distinguish between these two possibilities. Meanwhile, the intracranial xenograft experiment showed that PRMT5 inhibitor treatment in two one week courses, once early in tumor formation, and once during later tumor growth, results in a significant lifespan extension (Figure 2.8D). Interpretation of these results is complicated by our as of yet incomplete understanding of the ability of EPZ015666 to move across the BBB. If the drug is not capable of crossing the intact BBB, it means that the intracranial tumors were only exposed to it at late timepoints, when we have evidence that the BBB is disrupted. Therefore, the observed lifespan extension would be due to the effect of the drug during this later stage and we could make the preliminary conclusion that maintenance of PRMT5 expression is important for late stage tumors. On the other hand, if the drug is capable of crossing the intact BBB, it is likely to have an effect on early tumors, but we would not be able to conclude as to any effects on maintenance, similar to the subcutaneous model. It is important to note that we started treatment of the mice on day 4 post implantation, when we believe the cells have already seeded into their transplanted location. Altogether, the in vivo studies of genetic and pharmacological-mediated loss of PRMT5 function point to a role for PRMT5 in GBM tumor engraftment and early tumor growth. A more definitive conclusion about the effects of PRMT5 during later stages of GBM will be dependent on a clearer understanding of the BBB permeability of EPZ015666.

4.2.2 Explaining discrepancy between knockdown and inhibition of PRMT5 in the GL261 model

In the syngeneic model GBM model, constitutive PRMT5 knockdown extended animal survival (Figure 3.3C). This effect was not observed with EPZ015666 treatment administered from day 6 until euthanasia (Figure 3.4C). This discrepancy can have several possible explanations. One option is that PRMT5 is important only during tumor cell implantation and early tumor growth, as explained above. Another possibility relates to the BBB permeability of EPZ015666. From the short term *in vivo* drug treatment, we know that the drug diminishes symmetric arginine dimethylation as early as 24h *in*

vivo (Figure 3.4A). However, these experiments were performed in large tumors which most likely had a highly disrupted BBB. Therefore, in the long term treatment survival study, we cannot know when the drug began to access the tumors. If EPZ015666 is capable of penetrating the intact BBB, then the likely explanation is that PRMT5 affects tumor cell engraftment and starting treatment after this stage does not impact survival. On the other hand, if the drug does not cross the BBB and can only access tumors in the latest stages, it may not have enough time to affect survival. Another possible explanation for this outcome, related to the specific effects of PRMT5 inhibition in the context of an immunocompetent model is discussed later in this chapter. It is unlikely that the long term treatment with EPZ015666 was toxic to the animals and abrogated any beneficial effects of PRMT5 inhibition. We performed toxicological analyses on non-tumor-bearing animals, and did not note any adverse effects following 1 week of treatment (Figure 2.8B, and data not shown). Longer treatment periods, ranging from 18-21 days, were reported by Chan-Penebre and colleagues, without noting any adverse effects [44]. Overall, further investigation is warranted to determine the period during which PRMT5 knockdown or inhibition is the most efficacious. Aside from a clearer understanding of the BBB permeability of EPZ015666, one way to address this would be to transplant GL261 cells with an inducible PRMT5 shRNA and bypass the effects of PRMT5 on tumor cell engraftment that we observed with a constitutive knockdown. We previously attempted this experiment, but experienced technical limitations due to a leaky vector that activated PRMT5 knockdown even in the absence of doxycycline treatment. This experiment can be modified with the highly reliable TRMPVIR doxycycline inducible system successfully used for the Kras shRNA experiments (Figure 2.1).

■ 4.2.3 Addressing the BBB permeability of EPZ015666

Many of the above interpretations depend on addressing whether EPZ015666 is capable of crossing the intact BBB. We previously attempted to address this question by performing intracranial transplantations of U-87 MG cells, and euthanizing mice at different time points thereafter. Groups of mice were treated with either Prmt5 inhibitor or vehicle for 3 days before euthanasia, a time window known to be sufficient for depleting PRMT5-dependent symmetric dimethylation in response to the drug *in vivo*. We performed extensive histological characterization using a marker for PRMT5 activity, H4R3me2s. We also coupled this analysis with assays to determine BBB integrity at these same timepoints of tumor development. This analysis showed that EPZ015666 treatment results in decreased H4R3me2s staining in large tumors. However, due to extensive variability of staining, we were unable to firmly conclude whether the drug crosses the BBB to affect the histone mark in smaller tumors. In order to better assess drug distribution in the tumor and normal brain, we are collaborating with Dr. Nathalie Agar's group to perform matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry imaging (MALDI MSI) [188,233]. Understanding the ability of the drug to cross the BBB has important implications for human clinical treatment, since the highly infiltrative nature of GBM cells means that many cells outside the main tumor mass are surrounded by largely normal brain parenchyma [233].

■ 4.3 Interpreting gene expression signatures following PRMT5 inhibition

Extensive functional pathway analysis of the gene expression changes following PRMT5 inhibitor treatment in U-87 MG cells was undertaken using different tools and showed highly concordant results. These analyses revealed several important signatures, some of which agree and others which conflict with previously described roles for PRMT5. Most strikingly, these data showed increased reorganization of the extracellular matrix and signatures consistent with the epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), p53 signaling, inflammatory responses and NF- κ B signaling, as well as decreased cell cycle progression.

In vitro analyses as well as the RNAseq results showed decreased proliferation and a block in cell cycle progression in response to EPZ015666, consistent with widely described roles for PRMT5 in GBM and other tumors [44, 182, 312]. Although we observed an increase in p53 signatures, as has been previously reported upon PRMT5 deletion [23, 166], we did not find increased apoptosis upon PRMT5 inhibition *in vitro*, inferred by looking at the subG1 fraction. However, this is not the most sensitive method and may not accurately detect apoptotic cells following G2/M arrest. A more thorough analysis could be undertaken by performing flow cytometry using Annexin V, as well as immunoblotting for markers of apoptosis, such as caspases and pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members. Interestingly, we identified increased senescence in response to drug treatment, consistent with a recent study reporting senescence as a consequence of PRMT5 knockdown in human glioma neurospheres, but not adherent GBM cells [13]. The authors find that PTEN is repressed by PRMT5, and that in response to PRMT5 loss, PTEN facilitates senescence through AKT and p27. However, U-87 MG cells are
mutant for PTEN [56], suggesting a PTEN-independent mechanism driving senescence, perhaps through mTOR-mediated upregulation of p53 [13, 212].

It is important to note that our results indicating that PRMT5 inhibition in GBM cells leads to NF- κ B pathway activation are in conflict with several reports demonstrating that PRMT5 directly methylates the p65 subunit of NF- κ B, leading to its transcriptional activity [127, 128, 302]. However, another report shows that PRMT5 is required for the induction of TRAIL-dependent but not TNF- α -dependent NF- κ B signaling [274]. Two studies by Harris and colleagues also reported decreased expression of inflammatory chemokines in endothelial cells in response to PRMT5 depletion [127, 128], in stark contrast to results reported in GBM [312], as well as our findings. Therefore, PRMT5 inhibition may impact NF- κ B signaling in a tissue or context-specific manner.

4.3.1 PRMT5 and EMT

A mass spectrometry experiment for PRMT5 interacting proteins in T cells revealed that a large number of proteins involved in cytoskeletal rearrangement are symmetrically dimethylated [288]. Our observations that PRMT5 modulates the emergence of mesenchymal cellular characteristics echo those described in lung and breast cancer cell lines upon PRMT5 or MEP50 knockdown by Chen and colleagues [49]. The authors explored the role of PRMT5 in EMT, and through functional pathway analyses showed that knockdown of PRMT5 or MEP50 led to an upregulation of extracellular matrix organization and cell adhesion pathways, as well as a set of predicted upstream regulators that is highly overlapping with our own. Where our results diverge from theirs is in the description of the consequences of these transcriptional changes. The Chen study described that PRMT5 and MEP50 were necessary for mediating $TGF-\beta$ dependent migration and invasiveness in lung and breast cancer cell lines. In response to TGF- β , wild type cell lines increased migration and showed markers consistent with EMT (loss of CDH1, gain in VIM and SNAIL). Meanwhile, PRMT5 knockdown led to reduced proliferation, as well as decreased cell migration and invasion, and notably, diminished levels of SNAIL. Treatment of PRMT5/MEP50 knockdown cells with TGF- β did not rescue the migration and invasion defects, nor did it lead to the expression of EMT markers. From these results, the authors conclude that the expression of the TGF- β induced EMT phenotype is dependent on PRMT5/MEP50 [49]. Meanwhile, although our data also show that PRMT5 knockdown and inhibition results in decreased proliferation in GBM cells, our transcription analysis seems to indicate a gain of mesenchymal characteristics, including SNAIL, upon PRMT5 inhibition. PRMT5 was previously shown to associate with AJUBA and SNAIL to form a repressive complex that downregulates E-cadherin expression [137]. While this study notes an upregulation of E-cadherin protein following PRMT5 knockdown, they do not report the effects on expression of SNAIL. Gene expression analysis of 40 NSCLC cell lines identified PRMT5 as being highly expressed in cell lines showing features of EMT (VIM high, CDH1 low), and patient samples with higher PRMT5 protein levels exhibited loss of epithelial markers and a poor prognosis [147]. While these studies point to a role for PRMT5 as a positive regulator of EMT, it is possible that the effects of PRMT5 in EMT induced by TGF- β in epithelial tumors are different from those leading to an increased mesenchymal subtype in GBM cells in response to NF- κ B signaling. PRMT5 may be involved in yet unidentified transcriptional complexes in a cell type specific manner. Therefore, the link between NF- κ B signaling and EMT in response to PRMT5 inhibition in our system remains to be clarified.

4.3.2 NF- κ B pathway activation and EMT signatures point to acquisition of a mesenchymal phenotype

Subclassification of GBM tumors based on genetic and epigenetic profiles has revealed that this disease is composed of different subtypes with distinct molecular characteristics, therapeutic vulnerabilities and clinical prognoses [41, 232, 290]. Therefore, our observations that a shift in clinical subtype occurs upon PRMT5 inhibitor treatment are important not only for dissecting the molecular pathways affected by PRMT5 in GBM, but also for revealing further therapeutic options and likely outcomes.

Several of the pathway analyses related to our gene expression results show that PRMT5 inhibition by EPZ015666 results in increased NF- κ B signaling, extracellular matrix remodeling, and, possibly, EMT. While PRMT5 has previously been implicated to have a role in TGF- β -induced EMT in other cancer types, the gene expression data seems to suggest that NF- κ B signaling, whose role in facilitating EMT is well appreciated [130, 143, 176] is the likely inducer of the mesenchymal phenotype in our system.

Bhat and colleagues demonstrate that the NF- κ B pathway is associated with the mesenchymal GBM subtype [24], and human tumors belonging to this subclass show mesenchymal and microglial features [24, 232, 290]. Several independent pathway anal-

yses point to increased NF- κ B signaling in our dataset upon EPZ015666 treatment, and we observe an enrichment for the Phillips, Verhaak, and Bhat mesenchymal signatures [24, 232, 290]. Bhat et al. note that although some of the master transcription factors in the mesenchymal signature overlap with ones known to be involved in EMT, there was no increase in the classical EMT factors SNAIL, SLUG, or TWIST [24]. While this remains to be verified by qPCR in our system, in our RNAseq dataset, we see no differential expression of SLUG, ZEB1, ZEB2, TWIST, VCAN (versican), CDH1, CDH2, or VIM (vimentin) [113], and only SNAIL is significantly upregulated in response to EPZ015666. This supports the possibility that the Hallmark EMT signature in our GSEA analysis is mostly driven NF- κ B signaling as opposed to TGF- β signaling. Indeed, the Hallmark TGF- β signature was not significant in our GSEA analysis. Interestingly, SNAIL is known to be stabilized by TNF- α induced NF- κ B signaling, leading to its nuclear localization and induction of EMT [299, 309]. SNAIL is a master regulator of breast cancer stem cells and EMT [315], although the roles of SNAIL in GBM are not yet not well understood. SNAIL has been described as a critical regulator of a glial to mesenchymal transition in response to irradiation [197], and its overexpression promotes invasiveness of GBM cells, while decreasing their tumorigenic potential and prolonging survival in immunocompromised mice [246]. The authors note that this decreased tumorigenicity was surprising because of the strong link between EMT and stemness [315], and they outline that one possibility is that SNAIL decouples the invasion and tumorigenic potential of GBM cells. Therefore, our data suggest that following PRMT5 inhibition, NF- κ B facilitates the appearance of highly overlapping EMT and mesenchymal GBM features, with SNAIL possibly playing a role in this phenotype.

■ 4.4 Perspectives on using PRMT5 as a therapeutic target in GBM

Together, the *in vitro* analyses of PRMT5 knockdown and inhibition joint with transcriptional profiling following PRMT5 inhibition indicate decreased proliferation and progression through the cell cycle, together with the induction of senescence and features consistent with a shift towards a mesenchymal phenotype. These characteristics, reminiscent of EMT, appear to be correlated with NF- κ B signaling and an increased immune signature. It is possible that increased SNAIL expression leads to a decoupling of invasiveness from proliferation and tumorigenic potential. This may also offer an alternative explanation for the observed discrepancy between genetic loss and pharmacological inhibition of PRMT5 in vivo.

Since EPZ015666 has never been studied in GBM, and previous studies of PRMT5 knockdown in GBM were performed in xenograft models [13, 312], it is important to entertain all possible explanations for the effects of the drug. As such, it should be considered that the effects of the inhibitor in an immunocompetent setting could be different from those of constitutive PRMT5 knockdown. In the syngeneic mice growing GL261 tumors, treatment with PRMT5 inhibitor may lead to opposing results on tumor progression. Here, tumor cell invasion, facilitated by cell intrinsic and inflammatory components, is counteracted by decreased cell proliferation. Overall this could result in a lack of survival advantage following PRMT5 inhibitor treatment. Furthermore, NF- κ B signaling has been shown to promote resistance to TMZ [34, 298], perhaps explaining why we do not observe any improvement when co-treating with TMZ and perhaps even a trend towards a slightly diminished overall survival. Meanwhile, in the immunocompromised animals bearing U-87 MG tumors, EPZ015666 treatment results in a tumor cell invasion phenotype that is dampened due to lack of cooperating extrinsic immune signals. Athymic mice, such as the ones used in our xenograft experiments, contain severely diminished microglial populations [139]. Coupled with decreased proliferation, this can lead to a notable survival advantage. To test this hypothesis, using the same inducible PRMT5 knockdown experiment proposed previously, it would be important to check that the effect seen in the syngeneic setting is specifically dependent on loss of PRMT5 activity, as opposed to an unwanted side effect of the inhibitor. This hypothesis assumes that GL261 would also shift to a mesenchymal phenotype upon drug treatment, and that the observed immune signature is tumor-promoting as opposed to tumor-suppressive. Overall, these results highlight the importance of also using syngeneic as opposed to only immunocompromised mice for studying tumorigenesis, and highlight that further experiments are needed in order to have a more complete understanding of the effects of PRMT5 inhibition on GBM.

The results of our transcriptional analysis point to a shift in cell identity and proliferative capacity of GBM cells upon PRMT5 inhibition, indicating that PRMT5 may be responsible for maintenance of broad transcriptional programs that define cellular identity. We have preliminary results obtained using TCGA data that show that higher grade gliomas show higher levels of PRMT5 expression than lower grade gliomas, which in turn, exhibit higher expression than normal brain tissue. In light of the results presented here, it will be interesting to use TCGA gene expression data to determine whether PRMT5 expression levels differ by subtype.

While our results offer important insight into the effects of PRMT5 inhibition, it is critical to address discrepancies with existing literature and understand the caveats of our experimental design. First, the possibility exists that treatment of U-87MG cells with EPZ015666 may also affect the other PRMT family members, contributing to some of the transcriptional effects. Although this is a highly specific inhibitor [44], the concentration used for the gene expression analysis may be high enough to lead to secondary inhibition of the other PRMTs. Another possibility is that since PRMT5 and other PRMT family members often compete for the same substrate, PRMT5 inhibition would result in increased activity of the other enzymes. Such an effect has been described for PRMT1, the main type I PRMT, whose loss results in higher levels of methyl marks deposited by Type II and III enzymes [73]. This type of compensation could have important ramifications. For example, the Bedford lab and others have shown that other PRMT family members, PRMT1, PRMT6 and CARM1 also function as NF- κ B coactivators [58, 75, 129, 203]. Therefore, it will be important to determine the levels of the other PRMTs at the protein and mRNA level, as well as their associated methyl marks.

Our results offer a good starting point but remain to be tested in a context that more closely resembles human GBM tumors. While U-87 MG is a widely used human GBM cell line that is easy to grow in culture and transplant intracranially, the limitations of adherent cell lines in resembling *in vivo* tumors are widely appreciated. Furthermore, the incomplete tumor microenvironment these cells develop in upon transplantation into immunocompromised mice hinders the applicability of the results to human tumors. Patient derived gliomaspheres and xenografts, although still lacking the immune system interaction, may complement a mouse syngeneic system and also have been shown to bear resemblance to aspects of human tumors [293, 294]. We are therefore currently extending our studies of PRMT5 loss of function to *in vitro* and *in vivo* patient derived xenograft models of GBM tumors.

While our observation that PRMT5 drives a shift in molecular subtype is based on transcriptome data offering a snapshot in time, with supporting evidence from *in vitro* cellular analyses, it is clear that a multidimensional approach adding protein expression and methylation patterns is necessary for comprehensive subclassification [41]. GBM tumor subtyping based on genetic and epigenetic signatures has been instrumental in revealing and helping to dissect the heterogeneity of this category of tumors. Numerous efforts have been made to replace simple classification schemes based on histological analysis of cellular features with molecular characterizations and biomarkers that can better stratify patients and guide their treatment. However, it has become increasingly clear that tumor heterogeneity adds another layer of complexity and blurs the lines between categories. Single cell sequencing studies have demonstrated that the individual cells that make up a tumor cannot be neatly categorized within the same subgroup, instead, they form a continuum of stemness and proliferation [230]. Perhaps not surprisingly, tumors with higher levels of heterogeneity are associated with poorer clinical outcomes [230], presumably due to their ability to adapt, become resistant, and ultimately repopulate the tumor following therapy. Therefore, while our results demonstrating a shift in cell identity upon PRMT5 inhibition are important for understanding the role of PRMT5 in GBM and the effects of its inhibition at a population level, it is important to remember and appreciate the variability present in patient tumors compared with cell lines.

■ 4.5 Exploring PRMT5 dependencies across tumor cell lines

The gene expression analysis of pathways most correlated with response to EPZ015666 across a panel of tumor cell lines can be used to explore a number of hypotheses. The prominent dependence on splicing and transcription are explored at length in the next section. Comparison of this data with the gene expression signatures following PRMT5 inhibition in U-87 MG cells revealed important similarities. U-87 MG is the most sensitive cell line out of those tested. Therefore, I hypothesized that PRMT5 inhibition in this cell line would result in upregulation of the same pathways that are naturally expressed at higher levels in the more resistant cells, in an effort for these sensitive cells to respond to the drug. Indeed, a broad analysis revealed that resistance was correlated with the Hallmark EMT signature, and Reactome NF- κ B signaling. Strikingly, SNAIL expression was a strong predictor of EPZ015666 resistance in the cell line screen (Pearson correlation = 0.59, p < 0.01), hinting that upregulation of SNAIL may be important for determining resistance in U-87 MG cells, as well as in other cancer cell lines.

Using the cell line screen data, we also addressed the relationship between MTAP and PRMT5, which has been recently described [172, 198]. Using a pooled shRNA screen, the authors described that loss of MTAP, often found to be codeleted with

CDKN2A, sensitizes cells to shRNA mediated PRMT5 loss [172, 198]. However, due to the mechanism of action of EPZ015666, which is dependent on SAM for cooperative binding, MTAP loss is not entirely predictive of effectiveness of PRMT5 inhibition by this drug. As expected, we also found that lower MTAP expression is not well correlated with EPZ015666 sensitivity (Pearson correlation = 0.30, p = 0.22). This indicates that MTAP levels are not entirely predictive of EPZ015666 response, pointing to the possibility that other factors also influence its effects [172, 198]. Still, the possibility of MTAP as a biomarker for PRMT5 inhibitor response merits further consideration. For example, it is interesting to note that MTAP is deleted in as many as half of GBM tumors [172, 198]. Therefore, it would be interesting to test if this correlation would be stronger when considering only the GBM cell lines in the screen. Furthermore, it is important to note that a drug with a different mechanism of PRMT5 inhibition might show a stronger correlation with MTAP loss, closer to the effects of shRNA-mediated depletion.

We found that resistance to EPZ015666 was modestly correlated with PRMT5 expression levels (Pearson correlation = 0.45, p value = 0.06), and this was higher than any of the other PRMT family members. This supports the specificity of EPZ015666 for PRMT5 but also highlights that PRMT5 levels alone are not a strong predictor of response to this inhibitor. While this analysis is notably limited by being performed on *in vitro* cancer cell lines, it does caution that PRMT5 expression level may not serve as a predictive biomarker for responsiveness to EPZ015666. However, it would be interesting to see whether expression levels of a small set of genes could serve as a predictive signature.

■ 4.6 Assessing the disease relevance of PRMT5-regulated splicing

The most widely cited role for PRMT5 in splicing is as the enzymatic component of the methylosome. This complex, composed of the PRMT5:MEP50 hetero-octamer and the adapter protein pICln, is required for methylation of Sm proteins SmB, SmD1, SmD3 and subsequent SMN mediated assembly of snRNPs in the cytoplasm (Friesen, 2001; Meister, 2001; Brahms, 2000; Friesen, 2002). However, our results as well as others [23, 71, 166, 243] also point to a more specific role for PRMT5 in mediating splicing. The *in vitro* screen for EPZ015666 resistance across a panel of cancer cell lines revealed dependencies on spliceosomal components, as well as categories of genes involved in

RNA polymerase II (RNAPII)-mediated transcription. These results could be consistent with separate roles for PRMT5 in splicing and transcription, or a novel function for PRMT5 in mediating co-transcriptional splicing. Indeed, PRMT5 has previously been implicated in transcription and it methylates several splicing factors, separate from its role in snRNP assembly in the cytoplasm [26, 51, 222]. Furthermore, the identification of a subset of detained introns that are regulated by PRMT5 points to a likely role for this methyltransferase in post-transcriptional splicing. As discussed below, these functions may be interrelated and work together to coordinate the effects of PRMT5 on gene expression.

■ 4.6.1 PRMT5 may be involved in co-transcriptional pre-mRNA splicing

Several pieces of evidence point to a function for PRMT5 in RNAPII-mediated transcription. PRMT5 is known to associate with transcription elongation factors SPT4, SPT5 and IWS1, as well as several components of the mediator complex [173, 180, 189, 285]. SPT4 and SPT5 form a complex that modulates RNAPII processivity and elongation [149] and are involved in mRNA capping [305]. SPT5 is methylated by both PRMT1 and PRMT5 on distinct and overlapping residues, regulating its interaction with RNAPII [173].

The roles for PRMT5 in transcription may be associated to a yet undescribed function in mediating co-transcriptional splicing. Such links are now emerging for a handful of other epigenetic regulators, including PRMT1, and their functions could be described by two mechanisms. The first is a kinetic model [192, 211], whereby the involvement of PRMT5 in transcriptional elongation may affect alternative splicing. The second recruitment model [192] involves interaction between splicing machinery and nucleosomes, facilitated by adapter proteins. Importantly, these two models are not mutually exclusive, and may simply represent different aspects of a more inclusive mechanism [192]. This chromatin adapter model purports that nucleosomes containing specific histone marks are recognized by adapter complexes, which in turn bind splicing factors associated with the RNAPII C-terminal domain (CTD). Other epigenetic factors involved in tumorigenesis have recently been described as linking histone modification, RNAPII mediated transcription, and pre-mRNA splicing [40, 121, 177, 193, 256, 304]. These observations echo an unfolding story in Type I PRMT biology. In 2011, a study revealed that the CTD of RNAPII is subject to methylation by both PRMT1 and CARM1, resulting in the recruitment of Tudor domain containing protein TDRD3 [257].

A few years later, the Bedford lab described that TDRD3 complexes with the topoisomerase TOP3B and prevents accumulation of R loops [314]. At the cMYC promoter, PRMT1 and CARM1-mediated asymmetric dimethyl histone modifications are read by TDRD3, which then brings in TOP3B to prevent R loop formation at sites of active transcription [314]. The authors speculate a model in which PRMT1 and CARM1 methylate both histones and the CTD of RNAPII at active promoters. Through recruitment of TDRD3 and TOP3B, R loop accumulation is resolved and transcription progresses [314]. Together with the described roles for CARM1 in splicing [51, 220], it seems plausible that CARM1, and possibly PRMT1, might link chromatin modulation to splicing.

Together, these examples argue for a chromatin code that regulates splicing. It is therefore reasonable to consider that PRMT5, with known roles as an epigenetic modifier, mediates transcription directly through impacting mechanisms governing transcript splicing. The missing piece of the puzzle appears to be an adapter [192], to link together these known roles. These functions might be served by two distinct factors, or one multifunctional complex. I speculate that possible candidates, based on studies in PRMT5 literature, as well as hints in our own data, are SMN, the RNAPH CTD phosphatase FCP1, multifunctional Ewings Sarcoma protein EWSR1, although other candidates, such as CA150, may also exist [51, 111, 244]. Identifying such interactors for PRMT5 may offer new therapeutic targets for modulating certain aspects of PRMT5 function.

A recent report has elegantly expanded the known repertoire of PRMT5 functions by demonstrating an SMN-centric role for PRMT5 in transcriptional termination and the resolution of R loops [323]. R loops are structures composed of an RNA/DNA hybrid and a single stranded DNA that are naturally formed during transcription, and are quickly resolved to prevent DNA damage (reviewed in [258]). Zhao and colleagues found that the RNAPII CTD is methylated competitively on R1810 by PRMT5 and CARM1, and plays a critical role in protecting against extensive R loop formation [323]. The symmetric dimethylation deposited by PRMT5 is read by SMN, which recruits senataxin, an RNA/DNA helicase, important for R loop resolution at sites of transcription termination [259]. Interestingly, Zhao and colleagues speculate that PRMT5 mediated SDMA of R1810 may require a cofactor, which could be FCP1 [323]. Efficient recruitment of senataxin also requires PRMT5-mediated methylation, with SMN therefore bridging the symmetrically dimethylated CTD and senataxin. In line with these observations, R1810 mutation or knockdown of either PRMT5 or SMN resulted in DNA damage, likely due to the genomic instability resulting from inefficient resolution of R loops [323]. Linking these observations to splicing, the authors mention in passing that R1810 mutants show splicing defects, although no data is provided. Furthermore, R loops slow down elongation (reviewed in [236]) and R loop formation hinders spliceosome assembly [282], underscoring the importance of resolving this structure for the maintenance of splicing fidelity. Since we observe increases in certain DNA damage markers after PRMT5 inhibition in U-87 MG cells, it would be interesting to determine whether there is also accumulation of senataxin, pointing to the importance of PRMT5 for R loop resolution in our system.

SMN is known to self-aggregate and serve as a docking site for other factors. Therefore, just as it can bind to CTD and also to symmetrically dimethylated senataxin, it is plausible that SMN could bind to similarly modified nucleosomes. Early on, SMN was described to be localized to nuclear Cajal bodies in an SDMA-dependent manner [25]. These nuclear structures may be important not only to splicing fidelity but to genome organization [296]. Understanding how PRMT5 may function as part of these structures may reveal further complexities of PRMT5 mediated gene regulation.

Other proteins that would be interesting to explore for possible roles linking PRMT5 and co-transcriptional splicing are the RNAPII CTD phosphatase FCP1, and the Ewings sarcoma protein (EWSR1). FCP1 is required for transcriptional elongation, is a substrate for PRMT5, and also interacts with SmB and U1-70K, a U1 snRNP specific protein [6, 184]. PRMT5, while bound by FCP1, was capable of methylating histones H4 and H2A [6]. However, the functional consequences of FCP1 methylation are not yet well understood. EWSR1 is a PRMT5 target [26] that links RNAPII to splicing via the transcription factor YB-1 [46]. Recently, EWSR1 has been described to interact with FUS/TLS, another PRMT5 substrate [26], in regulating transcription and mRNA processing [194]. EWSR1 offers an interesting target for further study because several gene signatures related to its function were observed in our GSEA analysis following PRMT5 inhibition in U-87 MG cells.

■ 4.6.2 Detained introns regulated by PRMT5 point to a role in posttranscriptional splicing

Our colleagues in the Koch Institute have recently described detained introns (DIs) as a novel class of introns that are present in polyadenylated, and therefore otherwise fully transcribed mRNA transcripts [29]. As opposed to the more widely recognized class of retained introns, which occur as a result of alternative splicing, DIs are present in both constitutive and alternatively spliced introns. Retained introns are the result of alternative splicing events and are maintained in the mature mRNA transcript, which is then exported to the cytoplasm. Subsequent translation either results in a protein product, or degradation via nonsense mediated decay (NMD). Meanwhile, persistence of DIs in the mRNA transcript restricts them in the nucleus. Their nuclear localization protects them from NMD, and they do not increase in abundance when NMD is impaired [29]. Importantly, DI-containing genes can produce both DI-containing transcripts and productive, coding isoforms. Of these, only the latter result in protein products. From our data, it is clear that PRMT5 controls the excision of some DIs, while others, found to be overlapping between the EPZ015666 and vehicle treated cells, are controlled independently of PRMT5. Similarly, Clk kinase, which phosphorylates SR protein involved in splicing, also controls a subset of DIs [29]. Some of the Clk-responsive DIs are also regulated by DNA damage, indicating that DIs can be regulated in response to stress signals [29]. This helps formulate the hypothesis that PRMT5 might also respond to cellular stress signals via regulation of DI splicing.

While the majority of splicing occurs co-transcriptionally, an estimated 15-20% occurs post-transcriptionally [109]. Underlining its regulatory nature, it appears that alternative splicing largely takes place post-transcriptionally [209, 280, 289]. Interestingly, using single molecule imaging to visualize splicing reactions, Vargas and colleagues reported that uncoupling transcription from splicing has the potential to regulate specific introns in a transcript independently of other introns, which are removed cotranscriptionally [289]. Others have reported that the post-transcriptional spliceosome is present in nuclear speckles [109], inter-chromatin structures which have long been known to contain splicing components (reviewed in [260]). Previously, most DIs were found to be spliced post-transcriptionally, with a subset occurring co-transcriptionally [29]. Indeed, hnRNPs and SR proteins, which are involved in splicing and are found in nuclear speckles, can also be modified by PRMT5 [26, 283]. While this remains to be verified in our system, it does appear possible that PRMT5 could be involved in regulating post-transcriptional splicing.

A recent report may help in building a more detailed model of the PRMT5's involvement in splicing. In Arabidopsis thaliana, Deng and colleagues found that AtPRMT5mediated AtSm protein methylation is necessary for assembling a non-snRNP protein complex, Prp19, into the U4/U6.U5 tri-snRNP, to form the active spliceosome. In atprmt5 mutants, recruitment of Prp19 could be rescued by gain-of-function mutations in pre-mRNA processing factor 8 (prp8), a protein associated with the U5 snRNP [71]. They present a structural hypothesis, whereby decreased Sm protein methylation in atprmt5 mutants changes the stability of the spliceosome and therefore the recruitment of the Prp19 complex. Mutant Prp8 may slightly change the spliceosomal conformation, overcoming the effects of atprmt5 mutation. Importantly, in line with our data, they also observe increased intron retention and weaker 5' splice sites in atprmt5 mutants. While these results offer an intriguing avenue for further exploring the mechanism of PRMT5-dependent splicing, it remains to be seen whether this proposed mechanism holds true in mammals. It is interesting to note that in a human breast cancer cell line, PRP8 depletion also results in retention of introns with weak 5' splice sites [306]. In light of these data, one could verify whether loss of Prp8, or Prp19 components could phenocopy the splicing defects and patterns observed upon PRMT5 inhibition, and whether PRP8 overexpression could rescue these effects. It would also be interesting to test whether PRP8 overexpression could rescue the proliferative defects observed upon PRMT5 loss or inhibition or how this relates to tumorigenesis in vivo.

We have identified a role for PRMT5 in regulating splicing of detained introns in GBM cells. This agrees with what had been identified previously with PRMT5 loss of function in neuron progenitor cells and mouse embryonic fibroblasts [23]. However, while these introns were previously classified as retained introns, we believe that most of them are more accurately classified as detained introns. It would be important to verify whether the same splicing patterns observed upon PRMT5 inhibition with EPZ015666 hold true with PRMT5 knockdown. Notably, PRMT5 knockout using CRISPR/Cas9 has not been successful in our hands, and has been noted to be lethal [198], underscoring the importance of PRMT5 for cell viability.

As a critical next step, we will determine the overlap between differentially expressed genes and DI containing genes and analyze the relative levels of DI containing transcripts compared to their coding counterparts in response to EPZ015666. Thus far, it appears that while DI containing genes compose a significant fraction of the differentially expressed genes, not surprisingly, there are groups of non-DI containing genes that are modulated following drug treatment. This represents splicing independent mechanisms through which PRMT5 modulates gene expression, possibly directly through its effects as a co-transcriptional regulator or repressor, or indirectly, by affecting growth factor signaling pathways. It will be important to identify whether the genes that are regulated by intron detention upon PRMT5 inhibition belong to certain functional categories. This would help determine whether one of the ways that PRMT5 normally impacts gene expression impinging on a particular pathway or cellular process is by regulating the levels of DIs. However, it is possible that a small subset of pathways will not become apparent, and instead the functional categories will be more reflective of a cross section of PRTM5 functions. Such a result could be expected, given that PRMT5 could use a number of different regulatory roles to impact the same biological function, such as altering transcriptional activity, direct interaction with signaling molecules, and regulation of alternative splicing events.

■ 4.6.3 Building an integrated model for PRMT5 activity

Intron retention is a possible mechanism by which gene expression could be downregulated, independent of changes in transcription [78]. Similarly, DIs could offer a mechanism of regulation whereby DI-containing genes would be contained in the nucleus, unable to be translated. In a study across 16 different cancer types, intron retention was found to be a more prevalent mechanism of regulating gene expression in tumor tissues compared to normal controls [78]. It is perhaps unsurprising then, that in response to PRMT5 inhibition, which undoubtedly perturbs homeostasis, tumor cells with higher expression levels of splicing factors are more resistant to this external stressor. Our results are important in teasing apart the most pertinent aspects of PRMT5 biology for tumorigenesis, perhaps pointing to a common regulatory mechanism that many tumor types would use to respond to PRMT5 inhibition.

Our data demonstrate that PRMT5 inhibition results in a subset of differentially expressed genes, of which a proportion contain DIs. This implies that PRMT5 affects gene expression both through splicing and by modulating transcription of other genes, either directly or indirectly by affecting other cellular processes, such as signaling. If the chromatin adapter model holds true for PRMT5, it might uncover a complex web of transcriptional regulation which PRMT5 helps to fine tune.

At one level, it is possible that the alternative splicing facilitated by PRMT5 is related to the chromatin structure surrounding the affected genes. Potentially, certain histone marks deposited by PRMT5, but not others, could signal for regulation of gene expression by splicing. Additionally, by methylating the RNAPII CTD or different elongation factors, PRMT5 might affect the rate of transcription, which could in turn impact splicing, or may represent an independent mechanism of transcriptional regulation. Finally, at yet another layer of regulation, PRMT5 dependent methylation may regulate post-transcriptional splicing, affecting the binding strength of certain RNA binding proteins, thereby modulating their effects and mediating excision or inclusion of certain DIs. It is possible that during transcription, PRMT5 marks certain DIs for inclusion or exclusion, and this process is completed post-transcriptionally [122]. By regulating DIs, PRMT5 regulates a specific pool of almost fully processed transcripts that are poised for nuclear export and translation in response to specific stresses. It is also plausible that PRMT5 exerts effects on splicing by linking it to mRNA export [122]. Altogether, it is perhaps unsurprising that PRMT5, known to be a pleiotropic protein, links together both long and short term mechanisms of regulating gene expression, via its involvement as a co-transcriptional regulator and splicing mediator, respectively.

■ 4.6.4 Further dissecting the role of PRMT5 in splicing

Our data point to an important role for PRMT5 in modulating gene expression, partially through splicing. These results offer interesting insights into PRMT5 biology and exciting avenues for further exploring the mechanisms behind its functions. While our cell line screen data reveal that high levels of splicing and transcriptional components are correlated to resistance to PRMT5 inhibition, it is possible that this pattern of gene expression mediates cross-resistance to several drugs. Although preliminary results indicate that this is not the case, and the effect is specific to PRMT5 inhibition, we could use CCLE data [16] on responsiveness to different drugs to test the determinants of sensitivity or resistance. Building on this, and since we have TCGA data showing that higher levels of PRMT5 expression are associated with higher grade versus lower grade gliomas (data not shown), it would be interesting to interrogate whether the role of PRMT5 in splicing is relevant to human gliomas. To do this, one could use poly(A) selected RNAseq data from TCGA to look at differences in splicing patterns in tumors expressing high versus low levels of PRMT5, as has been previously reported in breast cancer [78] and clear cell renal cell carcinoma [256].

It will first be important to assess the contribution of PRMT5-dependent Sm protein methylation to PRMT5 mediated splicing of DIs. To do this in a manner that is specific to PRMT5 activity and does not affect snRNP assembly is any other way, one option would be to generate cell lines expressing Sm proteins (SmB, SmD1, SmD3) containing mutations of arginine residues specifically methylated by PRMT5 substrates. We could then assess gene expression and DI changes for these mutants. Next, we could use nuclear and cytoplasmic fractionations to verify that DI-containing transcripts are in fact restricted to the nucleus. To begin to tease apart the mechanism by which PRMT5 modulates splicing, we can also perform nuclear subfractionations. This would allow us to verify the levels of PRMT5 that are associated with the chromatin versus non-chromatin soluble fraction, which is known to be associated with nuclear speckle components such as SR proteins [228]. Given its known functions as a histone modifier, I expect to find PRMT5 in the insoluble chromatin-associated fraction. Its presence together with components of the nuclear speckles would lend weight to the hypothesis of its effects in mediating post-transcriptional splicing. It would also be informative to test the temporal and spatial decoupling of splicing mediated by PRMT5 to better understand what proportion of PRMT5-mediated splicing changes are likely to occur through co-transcriptional versus post-transcriptional splicing mechanisms.

■ 4.7 Conclusion

The field of PRMT5 biology has been rapidly expanding in the past few years and we are on the cusp of exciting advances describing the multifaceted roles of PRMT5 in numerous cancers. With the therapeutic relevance of targeting this protein becoming increasingly apparent, our work demonstrates an exciting advancement in linking the role of PRMT5 in glioblastoma to a complex mechanism for the regulation of gene expression.

Bibliography

- P. Aggarwal, M. D. Lessie, D. I. Lin, L. Pontano, A. B. Gladden, B. Nuskey, A. Goradia, M. A. Wasik, A. J. Klein-Szanto, A. K. Rustgi, et al. Nuclear accumulation of cyclin d1 during s phase inhibits cul4-dependent cdt1 proteolysis and triggers p53-dependent dna rereplication. *Genes & development*, 21(22):2908– 2922, 2007.
- [2] P. Aggarwal, L. P. Vaites, J. K. Kim, H. Mellert, B. Gurung, H. Nakagawa, M. Herlyn, X. Hua, A. K. Rustgi, S. B. McMahon, and J. A. Diehl. Nuclear cyclin D1/CDK4 kinase regulates CUL4 expression and triggers neoplastic growth via activation of the PRMT5 methyltransferase. *Cancer Cell*, 18(4):329–340, 2010.
- [3] N. Ahuja, H. Easwaran, and S. B. Baylin. Harnessing the potential of epigenetic therapy to target solid tumors. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 124(1):56–63, 2014.
- [4] L. Alinari, K. V. Mahasenan, F. Yan, V. Karkhanis, J. H. Chung, E. M. Smith, C. Quinion, P. L. Smith, L. Kim, J. T. Patton, R. Lapalombella, B. Yu, Y. Wu, S. Roy, A. De Leo, S. Pileri, C. Agostinelli, L. Ayers, J. E. Bradner, S. Chen-Kiang, O. Elemento, T. Motiwala, S. Majumder, J. C. Byrd, S. Jacob, S. Sif, C. Li, and R. A. Baiocchi. Selective inhibition of protein arginine methyltransferase 5 blocks initiation and maintenance of B-cell transformation. *Blood*, 125(16):2530– 2543, 2015.
- [5] V. Allfrey, R. Faulkner, and A. Mirsky. Acetylation and methylation of histones and their possible role in the regulation of rna synthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 51(5):786–794, 1964.
- [6] S. Amente, G. Napolitano, P. Licciardo, M. Monti, P. Pucci, L. Lania, and B. Majello. Identification of proteins interacting with the rnapii fcp1 phosphatase: Fcp1 forms a complex with arginine methyltransferase prmt5 and it is a substrate for prmt5-mediated methylation. *FEBS letters*, 579(3):683–689, 2005.
- [7] K. Ancelin, U. C. Lange, P. Hajkova, R. Schneider, A. J. Bannister, T. Kouzarides, and M. A. Surani. Blimp1 associates with Prmt5 and directs histone arginine methylation in mouse germ cells. *Nat Cell Biol*, 8(6):623–630, 2006.

- [8] S. Anders, A. Reyes, and W. Huber. Detecting differential usage of exons from rna-seq data. *Genome research*, 22(10):2008-2017, 2012.
- [9] P. Andreu-Perez, R. Esteve-Puig, C. de Torre-Minguela, M. López-Fauqued, J. J. Bech-Serra, S. Tenbaum, E. R. García-Trevijano, F. Canals, G. Merlino, M. A. Ávila, et al. Protein arginine methyltransferase 5 regulates erk1/2 signal transduction amplitude and cell fate through craf. Sci. Signal., 4(190):ra58-ra58, 2011.
- [10] S. Antonysamy, Z. Bonday, R. M. Campbell, B. Doyle, Z. Druzina, T. Gheyi, B. Han, L. N. Jungheim, Y. Qian, C. Rauch, et al. Crystal structure of the human prmt5: Mep50 complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(44):17960-17965, 2012.
- [11] C. H. Arrowsmith, C. Bountra, P. V. Fish, K. Lee, and M. Schapira. Epigenetic protein families: a new frontier for drug discovery. *Nature reviews. Drug discovery*, 11(5):384–400, may 2012.
- [12] J. E. Audia and R. M. Campbell. Histone modifications and cancer. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 8(4):a019521, 2016.
- [13] Y. K. Banasavadi-Siddegowda, L. Russell, E. Frair, V. A. Karkhanis, T. Relation, J. Y. Yoo, J. Zhang, S. Sif, J. Imitola, R. Baiocchi, and B. Kaur. PRMT5PTEN molecular pathway regulates senescence and self-renewal of primary glioblastoma neurosphere cells. *Oncogene*, (April):1–12, 2016.
- [14] X. Bao, S. Zhao, T. Liu, Y. Liu, Y. Liu, and X. Yang. Overexpression of prmt5 promotes tumor cell growth and is associated with poor disease prognosis in epithelial ovarian cancer. Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry, 61(3):206-217, 2013.
- [15] C. A. Barker, A. J. Bishop, M. Chang, K. Beal, and T. A. Chan. Valproic acid use during radiation therapy for glioblastoma associated with improved survival. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology** *Biology** *Physics*, 86(3):504–509, 2013.
- [16] J. Barretina, G. Caponigro, N. Stransky, K. Venkatesan, A. A. Margolin, S. Kim, C. J. Wilson, J. Lehár, G. V. Kryukov, D. Sonkin, A. Reddy, M. Liu, L. Murray, M. F. Berger, J. E. Monahan, P. Morais, J. Meltzer, A. Korejwa, J. Jané-Valbuena, F. A. Mapa, J. Thibault, E. Bric-Furlong, P. Raman, A. Shipway, I. H. Engels, J. Cheng, G. K. Yu, J. Yu, P. Aspesi, M. de Silva, K. Jagtap, M. D. Jones, L. Wang, C. Hatton, E. Palescandolo, S. Gupta, S. Mahan, C. Sougnez, R. C. Onofrio, T. Liefeld, L. MacConaill, W. Winckler, M. Reich, N. Li, J. P. Mesirov, S. B. Gabriel, G. Getz, K. Ardlie, V. Chan, V. E. Myer, B. L. Weber, J. Porter, M. Warmuth, P. Finan, J. L. Harris, M. Meyerson, T. R. Golub, M. P. Morrissey, W. R. Sellers, R. Schlegel, and L. A. Garraway. The Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia enables predictive modelling of anticancer drug sensitivity. *Nature*, 483(7391):603-7, 2012.

- [17] S. B. Baylin and P. A. Jones. A decade of exploring the cancer epigenome biological and translational implications. *Nature reviews. Cancer*, 11(10):726–34, 2011.
- [18] S. B. Baylin and P. A. Jones. Epigenetic determinants of cancer. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, page a019505, 2016.
- [19] M. T. Bedford. Arginine methylation at a glance. Journal of Cell Science, 120:4243-4246, 2007.
- [20] M. T. Bedford and S. G. Clarke. Protein Arginine Methylation in Mammals: Who, What, and Why. *Molecular Cell*, 33(1):1–13, 2009.
- [21] B. E. Bernstein, T. S. Mikkelsen, X. Xie, M. Kamal, D. J. Huebert, J. Cuff, B. Fry, A. Meissner, M. Wernig, K. Plath, R. Jaenisch, A. Wagschal, R. Feil, S. L. Schreiber, and E. S. Lander. A Bivalent Chromatin Structure Marks Key Developmental Genes in Embryonic Stem Cells. *Cell*, 125(2):315–326, 2006.
- [22] S. Beronja, P. Janki, E. Heller, W.-H. Lien, B. E. Keyes, N. Oshimori, and E. Fuchs. RNAi screens in mice identify physiological regulators of oncogenic growth. *Nature*, 501(7466):185–90, sep 2013.
- [23] M. Bezzi, S. X. Teo, J. Muller, W. C. Mok, S. K. Sahu, L. a. Vardy, Z. Q. Bonday, and E. Guccione. Regulation of constitutive and alternative splicing by PRMT5 reveals a role for Mdm4 pre-mRNA in sensing defects in the spliceosomal machinery. *Genes and Development*, 27:1903–1916, 2013.
- [24] K. P. L. Bhat, V. Balasubramaniyan, B. Vaillant, R. Ezhilarasan, K. Hummelink, F. Hollingsworth, K. Wani, L. Heathcock, J. D. James, L. D. Goodman, S. Conroy, L. Long, N. Lelic, S. Wang, J. Gumin, D. Raj, Y. Kodama, A. Raghunathan, A. Olar, K. Joshi, C. E. Pelloski, A. Heimberger, S. H. Kim, D. P. Cahill, G. Rao, W. F. a. Den Dunnen, H. W. G. M. Boddeke, H. S. Phillips, I. Nakano, F. F. Lang, H. Colman, E. P. Sulman, and K. Aldape. Mesenchymal differentiation mediated by NF-κB promotes radiation resistance in glioblastoma. *Cancer cell*, 24(3):331–46, oct 2013.
- [25] F. M. Boisvert, J. Cote, M. C. Boulanger, P. Cleroux, F. Bachand, C. Autexier, and S. Richard. Symmetrical dimethylarginine methylation is required for the localization of SMN in Cajal bodies and pre-mRNA splicing. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 159(6):957–969, 2002.
- [26] F.-M. Boisvert, J. Côté, M.-C. Boulanger, and S. Richard. A proteomic analysis of arginine-methylated protein complexes. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics*, 2(12):1319–1330, 2003.
- [27] A. Borodovsky, V. Salmasi, S. Turcan, A. W. Fabius, G. Baia, C. G. Eberhart, J. D. Weingart, G. L. Gallia, S. B. Baylin, T. A. Chan, et al. 5-azacytidine

reduces methylation, promotes differentiation and induces tumor regression in a patient-derived idh1 mutant glioma xenograft. Oncotarget, 4(10):1737-1747, 2013.

- [28] A. Bottger, M. S. Islam, R. Chowdhury, C. J. Schofield, and A. Wolf. The oxygenase jmjd6-a case study in conflicting assignments. *Biochemical Journal*, 468(2):191-202, 2015.
- [29] P. L. Boutz, A. Bhutkar, and P. A. Sharp. Detained introns are a novel, widespread class of post-transcriptionally spliced introns. *Genes and Development*, 29(1):63– 80, 2015.
- [30] T. Boveri. Zur frage der entstehung maligner tumoren. Gustav Fischer, 1914.
- [31] H. Brahms, J. Raymackers, A. Union, F. De Keyser, L. Meheus, and R. Lührmann. The C-terminal RG dipeptide repeats of the spliceosomal Sm proteins D1 and D3 contain symmetrical dimethylarginines, which form a major B-cell epitope for anti-Sm autoantibodies. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(22):17122-17129, 2000.
- [32] T. L. Branscombe, A. Frankel, J. H. Lee, J. R. Cook, Z. H. Yang, S. Pestka, and S. Clarke. PRMT5 (Janus Kinase-binding Protein 1) Catalyzes the Formation of Symmetric Dimethylarginine Residues in Proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(35):32971–32976, 2001.
- [33] C. J. Braun and M. T. Hemann. Unraveling tumor suppressor networks with in vivo RNAi. *Cell stem cell*, 12(6):639–41, jun 2013.
- [34] M. Bredel, C. Bredel, D. Juric, G. E. Duran, X. Y. Ron, G. R. Harsh, H. Vogel, L. D. Recht, A. C. Scheck, and B. I. Sikic. Tumor necrosis factor- α -induced protein 3 as a putative regulator of nuclear factor- κ b-mediated resistance to o6alkylating agents in human glioblastomas. *Journal of clinical oncology*, 24(2):274– 287, 2006.
- [35] C. W. Brennan, R. G. W. Verhaak, A. McKenna, B. Campos, H. Noushmehr, S. R. Salama, S. Zheng, D. Chakravarty, J. Z. Sanborn, S. H. Berman, R. Beroukhim, B. Bernard, C. J. Wu, G. Genovese, I. Shmulevich, J. Barnholtz-Sloan, L. Zou, R. Vegesna, S. A. Shukla, G. Ciriello, W. K. Yung, W. Zhang, C. Sougnez, T. Mikkelsen, K. Aldape, D. D. Bigner, E. G. Van Meir, M. Prados, A. Sloan, K. L. Black, J. Eschbacher, G. Finocchiaro, W. Friedman, D. W. Andrews, A. Guha, M. Iacocca, B. P. O'Neill, G. Foltz, J. Myers, D. J. Weisenberger, R. Penny, R. Kucherlapati, C. M. Perou, D. N. Hayes, R. Gibbs, M. Marra, G. B. Mills, E. Lander, P. Spellman, R. Wilson, C. Sander, J. Weinstein, M. Meyerson, S. Gabriel, P. W. Laird, D. Haussler, G. Getz, L. Chin, C. Benz, W. Barrett, Q. Ostrom, Y. Wolinsky, B. Bose, P. T. Boulos, M. Boulos, J. Brown, C. Czerinski, M. Eppley, T. Kempista, T. Kitko, Y. Koyfman, B. Rabeno, P. Rastogi, M. Sug-

arman, P. Swanson, K. Yalamanchii, I. P. Otev, Y. S. Liu, Y. Xiao, J. T. Auman, P. C. Chen, A. Hadjipanayis, E. Lee, S. Lee, P. J. Park, J. Seidman, L. Yang, S. Kalkanis, L. M. Poisson, A. Raghunathan, L. Scarpace, R. Bressler, A. Eakin, L. Iype, R. B. Kreisberg, K. Leinonen, S. Reynolds, H. Rovira, V. Thorsson, M. J. Annala, J. Paulauskis, E. Curley, M. Hatfield, D. Mallery, S. Morris, T. Shelton, C. Shelton, M. Sherman, P. Yena, L. Cuppini, F. DiMeco, M. Eoli, E. Maderna, B. Pollo, M. Saini, S. Balu, K. A. Hoadley, L. Li, C. R. Miller, Y. Shi, M. D. Topal, J. Wu, G. Dunn, C. Giannini, B. A. Aksoy, Y. Antipin, L. Borsu, E. Cerami, J. Gao, B. Gross, A. Jacobsen, M. Ladanvi, A. Lash, Y. Liang, B. Reva, N. Schultz, R. Shen, N. D. Socci, A. Viale, M. L. Ferguson, Q. R. Chen, J. A. Demchok, L. A. L. Dillon, K. R. Mills Shaw, M. Sheth, R. Tarnuzzer, Z. Wang, L. Yang, T. Davidsen, M. S. Guyer, B. A. Ozenberger, H. J. Sofia, J. Bergsten, J. Eckman, J. Harr, C. Smith, K. Tucker, C. Winemiller, L. A. Zach, J. Y. Ljubimova, G. Eley, B. Ayala, M. A. Jensen, A. Kahn, T. D. Pihl, D. A. Pot, Y. Wan, N. Hansen, P. Hothi, B. Lin, N. Shah, J. G. Yoon, C. Lau, M. Berens, K. Ardlie, S. L. Carter, A. D. Cherniack, M. Noble, J. Cho, K. Cibulskis, D. DiCara, S. Frazer, S. B. Gabriel, N. Gehlenborg, J. Gentry, D. Heiman, J. Kim, R. Jing, E. S. Lander, M. Lawrence, P. Lin, W. Mallard, R. C. Onofrio, G. Saksena, S. Schumacher, P. Stojanov, B. Tabak, D. Voet, H. Zhang, N. N. Dees, L. Ding, L. L. Fulton, R. S. Fulton, K. L. Kanchi, E. R. Mardis, R. K. Wilson, S. B. Baylin, L. Harshyne, M. L. Cohen, K. Devine, A. E. Sloan, S. R. Van Den Berg, M. S. Berger, D. Carlin, B. Craft, K. Ellrott, M. Goldman, T. Goldstein, M. Grifford, S. Ma, S. Ng, J. Stuart, T. Swatloski, P. Waltman, J. Zhu, R. Foss, B. Frentzen, R. McTiernan, A. Yachnis, Y. Mao, R. Akbani, O. Bogler, G. N. Fuller, W. Liu, Y. Liu, Y. Lu, A. Protopopov, X. Ren, Y. Sun, W. K. A. Yung, J. Zhang, K. Chen, J. N. Weinstein, M. S. Bootwalla, P. H. Lai, T. J. Triche, D. J. Van Den Berg, D. H. Gutmann, N. L. Lehman, D. Brat, J. J. Olson, G. M. Mastrogianakis, N. S. Devi, Z. Zhang, E. Lipp, and R. McLendon. The somatic genomic landscape of glioblastoma. Cell, 155(2):462-477, 2013.

- [36] A. Bric, C. Miething, C. U. Bialucha, C. Scuoppo, L. Zender, A. Krasnitz, Z. Xuan, J. Zuber, M. Wigler, J. Hicks, R. W. McCombie, M. T. Hemann, G. J. Hannon, S. Powers, and S. W. Lowe. Functional Identification of Tumor-Suppressor Genes through an In Vivo RNA Interference Screen in a Mouse Lymphoma Model. *Cancer Cell*, 16(4):324–335, 2009.
- [37] G. L. Brien, D. G. Valerio, and S. A. Armstrong. Exploiting the epigenome to control cancer-promoting gene-expression programs. *Cancer cell*, 29(4):464–476, 2016.
- [38] D. P. Cahill, K. K. Levine, R. A. Betensky, P. J. Codd, C. A. Romany, L. B. Reavie, T. T. Batchelor, P. A. Futreal, M. R. Stratton, W. T. Curry, et al. Loss of the mismatch repair protein msh6 in human glioblastomas is associated

with tumor progression during temozolomide treatment. *Clinical cancer research*, 13(7):2038–2045, 2007.

- [39] Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network et al. Comprehensive, integrative genomic analysis of diffuse lower-grade gliomas. N Engl J Med, 2015(372):2481– 2498, 2015.
- [40] S. Carvalho, A. C. Raposo, F. B. Martins, A. R. Grosso, S. C. Sridhara, J. Rino, M. Carmo-Fonseca, and S. F. de Almeida. Histone methyltransferase setd2 coordinates fact recruitment with nucleosome dynamics during transcription. *Nucleic* acids research, 41(5):2881–2893, 2013.
- [41] M. Ceccarelli, F. P. Barthel, T. M. Malta, T. S. Sabedot, S. R. Salama, B. A. Murray, O. Morozova, Y. Newton, A. Radenbaugh, S. M. Pagnotta, S. Anjum, J. Wang, G. Manyam, P. Zoppoli, S. Ling, A. A. Rao, M. Grifford, A. D. Cherniack, H. Zhang, L. Poisson, C. G. Carlotti, D. P. D. C. Tirapelli, A. Rao, T. Mikkelsen, C. C. Lau, W. K. A. Yung, R. Rabadan, J. Huse, D. J. Brat, N. L. Lehman, J. S. Barnholtz-Sloan, S. Zheng, K. Hess, G. Rao, M. Meyerson, R. Beroukhim, L. Cooper, R. Akbani, M. Wrensch, D. Haussler, K. D. Aldape, P. W. Laird, D. H. Gutmann, H. Noushmehr, A. Iavarone, and R. G. W. Verhaak. Molecular Profiling Reveals Biologically Discrete Subsets and Pathways of Progression in Diffuse Glioma. *Cell*, 164(3):550–563, 2016.
- [42] Celgene Corporation. A phase 1, open-label, multicenter, randomized, 2period crossover study to evaluate the bioequivalence of cc-486 (oral azacitidine) tablets in adult cancer subjects. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02223052?term=5-azacytidine+glioma&rank=1/, 2000. Online; accessed 5-Sept-2016. NLM Identifier: NCT02223052.
- [43] M. C. Chamberlain. Anticancer therapies and cns relapse: overcoming bloodbrain and blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier impermeability. *Expert review of neu*rotherapeutics, 10(4):547-561, 2010.
- [44] E. Chan-Penebre, K. G. Kuplast, C. R. Majer, P. A. Boriack-Sjodin, T. J. Wigle, L. D. Johnston, N. Rioux, M. J. Munchhof, L. Jin, S. L. Jacques, K. A. West, T. Lingaraj, K. Stickland, S. A. Ribich, A. Raimondi, M. P. Scott, N. J. Waters, R. M. Pollock, J. J. Smith, O. Barbash, M. Pappalardi, T. F. Ho, K. Nurse, K. P. Oza, K. T. Gallagher, R. Kruger, M. P. Moyer, R. A. Copeland, R. Chesworth, and K. W. Duncan. A selective inhibitor of PRMT5 with in vivo and in vitro potency in MCL models. *Nature chemical biology*, 11(6):432–437, 2015.
- [45] B. Chang, Y. Chen, Y. Zhao, and R. K. Bruick. Jmjd6 is a histone arginine demethylase. *Science*, 318(5849):444-447, 2007.
- [46] H. A. Chansky, M. Hu, D. D. Hickstein, and L. Yang. Oncogenic tls/erg and

ews/fli-1 fusion proteins inhibit rna splicing mediated by yb-1 protein. *Cancer* research, 61(9):3586-3590, 2001.

- [47] A. Chari, M. M. Golas, M. Klingenhager, N. Neuenkirchen, B. Sander, C. Englbrecht, A. Sickmann, H. Stark, and U. Fischer. An Assembly Chaperone Collaborates with the SMN Complex to Generate Spliceosomal SnRNPs. *Cell*, 135(3):497–509, 2008.
- [48] L. C. G. Chase, M. S. G. Rao, and M. S. Vemuri. Mesenchymal Stem Cell Assays and Applications Methods in Molecular Biology. *Methods*, 698(5):534, 2011.
- [49] H. Chen, B. Lorton, V. Gupta, and D. Shechter. A TGFβ-PRMT5-MEP50 axis regulates cancer cell invasion through histone H3 and H4 arginine methylation coupled transcriptional activation and repression. Oncogene, (April):1-14, 2016.
- [50] R. Chen, A. L. Cohen, and H. Colman. Targeted therapeutics in patients with high-grade gliomas: past, present, and future. *Current treatment options in oncology*, 17(8):1–11, 2016.
- [51] D. Cheng, J. Cote, S. Shaaban, and M. T. Bedford. The Arginine Methyltransferase CARM1 Regulates the Coupling of Transcription and mRNA Processing. *Molecular Cell*, 25(1):71–83, 2007.
- [52] O. L. Chinot, W. Wick, W. Mason, R. Henriksson, F. Saran, R. Nishikawa, A. F. Carpentier, K. Hoang-Xuan, P. Kavan, D. Cernea, et al. Bevacizumab plus radiotherapy-temozolomide for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 370(8):709-722, 2014.
- [53] A. Chittka, J. Nitarska, U. Grazini, and W. D. Richardson. Transcription factor positive regulatory domain 4 (prdm4) recruits protein arginine methyltransferase 5 (prmt5) to mediate histone arginine methylation and control neural stem cell proliferation and differentiation. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 287(51):42995– 43006, 2012.
- [54] E.-C. Cho, S. Zheng, S. Munro, G. Liu, S. M. Carr, J. Moehlenbrink, Y.-C. Lu, L. Stimson, O. Khan, R. Konietzny, J. McGouran, A. S. Coutts, B. Kessler, D. J. Kerr, and N. B. L. Thangue. Arginine methylation controls growth regulation by E2F-1. *The EMBO Journal*, 31(7):1785–1797, 2012.
- [55] K. Chung, J. Wallace, S.-Y. Kim, S. Kalyanasundaram, A. S. Andalman, T. J. Davidson, J. J. Mirzabekov, K. a. Zalocusky, J. Mattis, A. K. Denisin, S. Pak, H. Bernstein, C. Ramakrishnan, L. Grosenick, V. Gradinaru, and K. Deisseroth. Structural and molecular interrogation of intact biological systems. *Nature*, 497(7449):332-7, may 2013.
- [56] M. J. Clark, N. Homer, B. D. O'Connor, Z. Chen, A. Eskin, H. Lee, B. Merriman,

and S. F. Nelson. U87mg decoded: the genomic sequence of a cytogenetically aberrant human cancer cell line. *PLoS Genet*, 6(1):e1000832, 2010.

- [57] J. Clarke, C. Penas, C. Pastori, R. J. Komotar, A. Bregy, A. H. Shah, C. Wahlestedt, and N. G. Ayad. Epigenetic pathways and glioblastoma treatment. *Epigenetics*, 8(8):785-795, 2013.
- [58] M. Covic, P. O. Hassa, S. Saccani, C. Buerki, N. I. Meier, C. Lombardi, R. Imhof, M. T. Bedford, G. Natoli, and M. O. Hottiger. Arginine methyltransferase carm1 is a promoter-specific regulator of nf-κb-dependent gene expression. *The EMBO journal*, 24(1):85–96, 2005.
- [59] A. D. Cox and C. J. Der. Ras history: The saga continues. Small GTPases, 1(1):2-27, 2010.
- [60] D. Croft, A. F. Mundo, R. Haw, M. Milacic, J. Weiser, G. Wu, M. Caudy, P. Garapati, M. Gillespie, M. R. Kamdar, et al. The reactome pathway knowledgebase. *Nucleic acids research*, 42(D1):D472–D477, 2014.
- [61] G. E. Crooks, G. Hon, J.-M. Chandonia, and S. E. Brenner. Weblogo: a sequence logo generator. *Genome research*, 14(6):1188–1190, 2004.
- [62] C. S. Dacwag, M. T. Bedford, S. Sif, and A. N. Imbalzano. Distinct Protein Arginine Methyltransferases Promote ATP-Dependent Chromatin Remodeling Function at Different Stages of Skeletal Muscle Differentiation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 29(7):1909–1921, 2009.
- [63] C. S. Dacwag, Y. Ohkawa, S. Pal, S. Sif, and A. N. Imbalzano. The Protein Arginine Methyltransferase Prmt5 Is Required for Myogenesis because It Facilitates ATP-Dependent Chromatin Remodeling. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 27(1):384–394, 2007.
- [64] Z. Dai, J. M. Sheridan, L. J. Gearing, D. L. Moore, S. Su, S. Wormald, S. Wilcox, L. O'Connor, R. A. Dickins, M. E. Blewitt, et al. edger: a versatile tool for the analysis of shrna-seq and crispr-cas9 genetic screens. *F1000Research*, 3, 2014.
- [65] L. Dang, D. W. White, S. Gross, B. D. Bennett, M. a. Bittinger, E. M. Driggers, V. R. Fantin, H. G. Jang, S. Jin, M. C. Keenan, K. M. Marks, R. M. Prins, P. S. Ward, K. E. Yen, L. M. Liau, J. D. Rabinowitz, L. C. Cantley, C. B. Thompson, M. G. Vander Heiden, and S. M. Su. Cancer-associated IDH1 mutations produce 2-hydroxyglutarate. *Nature*, 462(7274):739–44, dec 2009.
- [66] M. Dawson and T. Kouzarides. Cancer epigenetics: from mechanism to therapy. Cell, 150(1):12–27, jul 2012.
- [67] M. R. Dawson, S.-S. Chae, R. K. Jain, and D. G. Duda. Direct Evidence for lineage-dependent effects of bone marrow stromal cells on tumor progression. *American Journal of Cancer Research*, 1(2):144–154, 2011.

- [68] E. de Wit and W. de Laat. A decade of 3c technologies: insights into nuclear organization. Genes & development, 26(1):11-24, 2012.
- [69] C. DeBoever, E. M. Ghia, P. J. Shepard, L. Rassenti, C. L. Barrett, K. Jepsen, C. H. Jamieson, D. Carson, T. J. Kipps, and K. A. Frazer. Transcriptome sequencing reveals potential mechanism of cryptic 3splice site selection in sf3b1-mutated cancers. *PLoS Comput Biol*, 11(3):e1004105, 2015.
- [70] J. E. Delmore, G. C. Issa, M. E. Lemieux, P. B. Rahl, J. Shi, H. M. Jacobs, E. Kastritis, T. Gilpatrick, R. M. Paranal, J. Qi, M. Chesi, A. C. Schinzel, M. R. McKeown, T. P. Heffernan, C. R. Vakoc, P. L. Bergsagel, I. M. Ghobrial, P. G. Richardson, R. A. Young, W. C. Hahn, K. C. Anderson, A. L. Kung, J. E. Bradner, and C. S. Mitsiades. BET bromodomain inhibition as a therapeutic strategy to target c-Myc. *Cell*, 146(6):904–917, 2011.
- [71] X. Deng, T. Lu, L. Wang, L. Gu, J. Sun, X. Kong, C. Liu, and X. Cao. Recruitment of the NineTeen Complex to the activated spliceosome requires AtPRMT5. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(19):201522458, 2016.
- [72] C. J. Der, T. G. Krontiris, and G. M. Cooper. Transforming genes of human bladder and lung carcinoma cell lines are homologous to the ras genes of harvey and kirsten sarcoma viruses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 79(11):3637–3640, 1982.
- [73] R. S. Dhar, S. G. Razavipour, E. Dupont, C. Xu, S. Laframboise, Z. Wasilewski, Q. Hu, and D. Ban. Direct nanoscale imaging of evolving electric field domains in quantum structures. *Scientific reports*, 4, 2014.
- [74] A. Di Lorenzo and M. T. Bedford. Histone arginine methylation. FEBS letters, 585(13):2024–2031, 2011.
- [75] A. Di Lorenzo, Y. Yang, M. Macaluso, and M. T. Bedford. A gain-of-function mouse model identifies prmt6 as a nf-κb coactivator. *Nucleic acids research*, page gku530, 2014.
- [76] A. Dobin, C. A. Davis, F. Schlesinger, J. Drenkow, C. Zaleski, S. Jha, P. Batut, M. Chaisson, and T. R. Gingeras. Star: ultrafast universal rna-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics*, 29(1):15–21, 2013.
- [77] R. Dulbecco. Sequencing the human. Science, 1986.
- [78] H. Dvinge and R. K. Bradley. Widespread intron retention diversifies most cancer transcriptomes. *Genome medicine*, 7(1):45, 2015.
- [79] H. Dvinge, E. Kim, O. Abdel-Wahab, and R. K. Bradley. RNA splicing factors as oncoproteins and tumour suppressors. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 16(7):413–430, 2016.

- [80] H. Easwaran, H. C. Tsai, and S. B. Baylin. Cancer Epigenetics: Tumor Heterogeneity, Plasticity of Stem-like States, and Drug Resistance. *Molecular Cell*, 54(5):716-727, 2014.
- [81] J. E. Eckel-Passow, D. H. Lachance, A. M. Molinaro, K. M. Walsh, P. A. Decker, H. Sicotte, M. Pekmezci, T. Rice, M. L. Kosel, I. V. Smirnov, G. Sarkar, A. A. Caron, T. M. Kollmeyer, C. E. Praska, A. R. Chada, C. Halder, H. M. Hansen, L. S. McCoy, P. M. Bracci, R. Marshall, S. Zheng, G. F. Reis, A. R. Pico, B. P. O'Neill, J. C. Buckner, C. Giannini, J. T. Huse, A. Perry, T. Tihan, M. S. Berger, S. M. Chang, M. D. Prados, J. Wiemels, J. K. Wiencke, M. R. Wrensch, and R. B. Jenkins. Glioma Groups Based on 1p/19q, IDH, and TERT Promoter Mutations in Tumors. *The New England journal of medicine*, 372(26):2499–508, 2015.
- [82] D. Eckert, K. Biermann, D. Nettersheim, A. J. M. Gillis, K. Steger, H.-M. Jäck, A. M. Müller, L. H. J. Looijenga, and H. Schorle. Expression of BLIMP1/PRMT5 and concurrent histone H2A/H4 arginine 3 dimethylation in fetal germ cells, CIS/IGCNU and germ cell tumors. BMC developmental biology, 8(1):106, 2008.
- [83] M. Ehrlich and M. Lacey. Dna hypomethylation and hemimethylation in cancer. In *Epigenetic Alterations in Oncogenesis*, pages 31–56. Springer, 2013.
- [84] A. Fabregat, K. Sidiropoulos, P. Garapati, M. Gillespie, K. Hausmann, R. Haw, B. Jassal, S. Jupe, F. Korninger, S. McKay, et al. The reactome pathway knowledgebase. *Nucleic acids research*, 44(D1):D481–D487, 2016.
- [85] A. P. Feinberg and B. Tycko. The history of cancer epigenetics. Nature reviews. Cancer, 4(2):143–153, 2004.
- [86] A. P. Feinberg and B. Vogelstein. Hypomethylation of ras oncogenes in primary human cancers. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 111(1):47-54, 1983.
- [87] C. Fellmann, T. Hoffmann, V. Sridhar, B. Hopfgartner, M. Muhar, M. Roth, D. Y. Lai, I. A. M. Barbosa, J. S. Kwon, Y. Guan, N. Sinha, and J. Zuber. An optimized microRNA backbone for effective single-copy RNAi. *Cell Reports*, 5(6):1704–1713, 2013.
- [88] Y. Feng, J. Wang, S. Asher, L. Hoang, C. Guardiani, I. Ivanov, and Y. G. Zheng. Histone H4 acetylation differentially modulates arginine methylation by an in cis mechanism. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(23):20323-20334, 2011.
- [89] M. E. Figueroa, O. Abdel-Wahab, C. Lu, P. S. Ward, J. Patel, A. Shih, Y. Li, N. Bhagwat, A. Vasanthakumar, H. F. Fernandez, et al. Leukemic idh1 and idh2 mutations result in a hypermethylation phenotype, disrupt tet2 function, and impair hematopoietic differentiation. *Cancer cell*, 18(6):553–567, 2010.
- [90] P. Filippakopoulos, J. Qi, S. Picaud, Y. Shen, W. B. Smith, O. Fedorov, E. M.

Morse, T. Keates, T. T. Hickman, I. Felletar, et al. Selective inhibition of bet bromodomains. *Nature*, 468(7327):1067–1073, 2010.

- [91] U. Fischer, C. Englbrecht, and A. Chari. Biogenesis of spliceosomal small nuclear ribonucleoproteins. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: RNA*, 2(5):718-731, 2011.
- [92] W. A. Flavahan, Y. Drier, B. B. Liau, S. M. Gillespie, A. S. Venteicher, A. O. Stemmer-Rachamimov, M. L. Suvà, and B. E. Bernstein. Insulator dysfunction and oncogene activation in IDH mutant gliomas. *Nature*, 529(7584):110–114, 2015.
- [93] H. S. Friedman, M. D. Prados, P. Y. Wen, T. Mikkelsen, D. Schiff, L. E. Abrey, W. A. Yung, N. Paleologos, M. K. Nicholas, R. Jensen, et al. Bevacizumab alone and in combination with irinotecan in recurrent glioblastoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27(28):4733–4740, 2009.
- [94] S. H. Friend, R. Bernards, S. Rogelj, R. A. Weinberg, J. M. Rapaport, D. M. Albert, and T. P. Dryja. A human dna segment with properties of the gene that predisposes to retinoblastoma and osteosarcoma. *Nature*, 323(6089):643-646, 1986.
- [95] W. J. Friesen, S. Paushkin, a. Wyce, S. Massenet, G. S. Pesiridis, G. Van Duyne, J. Rappsilber, M. Mann, and G. Dreyfuss. The methylosome, a 20S complex containing JBP1 and pICln, produces dimethylarginine-modified Sm proteins. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 21(24):8289–300, 2001.
- [96] W. J. Friesen, A. Wyce, S. Paushkin, L. Abel, J. Rappsilber, M. Mann, and G. Dreyfuss. A novel WD repeat protein component of the methylosome binds Sm proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(10):8243-8247, 2002.
- [97] D. Fu, J. a. Calvo, and L. D. Samson. Balancing repair and tolerance of DNA damage caused by alkylating agents. *Nature reviews. Cancer*, 12(2):104–20, mar 2012.
- [98] M. Gallardo, H. J. Lee, X. Zhang, C. Bueso-Ramos, L. R. Pageon, M. McArthur, A. Multani, A. Nazha, T. Manshouri, J. Parker-Thornburg, et al. hnrnp k is a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor that regulates proliferation and differentiation programs in hematologic malignancies. *Cancer cell*, 28(4):486–499, 2015.
- [99] M. Gallo, F. J. Coutinho, R. J. Vanner, T. Gayden, S. C. Mack, A. Murison, M. Remke, R. Li, N. Takayama, K. Desai, et al. Mll5 orchestrates a cancer selfrenewal state by repressing the histone variant h3. 3 and globally reorganizing chromatin. *Cancer cell*, 28(6):715–729, 2015.
- [100] M. A. Gama-Sosa, V. A. Slagel, R. W. Trewyn, R. Oxenhandler, K. C. Kuo, C. W. Gehrke, and M. Ehrlich. The 5-methylcytosine content of dna from human tumors. *Nucleic acids research*, 11(19):6883–6894, 1983.

- [101] Y. Gao, Y. Zhao, J. Zhang, Y. Lu, X. Liu, P. Geng, B. Huang, Y. Zhang, and J. Lu. The dual function of PRMT1 in modulating epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cellular senescence in breast cancer cells through regulation of ZEB1. *Scientific reports*, 6(January):19874, 2016.
- [102] G. Gargiulo, M. Cesaroni, M. Serresi, N. de Vries, D. Hulsman, S. W. Bruggeman, C. Lancini, and M. van Lohuizen. In vivo RNAi screen for BMI1 targets identifies TGF- β /BMP-ER stress pathways as key regulators of neural- and malignant glioma-stem cell homeostasis. *Cancer cell*, 23(5):660–76, may 2013.
- [103] G. Gargiulo, M. Serresi, M. Cesaroni, D. Hulsman, and M. van Lohuizen. In vivo shRNA screens in solid tumors. *Nature protocols*, 9(12):2880–902, 2014.
- [104] L. A. Garraway and E. S. Lander. Lessons from the cancer genome. Cell, 153(1):17-37, 2013.
- [105] S. Gayatri and M. T. Bedford. Readers of histone methylarginine marks. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms, 1839(8):702-710, 2014.
- [106] D. G. Gibson, L. Young, R.-Y. Chuang, J. C. Venter, C. A. Hutchison, and H. O. Smith. Enzymatic assembly of dna molecules up to several hundred kilobases. *Nature methods*, 6(5):343-345, 2009.
- [107] M. R. Gilbert, J. J. Dignam, T. S. Armstrong, J. S. Wefel, D. T. Blumenthal, M. A. Vogelbaum, H. Colman, A. Chakravarti, S. Pugh, M. Won, et al. A randomized trial of bevacizumab for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 370(8):699–708, 2014.
- [108] M. Gilbreth, P. Yang, D. Wang, J. Frost, a. Polverino, M. H. Cobb, and S. Marcus. The highly conserved skb1 gene encodes a protein that interacts with Shk1, a fission yeast Ste20/PAK homolog. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 93(24):13802-13807, 1996.
- [109] C. Girard, C. L. Will, J. Peng, E. M. Makarov, B. Kastner, I. Lemm, H. Urlaub, K. Hartmuth, and R. Lührmann. Post-transcriptional spliceosomes are retained in nuclear speckles until splicing completion. *Nature communications*, 3:994, 2012.
- [110] Glioma Meta-analysis Trialists Group. Chemotherapy in adult high-grade glioma: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data from 12 randomised trials. *Lancet*, 359(9311):1011–1018, 2002.
- [111] A. C. Goldstrohm, T. R. Albrecht, C. Suñé, M. T. Bedford, and M. A. Garcia-Blanco. The transcription elongation factor ca150 interacts with rna polymerase ii and the pre-mrna splicing factor sf1. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 21(22):7617– 7628, 2001.
- [112] G. B. Gonsalvez, K. Praveen, A. J. Hicks, L. Tian, and a. G. Matera. Sm protein

methylation is dispensable for snRNP assembly in Drosophila melanogaster. Rna, 14(5):878-887, 2008.

- [113] D. M. Gonzalez and D. Medici. Signaling mechanisms of the epithelialmesenchymal transition. *Science signaling*, 7(344):re8, 2014.
- [114] S. M. Greenblatt, F. Liu, and S. D. Nimer. Arginine methyltransferases in normal and malignant hematopoiesis. *Experimental Hematology*, (March):1–7, 2016.
- [115] V. Greger, E. Passarge, W. Höpping, E. Messmer, and B. Horsthemke. Epigenetic changes may contribute to the formation and spontaneous regression of retinoblastoma. *Human genetics*, 83(2):155–158, 1989.
- [116] Y. Gu, H. Wang, Y. Qin, Y. Zhang, W. Zhao, L. Qi, Y. Zhang, C. Wang, and Z. Guo. Network analysis of genomic alteration profiles reveals co-altered functional modules and driver genes for glioblastoma. *Molecular bioSystems*, 9(3):467– 77, mar 2013.
- [117] Z. Gu, S. Gao, F. Zhang, Z. Wang, W. Ma, R. E. Davis, and Z. Wang. Protein arginine methyltransferase 5 is essential for growth of lung cancer cells. *The Biochemical journal*, 446(2):235–41, 2012.
- [118] E. Guccione, C. Bassi, F. Casadio, F. Martinato, M. Cesaroni, H. Schuchlautz, B. Lüscher, and B. Amati. Methylation of histone H3R2 by PRMT6 and H3K4 by an MLL complex are mutually exclusive. *Nature*, 449(7164):933–937, 2007.
- [119] G. Guderian, C. Peter, J. Wiesner, A. Sickmann, K. Schulze-Osthoff, U. Fischer, and M. Grimmler. RioK1, a new interactor of protein arginine methyltransferase 5 (PRMT5), competes with pICln for binding and modulates PRMT5 complex composition and substrate specificity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(3):1976–1986, 2011.
- [120] S. Gui, W. L. Wooderchak-Donahue, T. Zang, D. Chen, M. P. Daly, Z. S. Zhou, and J. M. Hevel. Substrate-induced control of product formation by protein arginine methyltransferase 1. *Biochemistry*, 52(1):199–209, 2013.
- [121] R. Guo, L. Zheng, J. W. Park, R. Lv, H. Chen, F. Jiao, W. Xu, S. Mu, H. Wen, J. Qiu, et al. Bs69/zmynd11 reads and connects histone h3. 3 lysine 36 trimethylation-decorated chromatin to regulated pre-mrna processing. *Molecular cell*, 56(2):298–310, 2014.
- [122] J. Han, J. Xiong, D. Wang, and X.-D. Fu. Pre-mrna splicing: where and when in the nucleus. *Trends in cell biology*, 21(6):336–343, 2011.
- [123] X. Han, R. Li, W. Zhang, X. Yang, C. G. Wheeler, G. K. Friedman, P. Province, Q. Ding, Z. You, H. M. Fathallah-Shaykh, G. Y. Gillespie, X. Zhao, P. H. King, and L. B. Nabors. Expression of PRMT5 correlates with malignant grade in

gliomas and plays a pivotal role in tumor growth in vitro. Journal of Neuro-Oncology, 118:61-72, 2014.

- [124] D. Hanahan and R. A. Weinberg. The Hallmarks of Cancer. Cell, 100(1):57–70, jan 2000.
- [125] D. Hanahan and R. A. Weinberg. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell, 144(5):646-74, mar 2011.
- [126] J. W. Harbour, E. D. Roberson, H. Anbunathan, M. D. Onken, L. A. Worley, and A. M. Bowcock. Recurrent mutations at codon 625 of the splicing factor sf3b1 in uveal melanoma. *Nature genetics*, 45(2):133-135, 2013.
- [127] D. P. Harris, S. Bandyopadhyay, T. J. Maxwell, B. Willard, and P. E. DiCorleto. Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-a induction of CXCL10 in endothelial cells requires protein arginine methyltransferase 5 (PRMT5)-mediated nuclear factor (NF)-kB p65 Methylation. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 289(22):15328-15339, 2014.
- [128] D. P. Harris, U. M. Chandrasekharan, S. Bandyopadhyay, B. Willard, and P. E. DiCorleto. Prmt5-mediated methylation of nf- κ b p65 at arg 174 is required for endothelial cxcl11 gene induction in response to tnf- α and ifn- γ costimulation. *PloS one*, 11(2):e0148905, 2016.
- [129] P. O. Hassa, M. Covic, M. T. Bedford, and M. O. Hottiger. Protein arginine methyltransferase 1 coactivates nf-κb-dependent gene expression synergistically with carm1 and parp1. Journal of molecular biology, 377(3):668-678, 2008.
- [130] S. Heerboth, G. Housman, M. Leary, M. Longacre, S. Byler, K. Lapinska, A. Willbanks, and S. Sarkar. Emt and tumor metastasis. *Clinical and translational medicine*, 4(1):1, 2015.
- [131] A. Hegele, A. Kamburov, A. Grossmann, C. Sourlis, S. Wowro, M. Weimann, C. L. Will, V. Pena, R. Lührmann, and U. Stelzl. Dynamic protein-protein interaction wiring of the human spliceosome. *Molecular cell*, 45(4):567–580, 2012.
- [132] M. E. Hegi, A.-C. Diserens, T. Gorlia, M.-F. Hamou, N. de Tribolet, M. Weller, J. M. Kros, J. a. Hainfellner, W. Mason, L. Mariani, J. E. C. Bromberg, P. Hau, R. O. Mirimanoff, J. G. Cairncross, R. C. Janzer, and R. Stupp. MGMT gene silencing and benefit from temozolomide in glioblastoma. *The New England journal* of medicine, 352(10):997-1003, mar 2005.
- [133] M. E. Hegi, L. Liu, J. G. Herman, R. Stupp, W. Wick, M. Weller, M. P. Mehta, and M. R. Gilbert. Correlation of O6-methylguanine methyltransferase (MGMT) promoter methylation with clinical outcomes in glioblastoma and clinical strategies to modulate MGMT activity. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 26(25):4189–99, sep 2008.

- [134] J. G. Herman, A. Umar, K. Polyak, J. R. Graff, N. Ahuja, J.-P. J. Issa, S. Markowitz, J. K. Willson, S. R. Hamilton, K. W. Kinzler, et al. Incidence and functional consequences of hmlh1 promoter hypermethylation in colorectal carcinoma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 95(12):6870–6875, 1998.
- [135] C. R. Holst, G. J. Nuovo, M. Esteller, K. Chew, S. B. Baylin, J. G. Herman, and T. D. Tlsty. Methylation of p16ink4a promoters occurs in vivo in histologically normal human mammary epithelia. *Cancer research*, 63(7):1596–1601, 2003.
- [136] L. Hood and L. Rowen. The human genome project: big science transforms biology and medicine. *Genome medicine*, 5(9):1, 2013.
- [137] Z. Hou, H. Peng, K. Ayyanathan, K.-P. Yan, E. M. Langer, G. D. Longmore, and F. J. Rauscher. The LIM protein AJUBA recruits protein arginine methyltransferase 5 to mediate SNAIL-dependent transcriptional repression. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 28:3198–3207, 2008.
- [138] J.-M. Hsu, C.-T. Chen, C.-K. Chou, H.-P. Kuo, L.-Y. Li, C.-Y. Lin, H.-J. Lee, Y.-N. Wang, M. Liu, H.-W. Liao, et al. Crosstalk between arg 1175 methylation and tyr 1173 phosphorylation negatively modulates egfr-mediated erk activation. *Nature cell biology*, 13(2):174–181, 2011.
- [139] W.-W. Htain, S.-K. Leong, and E.-A. Ling. A qualitative and quantitative study of the glial cells in normal and athymic mice. *Glia*, 15(1):11–21, 1995.
- [140] D. W. Huang, R. a. Lempicki, and B. T. Sherman. Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. *Nature Proto*cols, 4(1):44–57, 2009.
- [141] D. W. Huang, B. T. Sherman, and R. A. Lempicki. Bioinformatics enrichment tools: paths toward the comprehensive functional analysis of large gene lists. *Nucleic acids research*, 37(1):1–13, 2009.
- [142] J. Huang, G. Vogel, Z. Yu, G. Almazan, and S. Richard. Type ii arginine methyltransferase prmt5 regulates gene expression of inhibitors of differentiation/dna binding id2 and id4 during glial cell differentiation. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 286(52):44424-44432, 2011.
- [143] M. A. Huber, N. Azoitei, B. Baumann, S. Grünert, A. Sommer, H. Pehamberger, N. Kraut, H. Beug, and T. Wirth. Nf-κb is essential for epithelial-mesenchymal transition and metastasis in a model of breast cancer progression. *The Journal* of clinical investigation, 114(4):569–581, 2004.
- [144] J. T. Huse, E. Holland, and L. M. Deangelis. Glioblastoma: molecular analysis and clinical implications. Annual review of medicine, 64(September 2012):59–70, jan 2013.

- [145] J. T. Huse and E. C. Holland. Targeting brain cancer: advances in the molecular pathology of malignant glioma and medulloblastoma. *Nature reviews. Cancer*, 10(5):319–331, 2010.
- [146] J. T. Huse, H. S. Phillips, and C. W. Brennan. Molecular subclassification of diffuse gliomas: seeing order in the chaos. *Glia*, 59(8):1190-9, aug 2011.
- [147] R. Ibrahim, D. Matsubara, W. Osman, T. Morikawa, A. Goto, S. Morita, S. Ishikawa, H. Aburatani, D. Takai, J. Nakajima, M. Fukayama, T. Niki, and Y. Murakami. Expression of PRMT5 in lung adenocarcinoma and its significance in epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Human Pathology*, 45(7):1397-1405, 2014.
- [148] International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium and others. Finishing the euchromatic sequence of the human genome. *Nature*, 431(7011):931–945, 2004.
- [149] D. Ivanov, Y. T. Kwak, J. Guo, and R. B. Gaynor. Domains in the spt5 protein that modulate its transcriptional regulatory properties. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 20(9):2970–2983, 2000.
- [150] N. G. Iyer, H. Özdag, and C. Caldas. p300/cbp and cancer. Oncogene, 23(24):4225-4231, 2004.
- [151] R. K. Jain. Normalization of tumor vasculature: an emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy. Science, 307(5706):58-62, 2005.
- [152] M. Jansson, S. T. Durant, E.-C. Cho, S. Sheahan, M. Edelmann, B. Kessler, and N. B. La Thangue. Arginine methylation regulates the p53 response. *Nature cell biology*, 10(12):1431–1439, 2008.
- [153] A. I. Jarvelin, M. Noerenberg, I. Davis, and A. Castello. The new (dis)order in RNA regulation. *Cell communication and signaling : CCS*, 14:9, 2016.
- [154] T. Jenuwein and C. D. Allis. Translating the histone code. Science, 293(5532):1074–1080, 2001.
- [155] P. a. Jones and P. W. Laird. Cancer epigenetics comes of age. Nature genetics, 21(2):163-167, 1999.
- [156] R. A. Juergens, J. Wrangle, F. P. Vendetti, S. C. Murphy, M. Zhao, B. Coleman, R. Sebree, K. Rodgers, C. M. Hooker, N. Franco, et al. Combination epigenetic therapy has efficacy in patients with refractory advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer discovery*, 1(7):598-607, 2011.
- [157] B. Kaina, M. Christmann, S. Naumann, and W. P. Roos. MGMT: Key node in the battle against genotoxicity, carcinogenicity and apoptosis induced by alkylating agents. DNA Repair, 6(8):1079–1099, 2007.
- [158] M. Kanehisa and S. Goto. Kegg: kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes. Nucleic acids research, 28(1):27–30, 2000.

- [159] M. Kanehisa, Y. Sato, M. Kawashima, M. Furumichi, and M. Tanabe. Kegg as a reference resource for gene and protein annotation. *Nucleic acids research*, page gkv1070, 2015.
- [160] V. Karkhanis, Y. J. Hu, R. A. Baiocchi, A. N. Imbalzano, and S. Sif. Versatility of PRMT5-induced methylation in growth control and development. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 36(12):633–641, 2011.
- [161] Y. Katz, E. T. Wang, E. M. Airoldi, and C. B. Burge. Analysis and design of rna sequencing experiments for identifying isoform regulation. *Nature methods*, 7(12):1009-1015, 2010.
- [162] P. J. Killela, Z. J. Reitman, Y. Jiao, C. Bettegowda, N. Agrawal, L. A. Diaz, A. H. Friedman, H. Friedman, G. L. Gallia, B. C. Giovanella, et al. Tert promoter mutations occur frequently in gliomas and a subset of tumors derived from cells with low rates of self-renewal. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(15):6021-6026, 2013.
- [163] S. Kim, U. Gunesdogan, J. J. Zylicz, J. A. Hackett, D. Cougot, S. Bao, C. Lee, S. Dietmann, G. E. Allen, R. Sengupta, and M. A. Surani. PRMT5 Protects Genomic Integrity during Global DNA Demethylation in Primordial Germ Cells and Preimplantation Embryos. *Molecular Cell*, 56(4):564–579, 2014.
- [164] A. Kirmizis, H. Santos-Rosa, C. J. Penkett, M. A. Singer, M. Vermeulen, M. Mann, J. Bähler, R. D. Green, and T. Kouzarides. Arginine methylation at histone H3R2 controls deposition of H3K4 trimethylation. *Nature*, 449(7164):928– 932, 2007.
- [165] A. G. Knudson. Mutation and cancer: statistical study of retinoblastoma. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 68(4):820–823, 1971.
- [166] C. M. Koh, M. Bezzi, D. H. Low, W. X. Ang, S. X. Teo, F. P. Gay, M. Al-Haddawi, S. Y. Tan, M. Osato, A. Sabò, et al. Myc regulates the core pre-mrna splicing machinery as an essential step in lymphomagenesis. *Nature*, 523(7558):96–100, 2015.
- [167] Y. Kondo, C. Oubridge, A. M. M. Van Roon, and K. Nagai. Crystal structure of human U1 snRNP, a small nuclear ribonucleoprotein particle, reveals the mechanism of 5' splice site recognition. *eLife*, 2015(4):1–19, 2015.
- [168] T. Kouzarides. Chromatin Modifications and Their Function. Cell, 128(4):693– 705, 2007.
- [169] A. V. Krauze, S. D. Myrehaug, M. G. Chang, D. J. Holdford, S. Smith, J. Shih, P. J. Tofilon, H. A. Fine, and K. Camphausen. A phase 2 study of concurrent radiation therapy, temozolomide, and the histone deacetylase inhibitor valproic

acid for patients with glioblastoma. International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics, 92(5):986–992, 2015.

- [170] T. N. Kreisl, L. Kim, K. Moore, P. Duic, C. Royce, I. Stroud, N. Garren, M. Mackey, J. A. Butman, K. Camphausen, et al. Phase ii trial of single-agent bevacizumab followed by bevacizumab plus irinotecan at tumor progression in recurrent glioblastoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27(5):740–745, 2009.
- [171] S. Kreth, N. Thon, S. Eigenbrod, J. Lutz, C. Ledderose, R. Egensperger, J. C. Tonn, H. A. Kretzschmar, L. C. Hinske, and F. W. Kreth. O 6-methylguanine-dna methyltransferase (mgmt) mrna expression predicts outcome in malignant glioma independent of mgmt promoter methylation. *PloS one*, 6(2):e17156, 2011.
- [172] G. V. Kryukov, F. H. Wilson, J. R. Ruth, J. Paulk, A. Tsherniak, S. E. Marlow, F. Vazquez, B. A. Weir, M. E. Fitzgerald, M. Tanaka, C. M. Bielski, J. M. Scott, C. Dennis, G. S. Cowley, J. S. Boehm, D. E. Root, T. R. Golub, C. B. Clish, J. E. Bradner, W. C. Hahn, and L. A. Garraway. MTAP deletion confers enhanced dependency on the PRMT5 arginine methyltransferase in cancer cells. *Science*, 351(6278):1214–1218, 2016.
- [173] Y. T. Kwak, J. Guo, S. Prajapati, K.-J. Park, R. M. Surabhi, B. Miller, P. Gehrig, and R. B. Gaynor. Methylation of spt5 regulates its interaction with rna polymerase ii and transcriptional elongation properties. *Molecular cell*, 11(4):1055– 1066, 2003.
- [174] M. Lacroix, S. El Messaoudi, G. Rodier, A. Le Cam, C. Sardet, and E. Fabbrizio. The histone-binding protein COPR5 is required for nuclear functions of the protein arginine methyltransferase PRMT5. *EMBO reports*, 9(5):452–8, 2008.
- [175] S. Lalezari, A. P. Chou, A. Tran, O. E. Solis, N. Khanlou, W. Chen, S. Li, J. A. Carrillo, R. Chowdhury, J. Selfridge, et al. Combined analysis of o6methylguanine-dna methyltransferase protein expression and promoter methylation provides optimized prognostication of glioblastoma outcome. *Neuro-oncology*, 15(3):370–381, 2013.
- [176] S. Lamouille, J. Xu, and R. Derynck. Molecular mechanisms of epithelialmesenchymal transition. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology*, 15(3):178, 2014.
- [177] F. Lan and Y. Shi. Histone h3. 3 and cancer: A potential reader connection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112(22):6814-6819, 2015.
- [178] B. Langmead, C. Trapnell, M. Pop, and S. L. Salzberg. Ultrafast and memoryefficient alignment of short dna sequences to the human genome. *Genome biology*, 10(3):1, 2009.
- [179] X. Le Guezennec, M. Vermeulen, A. B. Brinkman, W. A. Hoeijmakers, A. Cohen, E. Lasonder, and H. G. Stunnenberg. Mbd2/nurd and mbd3/nurd, two distinct

complexes with different biochemical and functional properties. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 26(3):843–851, 2006.

- [180] S. E. LeBlanc, Q. Wu, P. Lamba, S. Sif, and A. N. Imbalzano. Promoter-enhancer looping at the pparγ2 locus during adipogenic differentiation requires the prmt5 methyltransferase. *Nucleic acids research*, page gkw129, 2016.
- [181] E. Li and Y. Zhang. Dna methylation in mammals. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 6(5):a019133, 2014.
- [182] Y. Li, N. Chitnis, H. Nakagawa, Y. Kita, S. Natsugoe, Y. Yang, Z. Li, M. Wasik, A. J. P. Klein-Szanto, A. K. Rustgi, and J. Alan Diehl. PRMT5 is required for lymphomagenesis triggered by multiple oncogenic drivers. *Cancer Discovery*, 5(3):288–303, 2015.
- [183] A. Liberzon, C. Birger, H. Thorvaldsdóttir, M. Ghandi, J. P. Mesirov, and P. Tamayo. The molecular signatures database hallmark gene set collection. *Cell* systems, 1(6):417-425, 2015.
- [184] P. Licciardo, S. Amente, L. Ruggiero, M. Monti, P. Pucci, L. Lania, and B. Majello. The fcp1 phosphatase interacts with rna polymerase ii and with mep50 a component of the methylosome complex involved in the assembly of snrnp. Nucleic acids research, 31(3):999–1005, 2003.
- [185] F. Liu, G. Cheng, P.-J. Hamard, S. Greenblatt, L. Wang, N. Man, F. Perna, H. Xu, M. Tadi, L. Luciani, et al. Arginine methyltransferase prmt5 is essential for sustaining normal adult hematopoiesis. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 125(9):3532, 2015.
- [186] F. Liu, X. Zhao, F. Perna, L. Wang, P. Koppikar, O. Abdel-Wahab, M. W. Harr, R. L. Levine, H. Xu, A. Tefferi, A. Deblasio, M. Hatlen, S. Menendez, and S. D. Nimer. JAK2V617F-Mediated Phosphorylation of PRMT5 Downregulates Its Methyltransferase Activity and Promotes Myeloproliferation. *Cancer Cell*, 19(2):283–294, 2011.
- [187] K. Liu, Y. Guo, H. Liu, C. Bian, R. Lam, Y. Liu, F. Mackenzie, L. A. Rojas, D. Reinberg, M. T. Bedford, R. M. Xu, and J. Min. Crystal structure of TDRD3 and methyl-arginine binding characterization of TDRD3, SMN and SPF30. *PLoS ONE*, 7(2), 2012.
- [188] W. Liu, Q. Ma, K. Wong, W. Li, K. Ohgi, J. Zhang, A. K. Aggarwal, and M. G. Rosenfeld. Brd4 and JMJD6-associated anti-pause enhancers in regulation of transcriptional pause release. *Cell*, 155(7):1581–1595, 2013.
- [189] Z. Liu, Z. Zhou, G. Chen, and S. Bao. A putative transcriptional elongation factor hiws1 is essential for mammalian cell proliferation. *Biochemical and biophysical* research communications, 353(1):47–53, 2007.

- [190] D. N. Louis, A. Perry, G. Reifenberger, A. von Deimling, D. Figarella-Branger, W. K. Cavenee, H. Ohgaki, O. D. Wiestler, P. Kleihues, and D. W. Ellison. The 2016 world health organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: A summary. Acta neuropathologica, 131(6):803-820, 2016.
- [191] C. Lu, P. Ward, G. Kapoor, and D. Rohle. IDH mutation impairs histone demethylation and results in a block to cell differentiation. *Nature*, 483(7390):474– 478, 2012.
- [192] R. F. Luco, M. Allo, I. E. Schor, A. R. Kornblihtt, and T. Misteli. Epigenetics in alternative pre-mrna splicing. *Cell*, 144(1):16–26, 2011.
- [193] R. F. Luco, Q. Pan, K. Tominaga, B. J. Blencowe, O. M. Pereira-Smith, and T. Misteli. Regulation of alternative splicing by histone modifications. *Science*, 327(5968):996-1000, 2010.
- [194] Y. Luo, J. Blechingberg, A. M. Fernandes, S. Li, T. Fryland, A. D. Børglum, L. Bolund, and A. L. Nielsen. Ews and fus bind a subset of transcribed genes encoding proteins enriched in rna regulatory functions. *BMC genomics*, 16(1):1, 2015.
- [195] X. J. Ma, Q. Lu, and M. Grunstein. A search for proteins that interact genetically with histone H3 and H4 amino termini uncovers novel regulators of the Swe1 kinase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genes and Development*, 10(11):1327-1340, 1996.
- [196] S. L. Maguire, A. Leonidou, P. Wai, C. Marchiò, C. K. Ng, A. Sapino, A.-V. Salomon, J. S. Reis-Filho, B. Weigelt, and R. C. Natrajan. Sf3b1 mutations constitute a novel therapeutic target in breast cancer. *The Journal of pathology*, 235(4):571–580, 2015.
- [197] R. Mahabir, M. Tanino, A. Elmansuri, L. Wang, T. Kimura, T. Itoh, Y. Ohba, H. Nishihara, H. Shirato, M. Tsuda, et al. Sustained elevation of snail promotes glial-mesenchymal transition after irradiation in malignant glioma. *Neuro*oncology, page not239, 2013.
- [198] K. J. Mavrakis, K. J. Mavrakis, E. R. M. Iii, M. R. Schlabach, E. Billy, R. Gregory, D. A. Ruddy, K. Venkatesan, J. Yu, G. Mcallister, S. Ho, Y. Yue, Y. Liu, Y. Yanneale, G. Yang, F. Lin, H. Yin, H. Gao, D. R. Kipp, S. Zhao, J. T. Mcnamara, E. R. Sprague, Y. Lin, Y. S. Cho, J. Gu, K. Crawford, D. Ciccone, A. C. Vitari, A. Lai, V. Capka, K. Hurov, J. A. Porter, J. Tallarico, C. Mickanin, E. Lees, N. Keen, T. Schmelzle, F. Hofmann, F. Stegmeier, and R. William. Disordered methionine metabolism in MTAP / CDKN2A deleted cancers leads to dependence on PRMT5. Science, 351(6278):1208–1213, 2016.
- [199] J. L. McFaline-Figueroa, C. J. Braun, M. Stanciu, Z. D. Nagel, P. Mazzucato, D. Sangaraju, E. Cerniauskas, K. Barford, A. Vargas, Y. Chen, et al. Minor
changes in expression of the mismatch repair protein msh2 exert a major impact on glioblastoma response to temozolomide. Cancer research, 75(15):3127-3138, 2015.

- [200] R. McLendon, A. Friedman, D. Bigner, E. G. Van Meir, D. J. Brat, G. M. Mastrogianakis, J. J. Olson, T. Mikkelsen, N. Lehman, K. Aldape, et al. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. *Nature*, 455(7216):1061–1068, 2008.
- [201] C. E. Meacham, E. E. Ho, E. Dubrovsky, F. B. Gertler, and M. T. Hemann. In vivo RNAi screening identifies regulators of actin dynamics as key determinants of lymphoma progression. *Nature genetics*, 41(10):1133-7, oct 2009.
- [202] G. Meister, C. Eggert, D. Bühler, H. Brahms, C. Kambach, and U. Fischer. Methylation of Sm proteins by a complex containing PRMT5 and the putative U snRNP assembly factor pICln. *Current Biology*, 11:1990–1994, 2001.
- [203] F. Miao, S. Li, V. Chavez, L. Lanting, and R. Natarajan. Coactivator-associated arginine methyltransferase-1 enhances nuclear factor-κb-mediated gene transcription through methylation of histone h3 at arginine 17. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 20(7):1562–1573, 2006.
- [204] V. Migliori, J. Müller, S. Phalke, D. Low, M. Bezzi, W. C. Mok, S. K. Sahu, J. Gunaratne, P. Capasso, C. Bassi, V. Cecatiello, A. De Marco, W. Blackstock, V. Kuznetsov, B. Amati, M. Mapelli, and E. Guccione. Symmetric dimethylation of H3R2 is a newly identified histone mark that supports euchromatin maintenance. Nature structural & molecular biology, 19(2):136-44, 2012.
- [205] N. Mojas, M. Lopes, and J. Jiricny. Mismatch repair-dependent processing of methylation damage gives rise to persistent single-stranded gaps in newly replicated dna. *Genes & development*, 21(24):3342–3355, 2007.
- [206] V. K. Mootha, C. M. Lindgren, K.-F. Eriksson, A. Subramanian, S. Sihag, J. Lehar, P. Puigserver, E. Carlsson, M. Ridderstråle, E. Laurila, et al. Pgc-1αresponsive genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation are coordinately downregulated in human diabetes. *Nature genetics*, 34(3):267–273, 2003.
- [207] Y. Morales, T. Cáceres, K. May, and J. M. Hevel. Biochemistry and regulation of the protein arginine methyltransferases (PRMTs). Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 590:138–152, 2016.
- [208] R. D. Morin, N. A. Johnson, T. M. Severson, A. J. Mungall, J. An, R. Goya, J. E. Paul, M. Boyle, B. W. Woolcock, F. Kuchenbauer, et al. Somatic mutations altering ezh2 (tyr641) in follicular and diffuse large b-cell lymphomas of germinalcenter origin. *Nature genetics*, 42(2):181–185, 2010.
- [209] L. Muniz, L. Davidson, and S. West. Poly (a) polymerase and the nuclear poly

(a) binding protein, pabpn1, coordinate the splicing and degradation of a subset of human pre-mrnas. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 35(13):2218-2230, 2015.

- [210] M. J. Murray, B. Z. Shilo, C. Shih, D. Cowing, H. W. Hsu, and R. a. Weinberg. Three different human tumor cell lines contain different oncogenes. *Cell*, 25(2):355–361, 1981.
- [211] S. Naftelberg, I. E. Schor, G. Ast, and A. R. Kornblihtt. Regulation of alternative splicing through coupling with transcription and chromatin structure. *Annual* review of biochemistry, 84:165–198, 2015.
- [212] C. Nardella, J. G. Clohessy, A. Alimonti, and P. P. Pandolfi. Pro-senescence therapy for cancer treatment. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 11(7):503-511, 2011.
- [213] National Center for Tumor Diseases, Heidelberg. Targeting IDH1R132H in WHO Grade III-IV IDH1R132H-mutated Gliomas by a Peptide Vaccine - a Phase I Safety, Tolerability and Immunogenicity Multicenter Trial (NOA-16). https: //clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02454634?term=IDH&rank=1/, 2000. Online; accessed 5-Sept-2016. NLM Identifier: NCT02454634.
- [214] M. Neault, F. A. Mallette, G. Vogel, J. Michaud-Levesque, and S. Richard. Ablation of PRMT6 reveals a role as a negative transcriptional regulator of the p53 tumor suppressor. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 40(19):9513–9521, 2012.
- [215] E. W. Newcomb and D. Zagzag. The murine gl261 glioma experimental model to assess novel brain tumor treatments. In CNS Cancer, pages 227–241. Springer, 2009.
- [216] B. Neyns, J. Sadones, E. Joosens, F. Bouttens, L. Verbeke, J.-F. Baurain, L. D'Hondt, T. Strauven, C. Chaskis, P. In't Veld, et al. Stratified phase ii trial of cetuximab in patients with recurrent high-grade glioma. *Annals of Oncology*, page mdp032, 2009.
- [217] C. Nicholas, J. Yang, S. B. Peters, M. A. Bill, R. A. Baiocchi, F. Yan, S. Sïf, S. Tae, E. Gaudio, X. Wu, M. R. Grever, G. S. Young, and G. B. Lesinski. PRMT5 Is Upregulated in Malignant and Metastatic Melanoma and Regulates Expression of MITF and p27Kip1. *PLoS ONE*, 8(9):1–9, 2013.
- [218] H. Noushmehr, D. J. Weisenberger, K. Diefes, H. S. Phillips, K. Pujara, B. P. Berman, F. Pan, C. E. Pelloski, E. P. Sulman, K. P. Bhat, R. G. W. Verhaak, K. A. Hoadley, D. N. Hayes, C. M. Perou, H. K. Schmidt, L. Ding, R. K. Wilson, D. Van Den Berg, H. Shen, H. Bengtsson, P. Neuvial, L. M. Cope, J. Buckley, J. G. Herman, S. B. Baylin, P. W. Laird, and K. Aldape. Identification of a CpG Island Methylator Phenotype that Defines a Distinct Subgroup of Glioma. *Cancer Cell*, 17(5):510–522, 2010.
- [219] Novartis Pharmaceuticals. A phase i study of idh305 in patients with advanced

malignancies that harbor idh1r132 mutations. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT02381886?term=IDH&rank=2/, 2000. Online; accessed 5-Sept-2016. NLM Identifier: NCT02381886.

- [220] N. Ohkura, M. Takahashi, H. Yaguchi, Y. Nagamura, and T. Tsukada. Coactivator-associated arginine methyltransferase 1, carm1, affects pre-mrna splicing in an isoform-specific manner. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(32):28927–28935, 2005.
- [221] Oncoethix GmbH. A phase iia trial with dose optimization of otx015, a small molecule inhibitor of the bromodomain and extra-terminal (bet) proteins, in recurrent glioblastoma multiforme (gbm) patients. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT02296476?term=OTX015&rank=1/, 2000. Online; accessed 5-Sept-2016. NLM Identifier: NCT02296476.
- [222] S.-E. Ong, G. Mittler, and M. Mann. Identifying and quantifying in vivo methylation sites by heavy methyl silac. *Nature methods*, 1(2):119–126, 2004.
- [223] Q. T. Ostrom, H. Gittleman, P. Liao, C. Rouse, Y. Chen, J. Dowling, Y. Wolinsky, C. Kruchko, and J. Barnholtz-Sloan. Cbtrus statistical report: primary brain and central nervous system tumors diagnosed in the united states in 2007–2011. *Neuro-oncology*, 16(suppl 4):iv1–iv63, 2014.
- [224] E. Padfield, H. P. Ellis, and K. M. Kurian. Current therapeutic advances targeting egfr and egfrviii in glioblastoma. *Frontiers in oncology*, 5:5, 2015.
- [225] S. Pal, R. A. Baiocchi, J. C. Byrd, M. R. Grever, S. T. Jacob, and S. Sif. Low levels of miR-92b/96 induce PRMT5 translation and H3R8/H4R3 methylation in mantle cell lymphoma. *The EMBO journal*, 26(15):3558–69, 2007.
- [226] S. Pal, S. N. Vishwanath, P. Tempst, S. Sif, and H. Erdjument-bromage. Negatively Regulates Expression of ST7 and NM23 Tumor Suppressor Genes Human SWI / SNF-Associated PRMT5 Methylates Histone H3 Arginine 8 and Negatively Regulates Expression of ST7 and NM23 Tumor Suppressor Genes. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 2004.
- [227] S. Pal, R. Yun, A. Datta, L. Lacomis, H. Erdjument-Bromage, J. Kumar, P. Tempst, and S. Sif. mSin3A/histone deacetylase 2- and PRMT5-containing Brg1 complex is involved in transcriptional repression of the Myc target gene cad. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 23(21):7475-87, 2003.
- [228] A. Pandya-Jones, D. M. Bhatt, C.-H. Lin, A.-J. Tong, S. T. Smale, and D. L. Black. Splicing kinetics and transcript release from the chromatin compartment limit the rate of lipid a-induced gene expression. *Rna*, 19(6):811–827, 2013.
- [229] L. F. Parada, C. J. Tabin, C. Shih, and R. A. Weinberg. Human ej bladder

carcinoma oncogene is homologue of harvey sarcoma virus ras gene. Nature, 297:474–478, 1982.

- [230] A. P. Patel, I. Tirosh, J. J. Trombetta, A. K. Shalek, S. M. Gillespie, H. Wakimoto, D. P. Cahill, B. V. Nahed, W. T. Curry, R. L. Martuza, D. N. Louis, O. Rozenblatt-Rosen, M. L. Suvà, A. Regev, and B. E. Bernstein. Single-cell RNA-seq highlights intratumoral heterogeneity in primary glioblastoma. *Science* (New York, N.Y.), 344(6190):1396-401, 2014.
- [231] M. R. Pawlak, C. A. Scherer, J. Chen, M. J. Roshon, and H. E. Ruley. Arginine Nmethyltransferase 1 Is Required for Early Postimplantation Mouse Development, but Cells Deficient in the Enzyme Are Viable. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 20(13):4859–4869, 2000.
- [232] H. S. Phillips, S. Kharbanda, R. Chen, W. F. Forrest, R. H. Soriano, T. D. Wu, A. Misra, J. M. Nigro, H. Colman, L. Soroceanu, P. M. Williams, Z. Modrusan, B. G. Feuerstein, and K. Aldape. Molecular subclasses of high-grade glioma predict prognosis, delineate a pattern of disease progression, and resemble stages in neurogenesis. *Cancer cell*, 9(3):157-73, mar 2006.
- [233] J. L. Pokorny, D. Calligaris, S. K. Gupta, D. O. Iyekegbe, D. Mueller, K. K. Bakken, B. L. Carlson, M. A. Schroeder, D. L. Evans, Z. Lou, et al. The efficacy of the weel inhibitor mk-1775 combined with temozolomide is limited by heterogeneous distribution across the blood-brain barrier in glioblastoma. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 21(8):1916–1924, 2015.
- [234] B. P. Pollack, S. V. Kotenko, W. He, L. S. Izotova, B. L. Barnoski, J. B. Chem, and S. Pestka. ENZYMOLOGY : The Human Homologue of the Yeast Proteins Skb1 and Hsl7p Interacts with Jak Kinases and Contains Protein Methyltransferase Activity The Human Homologue of the Yeast Proteins Skb1 and Hsl7p Interacts with Jak Kinases and Contains Protein Methy. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 274(44):31531-31542, 1999.
- [235] J. R. Pritchard, L. A. Gilbert, C. E. Meacham, J. L. Ricks, H. Jiang, D. A. Lauffenburger, and M. T. Hemann. Bcl-2 family genetic profiling reveals microenvironment-specific determinants of chemotherapeutic response. *Cancer Research*, 71(17):5850-5858, 2011.
- [236] N. J. Proudfoot. Transcriptional termination in mammals: Stopping the rna polymerase ii juggernaut. Science, 352(6291):aad9926, 2016.
- [237] D. F. Quail, R. L. Bowman, L. Akkari, M. L. Quick, A. J. Schuhmacher, J. T. Huse, E. C. Holland, J. C. Sutton, and J. A. Joyce. The tumor microenvironment underlies acquired resistance to csf-1r inhibition in gliomas. *Science*, 352(6288):aad3018, 2016.
- [238] S. Quiros, W. P. Roos, and B. Kaina. Processing of o6-methylguanine into dna

double-strand breaks requires two rounds of replication whereas apoptosis is also induced in subsequent cell cycles. *Cell Cycle*, 9(1):168–178, 2010.

- [239] Y. P. Ramirez, J. L. Weatherbee, R. T. Wheelhouse, and A. H. Ross. Glioblastoma multiforme therapy and mechanisms of resistance. *Pharmaceuticals*, 6(12):1475– 1506, 2013.
- [240] D. Rossi, A. Bruscaggin, V. Spina, S. Rasi, H. Khiabanian, M. Messina, M. Fangazio, T. Vaisitti, S. Monti, S. Chiaretti, et al. Mutations of the sf3b1 splicing factor in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: association with progression and fludarabine-refractoriness. *Blood*, 118(26):6904–6908, 2011.
- [241] J. K. Sa, Y. Yoon, M. Kim, Y. Kim, H. J. Cho, J.-K. Lee, G.-S. Kim, S. Han, W. J. Kim, Y. J. Shin, et al. In vivo rnai screen identifies nlk as a negative regulator of mesenchymal activity in glioblastoma. *Oncotarget*, 6(24):20145, 2015.
- [242] Y. Sancak, T. R. Peterson, Y. D. Shaul, R. A. Lindquist, C. C. Thoreen, L. Bar-Peled, and D. M. Sabatini. The rag gtpases bind raptor and mediate amino acid signaling to mtorc1. *Science*, 320(5882):1496–1501, 2008.
- [243] S. E. Sanchez, E. Petrillo, E. J. Beckwith, X. Zhang, M. L. Rugnone, C. E. Hernando, J. C. Cuevas, M. A. G. Herz, A. Depetris-Chauvin, C. G. Simpson, et al. A methyl transferase links the circadian clock to the regulation of alternative splicing. *Nature*, 468(7320):112–116, 2010.
- [244] M. Sanchez-Alvarez, A. C. Goldstrohm, M. A. Garcia-Blanco, and C. Suñé. Human transcription elongation factor ca150 localizes to splicing factor-rich nuclear speckles and assembles transcription and splicing components into complexes through its amino and carboxyl regions. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 26(13):4998–5014, 2006.
- [245] E. Santos, S. R. Tronick, S. A. Aaronson, S. Pulciani, and M. Barbacid. T 24 human bladder carcinoma oncogene is an activated form of the normal human homologue of balb- and harvey-msv transforming genes. *Nature*, 298(5872):343– 347, 1982.
- [246] K. Savary, D. Caglayan, L. Caja, K. Tzavlaki, S. B. Nayeem, T. Bergström, Y. Jiang, L. Uhrbom, K. Forsberg-Nilsson, B. Westermark, et al. Snail depletes the tumorigenic potential of glioblastoma. *Oncogene*, 32(47):5409–5420, 2013.
- [247] M. Schapira and R. Ferreira de Freitas. Structural biology and chemistry of protein arginine methyltransferases. Med. Chem. Commun., 5(12):1779–1788, 2014.
- [248] J. Schwartzentruber, A. Korshunov, X.-Y. Liu, D. T. W. Jones, E. Pfaff, K. Jacob, D. Sturm, A. M. Fontebasso, D.-A. K. Quang, M. Tönjes, V. Hovestadt, S. Albrecht, M. Kool, A. Nantel, C. Konermann, A. Lindroth, N. Jäger, T. Rausch,

M. Ryzhova, J. O. Korbel, T. Hielscher, P. Hauser, M. Garami, A. Klekner, L. Bognar, M. Ebinger, M. U. Schuhmann, W. Scheurlen, A. Pekrun, M. C. Frühwald, W. Roggendorf, C. Kramm, M. Dürken, J. Atkinson, P. Lepage, A. Montpetit, M. Zakrzewska, K. Zakrzewski, P. P. Liberski, Z. Dong, P. Siegel, A. E. Kulozik, M. Zapatka, A. Guha, D. Malkin, J. Felsberg, G. Reifenberger, A. von Deimling, K. Ichimura, V. P. Collins, H. Witt, T. Milde, O. Witt, C. Zhang, P. Castelo-Branco, P. Lichter, D. Faury, U. Tabori, C. Plass, J. Majewski, S. M. Pfister, and N. Jabado. Driver mutations in histone H3.3 and chromatin remodelling genes in paediatric glioblastoma. *Nature*, 482(7384):226–31, feb 2012.

- [249] E. M. Scolnick, E. Rands, D. Williams, and W. P. Parks. Studies on the nucleic acid sequences of kirsten sarcoma virus: a model for formation of a mammalian rna-containing sarcoma virus. *Journal of virology*, 12(3):458-463, 1973.
- [250] A. Scoumanne, J. Zhang, and X. Chen. PRMT5 is required for cell-cycle progression and p53 tumor suppressor function. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 37(15):4965– 4976, 2009.
- [251] S. Sharma and A. Rao. Rnai screening: tips and techniques. Nature immunology, 10(8):799–804, 2009.
- [252] S. V. Sharma, D. Y. Lee, B. Li, M. P. Quinlan, F. Takahashi, S. Maheswaran, U. McDermott, N. Azizian, L. Zou, M. a. Fischbach, K.-K. Wong, K. Brandstetter, B. Wittner, S. Ramaswamy, M. Classon, and J. Settleman. A chromatin-mediated reversible drug-tolerant state in cancer cell subpopulations. *Cell*, 141(1):69–80, apr 2010.
- [253] H. Shen and P. W. Laird. Interplay between the cancer genome and epigenome. Cell, 153(1):38-55, 2013.
- [254] X. Sheng and Z. Wang. Protein arginine methyltransferase 5 regulates multiple signaling pathways to promote lung cancer cell proliferation. *BMC Cancer*, 16(1):567, 2016.
- [255] K. Shilo, X. Wu, S. Sharma, M. Welliver, W. Duan, M. Villalona-Calero, J. Fukuoka, S. Sif, R. Baiocchi, C. L. Hitchcock, W. Zhao, and G. A. Otterson. Cellular localization of protein arginine methyltransferase-5 correlates with grade of lung tumors. *Diagnostic pathology*, 8:201, 2013.
- [256] J. M. Simon, K. E. Hacker, D. Singh, A. R. Brannon, J. S. Parker, M. Weiser, T. H. Ho, P. F. Kuan, E. Jonasch, T. S. Furey, J. F. Prins, J. D. Lieb, W. K. Rathmell, and I. J. Davis. Variation in chromatin accessibility in human kidney cancer links H3K36 methyltransferase loss with widespread RNA processing defects. *Genome Research*, 24(2):241–250, 2014.
- [257] D. Sims, A. M. Mendes-Pereira, J. Frankum, D. Burgess, M.-a. Cerone, C. Lombardelli, C. Mitsopoulos, J. Hakas, N. Murugaesu, C. M. Isacke, K. Fenwick, I. As-

siotis, I. Kozarewa, M. Zvelebil, A. Ashworth, and C. J. Lord. High-throughput RNA interference screening using pooled shRNA libraries and next generation sequencing. *Genome Biology*, 12(10):1–13, 2011.

- [258] K. Skourti-Stathaki and N. J. Proudfoot. A double-edged sword: R loops as threats to genome integrity and powerful regulators of gene expression. Genes & development, 28(13):1384–1396, 2014.
- [259] K. Skourti-Stathaki, N. J. Proudfoot, and N. Gromak. Human senataxin resolves rna/dna hybrids formed at transcriptional pause sites to promote xrn2-dependent termination. *Molecular cell*, 42(6):794–805, 2011.
- [260] D. L. Spector and A. I. Lamond. Nuclear speckles. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 3(2):a000646, 2011.
- [261] D. Stehelin, H. E. Varmus, J. M. Bishop, and P. K. Vogt. Dna related to the transforming gene (s) of avian sarcoma viruses is present in normal avian dna. *Nature*, 1976.
- [262] M. F. G. Stevens and E. S. Newlands. From triazines and triazenes to temozolomide. European Journal of Cancer, 29(7):1045-1047, 1993.
- [263] N. Stopa, J. E. Krebs, and D. Shechter. The PRMT5 arginine methyltransferase: Many roles in development, cancer and beyond. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 72(11):2041–2059, 2015.
- [264] R. Stupp, M. E. Hegi, W. P. Mason, M. J. van den Bent, M. J. Taphoorn, R. C. Janzer, S. K. Ludwin, A. Allgeier, B. Fisher, K. Belanger, P. Hau, A. A. Brandes, J. Gijtenbeek, C. Marosi, C. J. Vecht, K. Mokhtari, P. Wesseling, S. Villa, E. Eisenhauer, T. Gorlia, M. Weller, D. Lacombe, J. G. Cairncross, and R. O. Mirimanoff. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTC-NCIC trial. *The Lancet Oncology*, 10(5):459–466, 2009.
- [265] R. Stupp, W. P. Mason, M. J. van den Bent, M. Weller, B. Fisher, M. J. B. Taphoorn, K. Belanger, A. a. Brandes, C. Marosi, U. Bogdahn, J. Curschmann, R. C. Janzer, S. K. Ludwin, T. Gorlia, A. Allgeier, D. Lacombe, J. G. Cairn-cross, E. Eisenhauer, and R. O. Mirimanoff. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. *The New England journal of medicine*, 352(10):987–96, mar 2005.
- [266] D. Sturm, S. Bender, D. T. W. Jones, P. Lichter, J. Grill, O. Becher, C. Hawkins, J. Majewski, C. Jones, J. F. Costello, A. Iavarone, K. Aldape, C. W. Brennan, N. Jabado, and S. M. Pfister. Paediatric and adult glioblastoma: multiform (epi)genomic culprits emerge. *Nature reviews. Cancer*, 14(2):92–107, feb 2014.

- [267] D. Sturm, H. Witt, V. Hovestadt, D.-A. Khuong-Quang, D. T. Jones, C. Konermann, E. Pfaff, M. Tönjes, M. Sill, S. Bender, et al. Hotspot mutations in h3f3a and idh1 define distinct epigenetic and biological subgroups of glioblastoma. *Cancer cell*, 22(4):425–437, 2012.
- [268] A. Subramanian, P. Tamayo, V. K. Mootha, S. Mukherjee, B. L. Ebert, M. a. Gillette, A. Paulovich, S. L. Pomeroy, T. R. Golub, E. S. Lander, and J. P. Mesirov. Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(43):15545-50, 2005.
- [269] D. S. Swafford, S. K. Middleton, W. A. Palmisano, K. J. Nikula, J. Tesfaigzi, S. B. Baylin, J. G. Herman, and S. A. Belinsky. Frequent aberrant methylation of p16ink4a in primary rat lung tumors. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 17(3):1366– 1374, 1997.
- [270] R. Swiercz, D. Cheng, D. Kim, and M. T. Bedford. Ribosomal protein rpS2 is hypomethylated in PRMT3-deficient mice. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(23):16917-16923, 2007.
- [271] T. Szatmari, K. Lumniczky, S. Désaknai, S. Trajcevski, E. J. Hídvégi, H. Hamada, and G. Sáfrány. Detailed characterization of the mouse glioma 261 tumor model for experimental glioblastoma therapy. *Cancer science*, 97(6):546–553, 2006.
- [272] T. Tabata, K. Kokura, P. ren Dijke, and S. Ishii. Ski co-repressor complexes maintain the basal repressed state of the TGF-?? target gene, SMAD7, via HDAC3 and PRMT5. Genes to Cells, 14(1):17–28, 2009.
- [273] C. P. Tan and S. Nakielny. Control of the DNA methylation system component MBD2 by protein arginine methylation. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 26(19):7224-7235, 2006.
- [274] H. Tanaka, Y. Hoshikawa, T. Oh-hara, S. Koike, M. Naito, T. Noda, H. Arai, T. Tsuruo, and N. Fujita. Prmt5, a novel trail receptor-binding protein, inhibits trail-induced apoptosis via nuclear factor- κ b activation. *Molecular Cancer Research*, 7(4):557–569, 2009.
- [275] T. Tang, R. Eldabaje, and L. Yang. Current status of biological therapies for the treatment of metastatic melanoma. *Anticancer Research*, 36(7):3229–3241, 2016.
- [276] W.-W. Tee, M. Pardo, T. W. Theunissen, L. Yu, J. S. Choudhary, P. Hajkova, and M. A. Surani. Prmt5 is essential for early mouse development and acts in the cytoplasm to maintain ES cell pluripotency service Prmt5 is essential for early mouse development and acts in the cytoplasm to maintain ES cell pluripotency. *Genes and Development*, pages 2772–2777, 2010.

- [277] P. Thandapani, T. R. O'Connor, T. L. Bailey, and S. Richard. Defining the RGG/RG Motif. *Molecular Cell*, 50(5):613–623, 2013.
- [278] R. P. Thomas, L. Recht, and S. Nagpal. Advances in the management of glioblastoma: The role of temozolomide and MGMT testing. *Clinical Pharmacology: Advances and Applications*, 5(1):1–9, 2012.
- [279] N. Thon, S. Kreth, and F.-W. Kreth. Personalized treatment strategies in glioblastoma: Mgmt promoter methylation status. Onco Targets Ther, 6:1363–1372, 2013.
- [280] H. Tilgner, D. G. Knowles, R. Johnson, C. A. Davis, S. Chakrabortty, S. Djebali, J. Curado, M. Snyder, T. R. Gingeras, and R. Guigó. Deep sequencing of subcellular rna fractions shows splicing to be predominantly co-transcriptional in the human genome but inefficient for lncrnas. *Genome research*, 22(9):1616–1625, 2012.
- [281] M. Toyota, N. Ahuja, M. Ohe-Toyota, J. G. Herman, S. B. Baylin, and J.-P. J. Issa. Cpg island methylator phenotype in colorectal cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96(15):8681–8686, 1999.
- [282] M. Tresini, D. O. Warmerdam, P. Kolovos, L. Snijder, M. G. Vrouwe, J. A. Demmers, W. F. van IJcken, F. G. Grosveld, R. H. Medema, J. H. Hoeijmakers, et al. The core spliceosome as target and effector of non-canonical atm signalling. *Nature*, 523(7558):53–58, 2015.
- [283] V. Tripathi, D. Y. Song, X. Zong, S. P. Shevtsov, S. Hearn, X.-D. Fu, M. Dundr, and K. V. Prasanth. Srsf1 regulates the assembly of pre-mrna processing factors in nuclear speckles. *Molecular biology of the cell*, 23(18):3694–3706, 2012.
- [284] K. Tripsianes, T. Madl, M. Machyna, D. Fessas, C. Englbrecht, U. Fischer, K. M. Neugebauer, and M. Sattler. Structural basis for dimethylarginine recognition by the Tudor domains of human SMN and SPF30 proteins. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, 18(12):1414–1420, 2011.
- [285] T. Tsutsui, R. Fukasawa, K. Shinmyouzu, R. Nakagawa, K. Tobe, A. Tanaka, and Y. Ohkuma. Mediator complex recruits epigenetic regulators via its two cyclindependent kinase subunits to repress transcription of immune response genes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288(29):20955–20965, 2013.
- [286] S. Turcan, D. Rohle, A. Goenka, L. a. Walsh, F. Fang, E. Yilmaz, C. Campos, A. W. M. Fabius, C. Lu, P. S. Ward, C. B. Thompson, A. Kaufman, O. Guryanova, R. Levine, A. Heguy, A. Viale, L. G. T. Morris, J. T. Huse, I. K. Mellinghoff, and T. a. Chan. IDH1 mutation is sufficient to establish the glioma hypermethylator phenotype. *Nature*, feb 2012.
- [287] E. E. Tyzzer. Tumor immunity. The Journal of Cancer Research, 1(2):125–156, 1916.

- [288] T. Uhlmann, V. L. Geoghegan, B. Thomas, G. Ridlova, D. C. Trudgian, and O. Acuto. A method for large-scale identification of protein arginine methylation. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics*, 11(11):1489–1499, 2012.
- [289] D. Y. Vargas, K. Shah, M. Batish, M. Levandoski, S. Sinha, S. A. Marras, P. Schedl, and S. Tyagi. Single-molecule imaging of transcriptionally coupled and uncoupled splicing. *Cell*, 147(5):1054–1065, 2011.
- [290] R. G. W. Verhaak, K. A. Hoadley, E. Purdom, V. Wang, Y. Qi, M. D. Wilkerson, C. R. Miller, L. Ding, T. Golub, J. P. Mesirov, G. Alexe, M. Lawrence, M. O'Kelly, P. Tamayo, B. A. Weir, S. Gabriel, W. Winckler, S. Gupta, L. Jakkula, H. S. Feiler, J. G. Hodgson, C. D. James, J. N. Sarkaria, C. Brennan, A. Kahn, P. T. Spellman, R. K. Wilson, T. P. Speed, J. W. Gray, M. Meyerson, G. Getz, C. M. Perou, and D. N. Hayes. Integrated Genomic Analysis Identifies Clinically Relevant Subtypes of Glioblastoma Characterized by Abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. *Cancer Cell*, 17(1):98–110, 2010.
- [291] J. L. Villano, T. E. Seery, and L. R. Bressler. Temozolomide in malignant gliomas: current use and future targets. *Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology*, 64(4):647-55, sep 2009.
- [292] C. Waddington. Endeavour 1, 1942.
- [293] H. Wakimoto, S. Kesari, C. J. Farrell, W. T. Curry, C. Zaupa, M. Aghi, T. Kuroda, A. Stemmer-Rachamimov, K. Shah, T.-C. Liu, et al. Human glioblastoma-derived cancer stem cells: establishment of invasive glioma models and treatment with oncolytic herpes simplex virus vectors. *Cancer research*, 69(8):3472–3481, 2009.
- [294] H. Wakimoto, G. Mohapatra, R. Kanai, W. T. Curry, S. Yip, M. Nitta, A. P. Patel, Z. R. Barnard, A. O. Stemmer-Rachamimov, D. N. Louis, et al. Maintenance of primary tumor phenotype and genotype in glioblastoma stem cells. *Neuro-oncology*, 14(2):132–144, 2012.
- [295] L. Wang, S. Pal, and S. Sif. Protein arginine methyltransferase 5 suppresses the transcription of the RB family of tumor suppressors in leukemia and lymphoma cells. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 28(20):6262-77, 2008.
- [296] Q. Wang, I. A. Sawyer, M.-H. Sung, D. Sturgill, S. P. Shevtsov, G. Pegoraro, O. Hakim, S. Baek, G. L. Hager, and M. Dundr. Cajal bodies are linked to genome conformation. *Nature communications*, 7, 2016.
- [297] W. Wang, V. Baladandayuthapani, J. S. Morris, B. M. Broom, G. Manyam, and K.-A. Do. iBAG: integrative Bayesian analysis of high-dimensional multiplatform genomics data. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, 29(2):149–59, jan 2013.
- [298] X. Wang, L. Jia, X. Jin, Q. Liu, W. Cao, X. Gao, M. Yang, and B. Sun. Nf-*kb* in-

hibitor reverses temozolomide resistance in human glioma tr/u251 cells. Oncology letters, 9(6):2586-2590, 2015.

- [299] Y. Wang, J. Shi, K. Chai, X. Ying, and B. P Zhou. The role of snail in emt and tumorigenesis. *Current cancer drug targets*, 13(9):963–972, 2013.
- [300] P. S. Ward, J. Patel, D. R. Wise, O. Abdel-Wahab, B. D. Bennett, H. A. Coller, J. R. Cross, V. R. Fantin, C. V. Hedvat, A. E. Perl, et al. The common feature of leukemia-associated idh1 and idh2 mutations is a neomorphic enzyme activity converting α -ketoglutarate to 2-hydroxyglutarate. *Cancer cell*, 17(3):225–234, 2010.
- [301] H. Wei, R. Mundade, K. C. Lange, and T. Lu. Protein arginine methylation of non-histone proteins and its role in diseases. *Cell Cycle*, 13(1):32–41, 2014.
- [302] H. Wei, B. Wang, M. Miyagi, Y. She, B. Gopalan, D.-B. Huang, G. Ghosh, G. R. Stark, and T. Lu. Prmt5 dimethylates r30 of the p65 subunit to activate nf-κb. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110(33):13516-13521, 2013.
- [303] T.-Y. W. Wei, C.-C. Juan, J.-Y. Hisa, L.-J. Su, Y.-C. G. Lee, H.-Y. Chou, J.-M. M. Chen, Y.-C. Wu, S.-C. Chiu, C.-P. Hsu, et al. Protein arginine methyltransferase 5 is a potential oncoprotein that upregulates g1 cyclins/cyclin-dependent kinases and the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/akt signaling cascade. *Cancer science*, 103(9):1640-1650, 2012.
- [304] H. Wen, Y. Li, Y. Xi, S. Jiang, S. Stratton, D. Peng, K. Tanaka, Y. Ren, Z. Xia, J. Wu, et al. Zmynd11 links histone h3. 3 k36 trimethylation to transcription elongation and tumor suppression. *Nature*, 508(7495):263, 2014.
- [305] Y. Wen and A. J. Shatkin. Transcription elongation factor hspt5 stimulates mrna capping. Genes & development, 13(14):1774–1779, 1999.
- [306] V. O. Wickramasinghe, M. Gonzàlez-Porta, D. Perera, A. R. Bartolozzi, C. R. Sibley, M. Hallegger, J. Ule, J. C. Marioni, and A. R. Venkitaraman. Regulation of constitutive and alternative mrna splicing across the human transcriptome by prpf8 is determined by 5 splice site strength. *Genome biology*, 16(1):1, 2015.
- [307] C. Wilczek, R. Chitta, E. Woo, J. Shabanowitz, B. T. Chait, D. F. Hunt, and D. Shechter. Protein arginine methyltransferase Prmt5-Mep50 methylates histones H2A and H4 and the histone chaperone nucleoplasmin in Xenopus laevis eggs. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 286(49):42221-42231, 2011.
- [308] B. G. Wilson and C. W. Roberts. SWI/SNF nucleosome remodellers and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer, 11(7):481–492, 2011.
- [309] Y. Wu, J. Deng, P. G. Rychahou, S. Qiu, B. M. Evers, and B. P. Zhou. Stabilization of snail by nf-κb is required for inflammation-induced cell migration and invasion. *Cancer cell*, 15(5):416–428, 2009.

- [310] W. Xu, H. Yang, Y. Liu, Y. Yang, P. Wang, S.-H. Kim, S. Ito, C. Yang, P. Wang, M.-T. Xiao, et al. Oncometabolite 2-hydroxyglutarate is a competitive inhibitor of α-ketoglutarate-dependent dioxygenases. *Cancer cell*, 19(1):17–30, 2011.
- [311] N. Yadav, J. Lee, J. Kim, J. Shen, M. C.-T. Hu, C. M. Aldaz, and M. T. Bedford. Specific protein methylation defects and gene expression perturbations in coactivator-associated arginine methyltransferase 1-deficient mice. *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences, 100(11):6464-6468, 2003.
- [312] F. Yan, L. Alinari, M. E. Lustberg, L. K. Martin, H. M. Cordero-Nieves, Y. Banasavadi-Siddegowda, S. Virk, J. Barnholtz-Sloan, E. H. Bell, J. Wojton, et al. Genetic validation of the protein arginine methyltransferase prmt5 as a candidate therapeutic target in glioblastoma. *Cancer research*, 74(6):1752–1765, 2014.
- [313] Y. Yang and M. T. Bedford. Protein arginine methyltransferases and cancer. Nature reviews. Cancer, 13(1):37-50, 2013.
- [314] Y. Yang, K. M. McBride, S. Hensley, Y. Lu, F. Chedin, and M. T. Bedford. Arginine methylation facilitates the recruitment of top3b to chromatin to prevent r loop accumulation. *Molecular cell*, 53(3):484-497, 2014.
- [315] X. Ye, W. L. Tam, T. Shibue, Y. Kaygusuz, F. Reinhardt, E. N. Eaton, and R. A. Weinberg. Distinct emt programs control normal mammary stem cells and tumour-initiating cells. *Nature*, 2015.
- [316] G. Yeo and C. B. Burge. Maximum entropy modeling of short sequence motifs with applications to rna splicing signals. *Journal of computational biology*, 11(2-3):377–394, 2004.
- [317] S. Yip, J. Miao, D. P. Cahill, A. J. Iafrate, K. Aldape, C. L. Nutt, and D. N. Louis. Msh6 mutations arise in glioblastomas during temozolomide therapy and mediate temozolomide resistance. *Clinical cancer research*, 15(14):4622–4629, 2009.
- [318] T. Yoshimoto, M. Boehm, M. Olive, M. F. Crook, H. San, T. Langenickel, and E. G. Nabel. The arginine methyltransferase PRMT2 binds RB and regulates E2F function. *Experimental Cell Research*, 312(11):2040–2053, 2006.
- [319] J. S. You and P. A. Jones. Cancer Genetics and Epigenetics: Two Sides of the Same Coin? *Cancer Cell*, 22(1):9–20, 2012.
- [320] L. Zender, W. Xue, J. Zuber, C. P. Semighini, A. Krasnitz, B. Ma, P. Zender, S. Kubicka, J. M. Luk, P. Schirmacher, W. Richard McCombie, M. Wigler, J. Hicks, G. J. Hannon, S. Powers, and S. W. Lowe. An Oncogenomics-Based In Vivo RNAi Screen Identifies Tumor Suppressors in Liver Cancer. *Cell*, 135(5):852– 864, 2008.

- [321] J. Zhang, M. F. G. Stevens, and T. D. Bradshaw. Temozolomide: mechanisms of action, repair and resistance. *Current molecular pharmacology*, 5(1):102–14, jan 2012.
- [322] Y. Zhang, A. Chen, X.-M. Yan, and G. Huang. Disordered epigenetic regulation in mll-related leukemia. *International journal of hematology*, 96(4):428–437, 2012.
- [323] D. Y. Zhao, G. Gish, U. Braunschweig, Y. Li, Z. Ni, F. W. Schmitges, G. Zhong, K. Liu, W. Li, J. Moffat, M. Vedadi, J. Min, T. J. Pawson, B. J. Blencowe, and J. F. Greenblatt. SMN and symmetric arginine dimethylation of RNA polymerase II C-terminal domain control termination. *Nature*, 529(7584):48–53, 2015.
- [324] S. Zheng, J. Moehlenbrink, Y. C. Lu, L. P. Zalmas, C. Sagum, S. Carr, J. F. McGouran, L. Alexander, O. Fedorov, S. Munro, B. Kessler, M. T. Bedford, Q. Yu, and N. B. La Thangue. Arginine methylation-dependent reader-writer interplay governs growth control by E2F-1. *Molecular Cell*, 52(1):37–51, 2013.
- [325] J. Zuber, J. Shi, E. Wang, A. R. Rappaport, H. Herrmann, E. A. Sison, D. Magoon, J. Qi, K. Blatt, M. Wunderlich, M. J. Taylor, C. Johns, A. Chicas, J. C. Mulloy, S. C. Kogan, P. Brown, P. Valent, J. E. Bradner, S. W. Lowe, and C. R. Vakoc. RNAi screen identifies Brd4 as a therapeutic target in acute myeloid leukaemia. *Nature*, 478(7370):524–528, 2011.